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At- a- Glance
Financial highlights

Indicator

Indicator

Indicator

KZTm KZTmUS$m US$m

% %

Total assets
Total equity
Customer loans, net
Amounts due to customers
Net interest income
Fees and commissions, net
Net income

Return on average common equity
Return on average assets
Net interest margin
Net interest spread
Cost to income ratio
Cost to assets ratio
Tier 1 Capital Adequacy ratio (BIS guidelines)
Total Capital Adequacy ratio (BIS guidelines)

Retail accounts
Corporate customers
SME customers
Cards: m
Retail loans: m
Mortgage loans
Salary-backed consumer loans: m
Other consumer loans
Payroll project customers: m
Payroll project entities, including government entities
Pension Fund customers: m

2,097,935
317,884

1,089,273
1,415,755

43,608
29,972
36,216

2,023,009
280,952

1,133,235
1,274,069

7,215
34,777
15,876

11.8
1.7
4.8
4.5

32.4
2.1

17.3
20.5

5,2
1,835

69,455
3,0

0,44
27,844

0,4
23,666

2,1
16,232

2,0

6.3
0.8
5.3
5.2

28.5
2.1

16.9
20.6

4,9
1,707

86,811
2,9

0,56
29,292

0,5
27,744

2,2
15,704

1,9

14,223
2,155
7,385
9,598

296
203
246

13,626
1,892
7,633
8,582

49
234
107

2010

2010

2010

2009

2009

2009

Number of customers/accounts
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JSC “Halyk Bank” Halyk Pension FundKazakhinstrakh

Number of employees of Halyk Group as at 31 December 2010 — 11,648.

632 outlets, including:
22 regional branches
122 district branches
432 limited service branches
4 VIP-centers
51 personal service centers
1 “All for Small business” Financial center 

1,686 ATM
4,160 POS-terminals

193 outlets   
18 branches
5 agencies
464 representatives

221 outlets, including
18 branches
203 sales outlets

1,651 agents

Distribution 
network

KazMunaiGas building  
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6

JSC «Halyk Bank» 
Full service commercial bank

Halyk Pension Fund
 (pension fund

and AM)

Halyk Leasing

Halyk Bank
Kyrgyzstan

(SME & retail 
bank)

100%

Halyk Life 
(life insurance)

100%100%

Halyk Bank
Georgia

(corporate & SME 
bank)

100%

Kazakhinstrakh
(general insurance)

100%

NBK Bank,
 Russia

(corporate & SME 
bank)

100%

Halyk Finance
(brokerage

and AM)

100%

96%

Ratings
Agency

Moody’s Investor Services
Fitch Ratings
Standard&Poor’s

Ba2
B+
B+

Long-term
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Shareholders of the Bank holding not less than 5% of total shares issued as 
at 1 January 2011*

JSC Holding Group ALMEX is a Almex is a holding 
company, which, in addition to its controlling inter-
est in the Bank, has a 30 per cent. interest in AON 
Kazakhstan LLP, a company engaged in insurance 
brokerage activities.

Samruk-Kazyna is the Government’s national wel-
fare fund, created to facilitate competitiveness and 
stability in the Kazakhstan economy and to prevent 
negative developments in the international markets 
from impacting economic growth in Kazakhstan. 
Samruk-Kazyna became shareholder of the Bank in 
March 2009.

JSC Accumulative Pension Fund of Halyk Bank 
(“Halyk Pension Fund”) is a subsidiary of the Bank 
which was established in January 1998. The main 
activity is collecting pension contributions and pen-
sion asset management.  Halyk Pension Fund insures 
safety and real growth of pension savings by proving 
services in accordance with international standards.

As at 1 January 2011 none of the members of the 
Board of Directors or of the Management Board 
owned shares in the Bank.

Name

JSC Holding
Group ALMEX
Joint-stock company 
“Sovereign Wealth 
Fund “Samruk-Kazyna”
JSC Accumulative 
Pension Fund of Halyk Bank
held through GDR
program (ISIN: 
US46627J3023, 
US46627J2033)
Total issued
held as treasury stock 
by the Bank
held by Group
Companies
Total outstanding
(on consolidated basis)

709,932,473

455,297,408

162,851,804

252,948,024
1,698,500,612

4,227,279

26,927,729

1,667,328,604

41.80%

26.81%

9.59%

14.89%
—

—

—

—

709,932,473

259,064,909

66,136,771

252,948,024
1,308,415,960

4,227, 279

2,660,674

1,301,511,007

—

196,232,499

96,715,033

—
390,084,652

24,267,055

365,817,597

—

50.31%

24.79%

—
 —

—

—

—

54.26%

19.80%

5.05%

19.33%
 —

—

—

—

Pref. 
shares 

owned as % 
of total 

pref. shares 
issued

Preferred 
shares 
owned

(NIN 
KZ1P33870

117, 
KZ1P33870

216)

Common 
shares 

owned as % 
of authorized 

common 
shares 
issued

Common 
shares 
owned
 (NIN 

KZ1C33870
011)

Total 
shares 

owned as % 
of total 
shares 
issued

Total 
number 
of shares 
owned

* Shares of the Bank have been listed on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange since 1998 and common shares in the form   of global depositary 
receipts on the London Stock Exchange since December 2006. 
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Dear clients, partners, shareholders!

2010 was an important period for recovery of Kazakh 
financial sector. 

The main “equator’s line” of crisis for the whole bank-
ing sector was determined by finalization of restruc-
turings of three local banks. The situation became 
clear and main rating agencies upgraded sovereign 
rating and changed outlook on Kazakh banking sec-
tor. Standard & Poor's changed outlook on the Bank’s 
ratings to “stable” and Fitch changed outlook on the 
Bank’s ratings to “positive”.

One of the most important events in 2010 was early 
repayment of governmental funds. Stable financial 
position and high liquidity level allowed the Bank 
to prepay KZT 60 billion deposit to Samruk-Kazyna 
which was placed with the Bank to support lending 
to corporate banking, and to prepay KZT 11,7 billion 
loan to Damu Fund which was provided to the Bank 

to support small and medium enterprises. The Bank 
repaid two local subordinated bonds for a nominal 
amount of KZT 5 billion each in June 2010 and in 
November 2010 accordingly. Analyzing anti-crisis 
measures of the government, it should be noted 
that a form and a volume of support were timely and 
played stabilizing, supportive role for banking sec-
tor and for the whole economy. The Government of 
the Republic of Kazakhstan granted the Bank “Best 
Company in Services Industry” special award for its 
contribution to development of local economy and 
support to SME and corporate businesses.

In 2010 we continued to develop our branch net-
work and maintain material and technical facilities. 
From the beginning of 2010 construction works and 
also reconstruction of 29 regional outlets were fin-
ished and buildings of Taldykorgan regional branch 
and Eastern Kazakhstan regional branch were put 
into operations. Among them there are 2 personal 
service centers in Almaty regional branch, 14 outlets 
of the Bank in Almaty, Astana, Eastern Kazakhstan 
region, Karaganda region and Mandistau region, 13 
district outlets in Zheskazgan, Taldykorgan, Kzylorda 
region, Northern Kazakhstan region, Mangistau re-
gion, Pavlodar region, Akmola region and Southern 
Kazakhstan region. Construction of new buildings 
in Kzylorda and Kostanai was started and hopefully 
that in the beginning of 2011 will be put into opera-
tions.   

The Bank continued to work on improvement of 
servicing quality. We announced 2010 the year of 
quality and concentrated on making decisions on 
internal tasks. That was necessary as the number of 
clients increased significantly due to transition from 
other banks. Therefore we concentrated not only on 
development of innovative technologies, develop-
ment of service of remote access, remote sales chan-

Statement of the Chairperson 
of the Management Board
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nels, mobile and internet banking, proposals of new 
services, but also on improvement of services’ qual-
ity. There were improvements of quality of clients’ 
servicing that was confirmed by results of marketing 
researches.  

I would like to remind that in 2009 we had the fol-
lowing 4 problems: capital adequacy, liquidity short-
age, repayment of external debts and deterioration 
of loan portfolio quality. First three problems for 
Halyk Bank were already solved in the first quarter 
of 2009.

In 2010 there was just issue on loan portfolio quality 
which starts to improve, problem loans and non-per-
forming loans are decreasing, and however, keeping 
to the balanced conservative policy, we continue to 
increase provisions on loan portfolio.  

The main financial result — net income of the Bank 
for 2010 amounted KZT 36,2 billion, assets increased 
by 3.7 per. cent, equity increased by 13.1 per. cent. 
Net interest income amounted to KZT 43,6 billion, 
fee and commission income amounted KZT 25,1 bil-
lion. 

During 2010 efficient activity of the Bank was con-
firmed through recognition by prestigious inter-
national business magazines. Halyk Bank received 
“Best Bank in CIS” award from businessneweurope 
and “Best Bank in Kazakhstan” award from Euromon-
ey, Global Finance and Emeafinance.

In January 2011 Halyk Bank, for the first time from 
the beginning of global financial crisis, opened in-

ternational capital markets through issue and place-
ment of USD 500 million 10 — years Eurobonds.

Halyk Group continues to be universal, commer-
cial, diversified group with presence in all regions 
of Kazakhstan. Halyk Group includes 13 subsidiaries 
which offer a wide range of financial services (bank-
ing services, pension fund, insurance, leasing, bro-
kerage and asset management services) to individu-
als, small and medium enterprises, corporate clients. 
Our subsidiaries are absolute leaders in pension and 
insurance sectors.

There is a complex of components in fundamentals 
of our achievements and first of all it is a titanic work 
of our staff and strengthening confidence of clients, 
investors, partners, shareholders.

I think that we did and achieved a lot. We are the 
leaders of banking sector, but cannot relax and rest 
on oars. There is a lot of work ahead, we see that com-
petition is growing, new players come to the market 
and we have the goal to preserve and increase mar-
ket shares, secure high level of income to the Bank’s 
shareholders, improvement of loan portfolio quality 
and service quality. 

And I am confident that as the result of mutual ef-
forts, 2011 will become the year of new victories in 
different directions for the Bank.

Umut Shayakhmetova 
Chairperson of the Management Board             
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Alexander Pavlov, 
age 58
Chairman, Independent Director

Mr. Pavlov was appointed as Chairman of the Board in 
March 2004. Between 1994 and 2000, he was Minis-
ter of Finance, then Deputy Prime Minister, and finally 
First Deputy Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakh-
stan. From 2000 to 2002, he was Vice Chairman of the 
Management Board and Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of the UK-listed copper mining company 
Kazakhmys. Between 2002 and 2004, he was First Dep-
uty Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Mr. 
Pavlov is a graduate of the Belorussia State Institute of 
People’s Economy, where he specialised in economics.

Kadyrzhan Damitov, 
age 51
Independent Director 

Mr. Damitov holds a PhD from the Moscow Finance In-
stitute. In 1998, Mr. Damitov was appointed as Gover-
nor of the NBK. From 1999 to 2000, he was adviser to 
the President of Kazakhstan. From 2000 to 2004, he was 
the Deputy Chairman of the management board of 
ABN AMRO Bank Kazakhstan. Since 2004, he has been 
a member of the Board of Directors and adviser to the 
CEO of Ust-Kamenogorsk Titanium-Magnesium Mining 
Company. From 2005 to 2007, Mr. Damitov was a mem-
ber (Independent Director) of the Board of Directors of 
the Bank. He was member of the Board of Directors of 
Sustainable Development Fund “Kazyna” from 2006 to 
2007. Mr. Damitov was Chairman of the Management 
Board of JSC “National company “Social-entrepre-
neurial Corporation “Yertys” from 2007 to 2009. Since 
May 2009, Mr. Damitov has been the President of the 
Kazakhstan Stock Exchange. He was appointed to the 
Board of Directors of the Bank in April 2010.

Board of directors
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Christof Ruehl, 
age 52
Independent Director

Mr. Ruehl was appointed to the Board in June 2007. In 
2008 he became Chairman of the British Institute of 
Energy Economics, London. In 2007 he became Group 
Chief Economist and Vice President of BP plc. Since 
2005, he had been the Deputy Chief Economist of BP 
plc and, before that, worked for The World Bank Group 
where he was Senior Economist in Washington from 
1998 to 2001, Chief Economist in Moscow from 2001 to 
2004, and Lead Economist and Sector Leader in Brazil 
from 2004 to 2005. He previously worked in academia, 
most recently at the University of California, Los Ange-
les, where he was Professor of Economics. Mr. Ruehl 
holds an MA in economics from the University of Bre-
men, Germany.

Kairat Satylganov, 
age 45
Member of the Board of directors

Mr. Satylganov was appointed General Director of 
Holding Group Almex JSC in 2004 and a member of the 
Board in September 2004, representing Holding Group 
Almex JSC on the Board. Between 1992 and 1993, he 
was Chief Accountant at the Embassy of Kazakhstan 
in the USA. In 1993, he became the Chief Economist 
at Bank TuranAlem where he was appointed Deputy 
Chairman of the Management Board in 1997. Between 
1997 and 2002, he was Deputy Chairman, then Chair-
man, of the Management Board of ATF Bank. Between 
2002 and 2004, he was Chairman of Halyk Bank’s Man-
agement Board. He is an economics graduate of the 
Kazakh State Academy of Management.
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Askar Yelemessov, 
age 42
Member of the Board of directors

Mr. Yelemessov was appointed to the Board in June 
2007, representing Holding Group Almex JSC on the 
Board. He has been Chairman of the Board of directors 
of JSC Troika Dialog Kazakhstan (former JSC Almex As-
sets Management) since 2007. In 2006, he was Kazakh-
stan’s Vice Minister of Finance. He was a Deputy Gover-
nor of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
from 2004 to 2006, before which he was Vice President, 
then President, of JSC DB Securities Kazakhstan. Before 
that, Mr. Yelemessov held a number of roles in Kazakh 
banks. He was a member of the Kazakhstan Stock Ex-
change Board of Directors between 2001 and 2003, 
and was Co-Chairman of one of the working groups of 
the Foreign Investor Council in 2003. Mr. Yelemessov 
holds an economics degree from Moscow State Univer-
sity, and an MBA from the Washington University, USA.

Umut Shayakhmetova, 
age 41
Member of the Board of directors

Ms. Shayakhmetova was elected Chairperson of Halyk 
Bank in January 2009 and a member of the Board of 
directors in April 2009. She has been a Deputy Chair-
person of Halyk Bank since November 2004. From 1997, 
she worked at ABN AMRO Bank Kazakhstan where she 
held a number of Positions in structured finance before 
becoming Chairperson of the Management Board of 
ABN AMRO Asset Management in 1998 and, in 2000, 
Deputy Chairperson of the Management Board of ABN 
AMRO Bank Kazakhstan. Ms. Shayakhmetova is a grad-
uate in economics of the University of People’s Friend-
ship, Moscow, and holds an MBA from Rutgers Univer-
sity, New Jersey, USA. 
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Franciscus Cornelis 
Wilhelmus (Frank) Kuijlaars, 
age 52
Independent Director

Mr. Kuijlaars was appointed to the Board in April 2009. In 
1982 Mr. Kuijlaars received Masters Degree in Law from 
University of Erasmus, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. He 
holds the Certificate Bank and Insurance Company from 
Dutch Institute for Banks and Insurance Companies, the 
Netherlands. From 1990 to 2007 Mr. Kuijlaars served at 
ABN AMRO Bank as Head Corporate and Investment 
Banking, Belgium, Regional Manager Brazil, Country 
Manager, Russia and Argentina, Head Integrated 
Energy, Member of the Supervisory Board in Russia, 
Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, Global Head Oil & Gas, EVP 
Investment Banking, Global Head Oil & Gas/Chemicals, 
EVP Global Head Energy and Resources. In 2006 Mr. 
Kuijlaars was appointed as Independent Director of 
KazMunayGas. In 2008 he was Head of Energy and 
Resources CEEMEA, Western Europe, Global Head 
Energy and Resources, Member of EXCO Corporate & 
Investment Banking, CEO non presence countries at 
RBS. Mr. Kuijlaars is the member of Foreign investment 
council to the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
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Umut Shayakhmetova, 
age 41
Chairperson of the Management Board

See biography under Board of directors.

Nailiya Abdulina, 
age 63
Deputy Chairperson: Finance and Accounting

Ms. Abdulina joined Halyk Bank in 2005 as Adviser to 
the Chairman of the Management Board and was ap-
pointed a Deputy Chairperson in March 2006. She was 
previously a Deputy Chairperson of the Management 
Board of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakh-
stan from 1998 to 2005. Ms. Abdulina holds a degree 
in accounting from the Almaty Institute of People’s 
Economy.

Management Board
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Marat Almenov, 
age 34
Deputy Chairman: Retail Banking

Mr. Almenov started his career in 1997 at Halyk Bank. 
From 1997 to 2003, he held various positions in the 
Corporate Lending, Credit Risks and SME departments. 
In 2003, he served as Deputy Director responsible for 
retail banking in the Astana regional branch of the 
Bank. Between 2004 and 2009, he was Deputy Direc-
tor of the Retail Sales Department, Director of the Retail 
Sales Support Department and Director of the Banking 
Products and Agency Services Department. In April 
2009, he was appointed as Director of the Almaty re-
gional branch of the Bank. In June 2010, Mr. Almenov 
was appointed Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board. He is an economics graduate of the Kazakh State 
Academy of Management.

Dauren Karabayev, 
age 32
Deputy Chairman: International Activities,
Treasury and Subsidiaries

Mr. Karabayev was appointed a Deputy Chairman on 1 
March 2007 after working as Managing Director of the 
Investment Banking and International Departments 
since 2004. He previously held a number of positions in 
credit analysis and project finance at ABN AMRO Bank 
Kazakhstan from 2001 to 2004. Mr. Karabayev is an eco-
nomics graduate of the Kazakh State Academy of Man-
agement and holds a master’s degree in finance from 
the Texas University, USA.
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Saule Kishkimbayeva, 
age 42
Deputy Chairperson: Corporate Banking 

Ms. Kishkimbayeva has worked in the Kazakhstan 
banking system since 1994. She held various positions 
in Credit Risk Management and later became Head of 
Credit Risk Management, Deputy Head and Head of 
Customer Services Division in ABN AMRO Bank Kazakh-
stan. She joined the Bank in February 2005 as Direc-
tor of Corporate Lending Department #2. In February 
2009, she was appointed as Deputy Chairperson of the 
Management Board. Ms. Kishkimbayeva graduated 
from Almaty Pedagogical Institute of Foreign Languag-
es in 1991.

Stanislav Kosobokov, 
age 32
Deputy Chairman: SME Banking 

Mr. Kosobokov started his career in 2000 in the Opera-
tional Division of the Almaty branch of Kazkommerts-
bank. In 2002, he joined the Bank and worked as a 
manager and then senior manager of the Retail Sales 
Department and as Head of Coordination of sales 
channels division of the Retail Sales Department. In 
2006, he was appointed as Director of the Retail Sales 
Department. He was appointed as a Deputy Chairman 
of the Bank in June 2010. Mr. Kosobokov is an econom-
ics graduate of the Kazakh State Academy of Manage-
ment.

17



Askar Smagulov, 
age 36
Deputy Chairman: Operations and Information 
Technologies 

Mr. Smagulov started his career in 1998 in ABN AMRO 
Bank Kazakhstan and served as a Dealer of the Trea-
sury, Head Dealer of the Treasury, Head of Trade Divi-
sion of the Treasury and Head of the Treasury. From 
2005 to 2007 Mr. Smagulov worked at Halyk Bank as 
a Head of Treasury and since September 2007 he has 
acted as Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. 
Mr. Smagulov graduated from Kazakh State University 
with a degree in economics. In 1998 he received an 
MBA from William Simon school of business, the Uni-
versity of Rochester, USA.

Kozhamurat Uskimbayev, 
age 56
Deputy Chairman: Security

Major-General Uskimbayev graduated from the Almaty 
School of Militia of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of 
USSR (“MIA”) in 1980, from Karaganda High School of 
MIA USSR in 1986 and from the Academy of MIA USSR 
in 1991. He has held the rank of Major-General since 
2003. In 1994 he was appointed as a Deputy Head of 
the Internal Affairs Department of Almaty city. From 
1995 to 2002 Major-General Uskimbayev has served in 
various positions in the MIA of the Republic of Kazakh-
stan. In 2002 he was appointed as a Head of the Inter-
nal Affairs Department of the Aktobe region and from 
2003 he has acted as Vice-Minister of Internal Affairs 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan. He has been a Deputy 
Chairman of the Bank since September 2007.
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Financial 
review

Consolidated Income Statement

Net income
The Bank’s net income increased by 128.1 percent 
to KZT 36,2 billion from KZT 15,9 billion for 2009 
primarily due to decrease in interest expense by 
16.4 percent and in impairment charge on interest 
earning and other assets by 42.0 percent as well as 
increase in fee and commission income from trans-
actional banking (i.e. excluding pension fund and 
asset management) by 6.4 percent. The increase in 
net income was partially offset by decrease in inter-
est income by 8.0 percent, in pension fund and asset 
management fees by 37.5 percent and in net gain on 
foreign exchange operations by 35.4 percent as well 
as increase in operating expenses by 8.5 percent.

Interest income
Interest income decreased by 8.0 percent to KZT 
178,4 billion for 2010 from KZT 194,0 billion for 2009. 
The decrease was mainly attributable to decline in 
average interest rate on loans to customers by 0.5 
percentage points and their share in total assets by 
4.1 percentage points, as well as increase in liquid as-
sets by 14.6 percent for 2010 compared to 2009.

Interest expense
Interest expense decreased by 16.4 percent to KZT 
86,4 billion for 2010 from KZT 103,3 billion for 2009 
as a result of decrease in average rate on interest-
bearing liabilities to 4.9 percent p.a. for 2010 from 6.1 
percent p.a. for 2009, partially offset by a 17.7 per-
cent increase in average balances of amounts due to 
customers for 2010 compared to 2009. The decrease 
in average rate on interest-bearing liabilities was due 

to decrease in average rate on amounts due to cus-
tomers to 4.4 percent p.a. for 2010 from 5.7 percent 
p.a. for 2009, in average interest rate on amounts 
due to credit institutions to 3.1 percent p.a. for 2010 
from 4.2 percent p.a. for 2009 and on debt securities 
issued to 8.5 percent p.a. for 2010 from 9.3 percent 
p.a. for 2009.

Impairment charge 

Impairment charge decreased by 42.0 percent to 
KZT 48,4 billion from KZT 83,5 billion for 2009, re-
flecting continued stabilization of loan portfolio 
quality since mid-2009.

Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income from transactional 
banking (i.e. excluding pension fund and asset man-
agement) increased by 6.4 percent to KZT 25,1 billion 
from KZT 23,6 billion for 2009 primarily as a result of 
growing volumes of transactional banking business. 
The increase was partially offset by a 43.4 percent 
decrease in fee and commission income from main-
tenance of customer accounts to KZT 1,9 billion from 
KZT 3,3 billion for 2009. 

As per FMSA statistics, performance-linked asset 
management fees in pension fund business de-
creased by 51.0 percent to KZT 6,6 billion for 2010 
from KZT 13,6 billion for 2009 as a result of overall 
decline on domestic and global securities markets in 
May, June and August 2010. This decline was partial-
ly offset by increase in pension administration fees 
by 34.1 percent to KZT 3,4 billion for 2010 from KZT 
2,6 billion for 2009 as a result of growing number of 
pension fund customers and average size of pension 
contributions. 
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As per FMSA statistics, performance-linked asset 
management fees in pension fund business in-
creased by 125.2 percent to KZT 3,3 billion for 4Q 
2010 from KZT 1,5 billion for 3Q 2010 due to better 
conditions on the global securities markets. 

Fee and commission expense increased by 5,8 per-
cent to KZT 5,2 billion from KZT 4,9 billion for 2009 
mainly as a result of increase in commission paid to 
collectors by 39.3 percent in 2010 compared to 2009 
and in expenses on deposit insurance by 7,0 percent 
in 2010 compared to 2009.

Other non-interest 
income

Other non-interest income decreased by 3.3 per-
cent to KZT 23,4 billion from KZT 24,2 billion for 
2009, primarily as a result of a 35.4 percent decrease 
in net gain on foreign exchange operations mainly 
due to a “one-off” increase in volumes of foreign ex-
change operations by customers in 1Q 2009 due to 
KZT devaluation. The decrease in other non-interest 
income was partially offset by a 5,4-fold increase in 
net realized gain from available-for-sale investment 
securities to KZT 591,0 million from KZT 109,0 mil-
lion for 2009 and a 43.7 percent increase in other 
non-interest income to KZT 1,9 billion from KZT 1,3 
billion for 2009.

Insurance underwriting income less insurance 
claims incurred, net of reinsurance, decreased by 
2.5 percent to KZT 4,6 billion from KZT 4,7 billion 
for 2009 as a result of an 81.1 percent increase in in-
surance claims incurred, net of reinsurance in 2010 
compared to 2009. At the same time, insurance un-
derwriting income increased by 36.2 percent in 2010 

compared to 2009 on the back of increase in insur-
ance premiums written by 25.3 percent due to grow-
ing volumes of insurance business. 

Non-interest 
expenses

Operating expenses increased by 8.5 percent to KZT 
45,3 billion from KZT 41,7 billion for 2009 primarily 
due to increase in salaries and other employee bene-
fits by 21.2 percent as a result of accrual of employee 
bonuses for 2010, due to increase in other operat-
ing expenses by 127.7 percent and due to “one-off” 
write-off of intangible assets for KZT 1,1 billion in 
1Q 2010. This was partially off-set by decreased ex-
penses on impairment of property and equipment 
by 97.1 percent, rent by 32.3 percent, repair and 
maintenance by 24.9 percent and insurance agents 
fees by 35.5 percent. 

Taxation

Income tax expenses in 2010 increased by 2.7 times 
to KZT 8,7 billion due growth of income before in-
come tax expense by 2.3 times to KZT 45,0 billion 
and growth of differed tax recognized as the result 
of changes of tax rates to KZT 1,8 billion in 2010 and 
income tax expenses adjustments on previous peri-
ods for KZT 564,0 million. 

Net income 
attributable 
to minority interest 

Net income attributable to minority interests in-
creased to KZT 166,0 million due to the activity of 
Pension Fund. 
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Assets 
Total assets increased by 3.7 percent during 2010 
mainly due to a 10.1-fold increase in investments 
held to maturity, a 40.5 percent increase in available-
for-sale investment securities and an 87.5 percent 
increase in insurance assets, partially offset by de-
crease in cash and cash equivalents by 18.3 percent, 
in loans to customers by 3.9 percent and in amounts 
due from credit institutions by 64.1 percent.

Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position

01.01.2009

Total assets, KZT billion

1,651,3

01.01.2010 01.01.2011

2,023,0 2,097,9
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Liquid assets
Liquid assets increased by 14.6 percent to KZT 767,9 
billion from KZT 669,8 billion as at YE 2009 mainly 
due to purchase of NBK notes and Treasury bills of 
the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan, as well as 
bonds of the Development Bank of Kazakhstan. 
The increase was partially offset by a 18.3 percent 
decrease in cash and cash equivalents during 2010 
mainly as a result of decrease in balances of short-
term deposits with the National Bank of Kazakhstan, 

cash on hand and correspondent accounts with 
OECD based banks.

Loans to customers
Net loans to customers decreased by 3.9 percent 
during 2010, whereas loans to customers before al-
lowance for loan impairment increased by 0.2 per-
cent during 2010. The increase in gross loan port-
folio was attributable to increase in corporate loans 
(excluding loans to SMEs) by 4.2 percent during 
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2010. During 3Q 2010 and 4Q 2010, loans to medium 
businesses and retail consumer loans also started 
growing.

During 2010, increase in loans to customers before 
allowance for impairment losses was the highest pri-
marily in the following sectors: wholesale trade — by 
14.9 percent, energy — by 98.1 percent, services — 
by 10.2 percent and transportation — by 32.5 per-
cent. 

Loans with 30-day and 90-day overdue payments 
(NPLs) decreased to 18.0 percent and 16.3 percent, 
respectively as at YE 2010 from 19.0 percent and 
16.7 percent, respectively, as at YE 2009 and from 
18.5 percent and 17.5 percent, respectively as at 30 
September 2010. The Bank created regulatory provi-
sions that covered these delinquent loans by 129.8 
percent (30-day NPLs) and 143.0 percent (90-day 
NPLs) as at YE 2010.

Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to legal entities increased by 5.8 per-
cent to KZT 924,9 billion from KZT 874,0 billion as at 
YE 2009.

Term deposits of legal entities decreased by 4.5 per-
cent compared to YE 2009 mainly due to early repay-
ment of a 3-year KZT 60 billion special government 
deposit to Samruk-Kazyna on 18 June 2010. This de-
crease was partially offset by new large-ticket depos-
its from a number of corporate clients.  

Current accounts of legal entities increased by 23.9 
percent compared to YE 2009 mainly due to grow-
ing volumes of transactional banking business and 
transfer of part of term deposits to current accounts. 

Term deposits and current accounts of individuals 
increased by 22.0 percent and 25.2 percent, respec-
tively, compared to YE 2009.
 
Amounts due to customers comprise the largest 
source of funding for the Bank with 79.5 percent of li-

abilities as at YE 2010. The Bank held the highest mar-
ket share in total retail deposits (21.6 percent) and 
in retail current accounts (34.7 percent) and second 
largest market share in total corporate deposits (19.9 
percent) and in corporate current accounts (22.5 per-
cent) among Kazakhstan banks as at YE 2010.

Amounts due to credit institutions

Amounts due to credit institutions decreased by 
58.7 percent compared to YE 2009 mainly due to 
decrease in correspondent accounts balances, de-
crease in loans and deposits from Kazakhstan and 
OECD based banks and early repayment of a KZT 
11,7 billion loan to JSC “Damu Entrepreneurship De-
velopment Fund” in October 2010. 

The decrease in loans and deposits from Kazakhstan 
banks was mainly due to lower volumes of REPO 
transactions through KASE. 

Loans and deposits from OECD based banks de-
creased due to repayment by the Bank of trade fi-
nance and commercial loans in accordance with re-
payment schedules.

Debt securities issued  

Debt securities issued decreased by 4.4 percent com-
pared to YE 2009 primarily as a result of repayment 
of local subordinated bonds for a nominal amount of 
KZT 5 billion in June 2010 and prepayment of local 
subordinated bonds for a nominal amount of KZT 5 
billion in November 2010. 

As at YE 2010, the Bank had three outstanding Euro-
bond issues for USD 300 million, USD 500 million and 
USD 700 million with bullet maturity in May 2013, 
October 2013 and May 2017, respectively.

On 28 January 2011, the Bank issued and placed USD 
500 million Eurobonds with a tenor of 10 years bullet 
and a coupon of 7.25 percent p.a. The offering was 
priced at 98.263 percent with a yield to investors of 
7.5 percent p.a.
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Indicator

Guarantees issued 
Commercial letters of credit 
Commitments to extend credit
Financial commitments and contingencies, gross 
Less  cash collateral against letters of credit 
Less provisions
Financial commitments and contingencies, net 

108,3
27,9
14,9

151,1
0,313

3,9
147,0

64,8
20,4
16,7

101,9
3,5
4,4

94,0

2010 2009

01.01.2009

Equity, KZT billion

191,1

01.01.2010 01.01.2011

281,0 317,9

Portfolio of guarantees issued increased by 67.1 
percent compared to YE 2009 and portfolio of com-
mercial letters of credit increased by 36.9 percent 
compared to YE 2009 as a result of growing volumes 

of documentary credit business. As at YE 2010, the 
Bank held the highest market share in commercial 
letters of credit of 26.8 percent.

Equity
Total equity increased by 13.1 percent compared to 
YE 2009 primarily as a result of net income gener-
ated during 2010. Regulatory Tier 1 capital adequacy 
ratios k1-1 and k1-2 and total capital adequacy ratio 
k2 were 10.9 percent, 13.5 percent and 18.3 percent, 
respectively, as at YE 2010. Basel Tier 1 capital ad-
equacy ratio and Total capital adequacy ratio were 
17.3 percent and 20.5 percent, respectively, as at YE 
2010.

KZT billionKZT billion

The required level of capital was established in ac-
cordance with the requirements of FMSA in order 
to continue the Bank’s activity to receive income for 
shareholders and other parties, to maintain owner’s 
equity for support of the Bank’s activity. The required 
level of capital is established in accordance with the 
above mentioned purposes and is approved by the 
Management Board and Board of Directors. Capital 
adequacy is controlled according to the principles, 
methods and ratios prescribed by Basel committee 
on Banking Regulation and Supervision Practices of 
the Bank for International Settlements.  

Quantitative indicators adopted by Basel committee 
on Banking Regulation and Supervision Practices 
of the Bank for International Settlements for capital 
adequacy maintenance require the Bank to main-
tain minimum amounts and ratios of total capital of 
8% and Tier I capital 4% to risk weighted assets. The 
FMSA requires that banks maintain Tier I capital ad-
equacy ratio of a minimum 5% (K1.1 and K1.2) and 
total capital adequacy ratio of a minimum 10%.

Capital 
adequacy 

Letters of credit and guarantees
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unaudited

unaudited

For the year ended 

Amounts due to customers / 
total liabilities
Loans / deposits ratio (1)

Liquid assets (2) / total assets 
NPLs / 
gross loans (3) 
Provisioning
rate (4)

Regulatory provisioning rate
Tier 1 capital 
adequacy ratio (5)

Total capital 
adequacy ratio (5)

Tier 1 capital 
adequacy ratio (k1-1)(6)

Tier 1 capital 
adequacy ratio (k1-2)(6)

Tier 2 capital
adequacy ratio (k2)(6)

79.5%
0.77x

36.6%

18.0%

18.9%
23.3%

17.3%

20.5%

10.9%

13.5%

18.3%

73.1%
0.89x

33.1%

19.0%

15.5%
18.8%

16.9%

20.6%

11.1%

14.3%

18.0%

Cost-to-income (7)

Return on average common shareholders’ 
equity (ROAE)
Return on average assets (ROAA)
Net interest margin
Operating expenses/average total assets

32.4%

11.8%
1.7%
4.8%
2.1%

28.5%

6.3%
0.8%
5.3%
2.1%

31-Dec-10

31-Dec-10

31-Dec-09

31-Dec-09

(1) Loans to customers, net / amounts due to customers.
(2) On consolidated IFRS basis, liquid assets consist of “Cash and cash equivalents”, NBK notes, Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of 
Kazakhstan, Treasury bills of the governments of other countries, notes of national banks of other countries, bonds of quasi-sovereign 
banks.
(3) Total NPLs 30+ (total principle amount of loans with principle and/or interest overdue by more than 30 days) / Gross loan portfolio, 
unconsolidated.
(4) Allowance for loan impairment / loans to customers before allowance for impairment losses.
(5) As per Guidelines adopted by the Basel Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervision Practices of the Bank for International 
Settlements.
(6) As per the FMSA Guidelines, Bank only.
(7) Operating expenses/operating income before impairment charge. Operating income before impairment charge is net interest income 
before impairment charge, plus fees and commissions, net, and other non-interest income, net of insurance claims incurred, net of rein-
surance and net of expenses for insurance reserves, net of deposit insurance fees.

Key financial ratios
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The system of corporate governance of the Bank is 
based on the principles of Corporate governance 
Code of the Bank approved at the extraordinary gen-
eral meeting of shareholders held on 20 December 
2006 (the “Code”). The Code, which was developed 
on the basis of Kazakhstan law and the Corporate 
Governance Code, approved by Issuers’ Council on 
21 February 2005, also implements certain provi-
sions of the UK Corporate Governance Code, such as 
those related to remuneration, performance evalu-
ation, information and professional development of 
the directors, dialogue with shareholders, establish-
ment of Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Com-
mittees of the Board of Directors. As an overseas 
company with GDRs admitted to the Official List, 
Standard Category, of the London Stock Exchange, 
the Bank is not required to comply with the provi-
sions of the UK Corporate Governance Code. The 
Bank believes that these additional provisions will 
strengthen its corporate governance regime. 

Corporate Governance Code of the Bank is available 
at www.halykbank.kz

Board of directors
The Board of directors handles issues of the general 
management of the Bank operations. 

In accordance with the Bank’s Charter, approved by 
annual general shareholders’ meeting (minutes #22 
dated 20 December 2006) and the laws of Repub-
lic of Kazakhstan, the members of the Bank’s Board 
of directors are elected at the general meeting of 
shareholders and such election must be approved 
by the FMSA. It is the Bank’s practice that general 
shareholdres’ meeting elects the Board of directors 
of the Bank for 3 years term which comply with the 
requirement of UK Corporate Governance Code. In-
dependent directors make a third of the Board of 
directors of the Bank as this term is specified in the 
laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

In accordance with the Law “On Joint–Stock compa-
nies”, an independent director is the member of the 
board of directors which: 

1) is not and has not been an affiliated person of 
the company during three years preceding his/her 
election to the board of the company (other than 
holding a position of an independent director of the 
company); 

2) is not an affiliated person of an affiliated person of 
the company; 

3) is not a subordinate of officers of the company or 
its affiliated companies; 

4) is not a public servant; 

5) is not, and has not been, the auditor to the com-
pany during three years preceding his/her election 
to the board; 

6) has not participated as an auditor in the audit of 
the company within the last three years.

Independent director should abstain from taking ac-
tions as a result of which he/she could cease to be 
independent. If, after his/her election to the Board of 
directors, there occur changes or circumstances as a 
result of which the Independent director ceases to 
be the independent, such director shall be obligated 
to submit to the Board of directors an application 
containing description of such changes and circum-
stances. In this case, the Board of directors shall in-
form shareholders to that effect, and, if necessary, 
may convene extraordinary general shareholders’ 
meeting for election of a new Board of directors.

The Board of directors consists of 7 members, 4 of 
them are Independent directors meaning that the 
Bank complies with the requirement on number of 
independent directors in the board of directors of 
Kazakh legislation and UK Corporate Governance 
Code. All 4 Independent directors meet the require-
ment to independent director of Kazakh legislation. 
Also Christof Ruehl meets the requirement to inde-

Corporate governance statement
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pendent director of UK Corporate Governance Code.
The member of the Board of directors shall abstain 
from voting on the matters in decision — making 
on which he/she is interested (a transaction in which 
the member of the Board of directors or its affiliated 
persons are interested).
Members of the Board of Directors may not be mem-
bers of the Management Board, except for the Chair-
man of the Management Board. Chairman of the 
Management Board may not be elected as Chairman 
of the Board of directors. 

The following issues fall within the exclusive author-
ity of the Board of Directors:

— determination of the strategic facets of the Bank’s 
operations, approval of the development strategy of 
the Bank;

— approval of convocation of the annual and ex-
traordinary general shareholders’ meetings;

— taking decisions on payment of dividends on 
common shares and determination of the amount 
of dividend per one common share except for divi-
dends payable for the reporting financial year;

— determination of terms of issue of bonds and de-
rivative securities of the Bank;

— determination of the quantitative structure and 
terms of authority of members of the Management 
Board of the Bank, the election of the Chairman and 
members of the Management Board, and early ter-
mination of their authority;

— determination of accounting policy;

— taking decisions on the execution of major trans-
actions and transactions in which the Bank is inter-
ested and transactions with the Bank’s affiliates;

— ensuring conditions for permanent dialogue with 
the shareholders of the Bank.

For information on the full list of decisions subject 
to exclusive competence of the Board of directors 

please see the Bank’s Charter and Terms of the Board 
of directors at www.halykbank.kz 

During 2010 there were 4 actual meetings and 270 
absentee meetings of the Board of directors.

The composition of the Board of directors and bi-
ography of the members of the Board of directors 
please see “Board of directors” section. 

The Board of directors of Halyk Bank appointed two 
committees: Audit Committee and Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee 

Audit Committee was appointed in February 2006 
and currently operates in accordance with the up-
dated terms of Audit Committee of the Bank ap-
proved by the decision of the Board of directors of 
the Bank # 4 dated 17 January 2011 (“Terms of Audit 
Committee”). 

In August 2010 the following three members of the 
Board of directors, being the independent directors 
and not being the members of the Management 
Board, were elected to Audit Committee for the term 
of two years (in accordance with the decision of the 
Board of directors #3 dated 6 August 2010):

1. Christof Ruehl — Chairman of Audit Committee, 
Independent director;  

2. Alexander Pavlov — member of Audit Committee, 
Independent director; 

3. Kadyrzhan Damitov — member of Audit Commit-
tee, Independent director.

During 2010 there were the following changes in the 
composition of Audit Committee:

1. the powers of Kamilya Arstanbekova were termi-
nated and Kadyrzhan Damitov was elected to Audit 
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Committee (in accordance with the decision of the 
Board of directors #86 dated 12 May 2010);

2. the appointment of Alexander Pavlov as Chairman 
of Audit Committee was terminated and passed to 
Christof Ruehl (in accordance with the decision of 
the Board of directors #3 dated 6 August 2010.  

Chairman and members of Audit committee have 
higher education and are financial experts and com-
ply with certain provisions of the Terms of Audit 
Committee:

1. know generally accepted standards of accounting 
and financial statements; 

2. can assess applicability of accounting norms in 
connection with reflection of evaluation data, accru-
als and reserves in accounting; 

3. have work experience on methods of internal con-
trol of financial statements.

Purposes, authorities and responsibilities 
of Audit Committee.

The purpose of Audit Committee is assistance to the 
Board of directors in exercise of the following func-
tions in providing: 

1. completeness and accuracy of financial state-
ments of the Bank and its subsidiaries; 

2. compliance of the activity of the Bank and its sub-
sidiaries with the requirements of legislation and in-
ternal documents;

3. respective qualification and independence of ex-
ternal auditors;

4. activity of internal and external audit;

5. adequacy and efficiency of internal control and 
risk management system in the Bank and its subsid-
iaries.

Audit Committee has the following authorities:

1. recommend to the Board of directors a candidate 
of external auditor, the amount payable to external 
auditor for its services and consider results of exter-
nal auditor’s activity. External auditor may present 

reports directly to Audit Committee;

2. participate in settlement of any disputes between 
the Management Board and external auditor on fi-
nancial statements’ issues;

3. preliminary approve the volume of any services of 
external auditor;

4. conduct and authorize investigations on any is-
sues within its competence including assignment 
to divisions of the Bank to conduct inspections on 
violation in the activity of appropriate structural divi-
sion;  

5. consider conceptual projects of internal statutory 
acts which determine the Bank’s strategy and policy 
on internal control;

6. control of holding activities which provide im-
mediate implementation of recommendations and 
elimination of comments on results of inspections of 
external and internal auditors and supervisory bod-
ies; 

7. discuss reliability and accuracy of financial state-
ments prepared in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards, presented to the man-
agement of the Bank and external users, consider 
issues on accounting and analyze their influence on 
financial statements. 

The main duties of Audit Committee include the fol-
lowing:

1. within its competence, control the activity of man-
agement of the Bank and its subsidiaries;  consider 
annual reports of the Bank;

2. analyze the organization of control of compliance 
with legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, statu-
tory acts of authorized bodies of the Bank; consider 
efficiency of system of monitoring of compliance 
with statutory legal acts and results of investigations 
of the Management Board on results of non-compli-
ance;

3. assess efficiency of internal control system includ-
ing safety and control of information technologies; 
determine existence of significant risks in the activ-
ity of the Bank and its subsidiaries and plans on its 
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minimizing. Initiate and trace realization of specific 
inspections; 

4. informing the director of Internal audit depart-
ment on expectations of the Board of directors on 
the role of Internal audit department in the process 
of risk management in the Bank by written and oral 
orders, signatures on the documents, discussion of 
current problems of Internal audit department’s ac-
tivity; analyze activity and organizational structure 
of Internal audit department; provide the absence 
of unjustified limitations in internal audit’s activity; 
consider efficiency of internal audit’s activity includ-
ing compliance with the Standards of internal audit’s 
professional practice of Internal auditors Institute; 
sustain maintenance of continuous upgrading of 
qualifications of employees of Internal audit depart-
ment;   

5. analyze results of complex inspections conducted 
by external and internal auditors and appropriate 
supervisory bodies; consider assessment of external 
and internal auditors on condition of internal control 
system of the Bank and its subsidiaries; coordinate 
the work of external auditor with the work of internal 
auditor;

6. consider  the volume of services and approaches 
to external auditors, working plan on external au-
dit, its conclusion and recommendations, including 
comments of the Management Board of the Bank 
and its subsidiaries on results of external audit;

7. upon an initiative of external auditor to discuss 
annually relations of the Bank with external auditors 
and any circumstances which could affect its inde-
pendence; If necessary, to discuss with external au-
ditor any issues, which Audit Committee or external 
auditors considers reasonable to discuss confiden-
tially; consider practicability of rotation of external 
auditor’s partner and  external auditor itself; give its 
conclusion on external auditor to the Board of direc-
tors of the Bank;

8. once per year assess the adequacy of Terms on Au-
dit Committee and if necessary solicit the Board of 
directors of the Bank on making appropriate amend-
ments and addendums; Annually assess the activity 
of Audit Committee and its members and execution 

of all duties by the Committee, stipulated by the 
Terms of Audit Committee.

Above stated purposes, authorities and duties of Au-
dit Committee are regulated by the Terms of Audit 
Committee.

Activity review 
of Audit Committee for 2010
During 2010 there were 19 absentee meetings and 
1 actual meeting. As the result of these meetings 
there were considered materials and made appropri-
ate decisions on the following main issues in accor-
dance with the duties of Audit Committee regulated 
by Terms of Audit Committee: 

1. Appropriate issues regarding activity of Internal 
audit department including:

• Reports on results of audit inspections of Internal 
audit department in 2010;  

• Plan of work and recommendations on improve-
ment of risk management and internal control sys-
tems and corporate governance based on the results 
of audit inspections;                                                                                                                           

• Projects of 11 internal documents of the Bank, 
regulating the activity of Internal audit department, 
worked out by the department in 2010;

• Reports of Internal audit department on execution 
of plans of work and recommendations on improve-
ment of risk management and internal control sys-
tems and corporate governance based on the results 
of audit inspections,

• Reports on conditions of internal control system in 
the Bank and its subsidiaries, including security and 
control of information technologies;

• Annual reports on activity of Internal audit depart-
ment in 2010;

• Plan of work of the Bank’s internal audit depart-
ment for 2011 and 2011-2013;

• Analysis of activity and organizational structure of 
Internal audit department of the Bank, control of 
compliance with the requirements of quality in ac-
cordance with international standards. The project 
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of new staff schedule of Internal audit department 
of the Bank for 2011 was considered;

• Maintenance of absence of unjustified limitations 
in internal control’s activity;

• Execution of appropriate recommendations on re-
sults of external assessment of Internal audit depart-
ment’s activity for compliance with the requirements 
of International professional standards of internal 
audit of Internal audit institute and best practice. 
The issue on postponement of next internal assess-
ment until second half of 2012 was considered;

2. results of internal audit inspections, including:

• Letters to the management of the Bank on results 
of audit of consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2009 and report on real-
ization of abovementioned recommendations as at 
1 November 2010 were considered; 

• Report “On results of external audit activity for 3, 6 
and 9 months of 2010 financial year” was announced 
on actual meeting, the volume of external audit ser-

vices, approaches to external audit and procedures 
on election of external auditor in 2011 was discussed 
with external auditor;

• The candidacy of external auditor for Halyk Group 
for 2011 financial year was considered; 

3. separate issues on organization of accounting in 
the Bank and analysis of their influence to financial 
statements were considered, reliability and accuracy 
of financial statements presented to the manage-
ment and external users were discussed; 

4. the control of activity of management of the Bank 
and its subsidiaries was effected e.g. the draft of 
“Management of subsidiaries policy” was consid-
ered;  

5. separate report of the Bank’s divisions and its sub-
sidiaries were considered within the authorities; 

6. evaluation of risks in the activity of the Bank and 
its subsidiaries, consideration of methods on risks’ 
minimization, including: 
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• Report on results of “Self-evaluation of risks” project 
in the Bank for 2010 was considered;  

• Strategy of risk-management development for 
2011-2012 was considered;

7. Compliance control issues, including:
• Report of Compliance-controller on efficiency of 
compliance-risk management in the Bank was con-
sidered;
• Report of Compliance — controller on work con-
ducted in the Bank on prevention of money launder-
ing and terrorism financing in 2010 was considered;
 
8. evaluation of activity of Audit Committee in 2010:

• evaluation of activity of Audit Committee and its 
members in 2010, approval of report on activity of 
Audit Committee in 2010;

• analysis of execution by Audit Committee it duties, 
stipulated by the Terms;

• evaluation of adequacy of Terms, solicitation to the 
Board of directors of the Bank on adoption of appro-
priate amendments and addendums to the Terms.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Nomination and Remuneration Committee was ap-
pointed in September 2007 and currently operates 
in accordance with the updated terms of Nomina-
tion and Remuneration Committee of the Bank ap-
proved by the decision of the Board of directors of 
the Bank #13 dated 4 February 2011 (“Terms of Nom-
ination and Remuneration Committee”). 

In August 2010 the following three members of the 
Board of directors were elected to Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee (in accordance with the 
decision of the Board of directors #3 dated 6 August 
2010):

1. Frank Kuijlaars — Chairman of the Committee, In-
dependent director;

2. Alexander Pavlov — member of the Committee, 
Independent director;

3. Umut Shayakhmetova — member of the Commit-

tee, Chairperson of the Management Board.

In accordance with the Terms Nomination and Re-
muneration Committee, terms of authorities of 
members of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee coincide with terms of their authorities 
as members of the Board of director, but could be 
annually reviewed by the Board of directors.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee is advi-
sory body of the Board of directors of the Bank. All 
proposals made by Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee are recommendations which are consid-
ered by the Board of directors.

The following issues fall within competence of Nom-
ination and Remuneration Committee:

1) submission of recommendations on candidates to 
the members of the Board of directors of the Bank 
(except for Chairman of the Board of directors and 
Chairman of the Management Board), Management 
Board and members of the Board of directors of the 
Bank’s subsidiaries; 

2) submission of recommendations on system of re-
muneration of the Chairman of the Board of direc-
tors, Chairman and members of the Management 
Board in accordance with internal documents of the 
Bank;

3)making suggestions to the Board of directors of 
the Bank on determination / changes of the amount 
of individual remuneration of the members of the 
Board of directors (except for Chairman of the Board 
of directors and Chairman of the Management Board 
(in case if Chairman of the Management Board is 
member of the Board of directors); 

4) submission of recommendations on possibility of 
payment and amount of remuneration payable to 
the members of the Board of directors and members 
of the Management Board in case of early termina-
tion of their authorities;

5) consideration of salaries’ scheme of members of 
the Board of directors and members of executive 
body (individuals who perform duties of executive 
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body) of subsidiaries of the Bank, recommended by 
the Bank, and submission of appropriate proposals 
and comments; 

6)  consideration of rules on payment of salaries to 
the members of the Board of directors and members 
of executive body (individuals who perform duties 
of executive body) of subsidiaries of the Bank, rec-
ommended by the Bank, and submission of appro-
priate proposals and comments;  

7) submission of annual report on activity of Nomi-
nation and Remuneration Committee to the Board 
of directors;  

8) other issues, which adoption may fall within com-
petence of Nomination and Remuneration Commit-
tee under legislation or internal documents of the 
Bank; 

During 2010 there were 3 absentee meetings of 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the 
following issues were considered: 

1. On recommendation to the Board of directors on 
election of Marat Almenov and Stanislav Kosobokov 
to the Management Board;

2. On remuneration of the member of the Board of 
Directors Askar Yelemessov, Kadyrzhan Damitov, 
Kairat Satylganov;

3. On recommendation to the Board of directors of 
the Bank to early terminate the authorities of the 
following members of the Board of directors of JSC 
“Halyk Leasing”: Ms. Shayakhmetova, Chairperson of 
the Board of directors, Mr. Karzhaubayev, member 
of the Board of directors, Mr. Savin, member of the 
Board of directors — Independent director, starting 
from the day of submission of application on early 
termination of their authorities as members of the 
Board of directors at their discretion;

4. On recommendation to the Board of directors of 
the Bank on election of the Board of directors of JSC 
“Halyk Leasing” as follows: three members;

5. On recommendation to the Board of directors of 
the Bank to determine the composition of the Board 

of directors of JSC “Halyk Leasing” as follows: Ms. 
Imasheva and Mr. Karzhaubayev, members of the 
Board of directors and Ms. Abdikadirova — indepen-
dent director;

6. On recommendation to the Board of directors of 
the Bank to determine the following terms of au-
thorities of the Board of directors of JSC “Halyk Leas-
ing” — three years starting from the date of adop-
tion of resolution by the Board of directors;

7. On recommendation to the Board of directors of 
the Bank to determine the amount and terms of pay-
ment of remuneration to the independent member 
of the Board of directors of JSC “Halyk Leasing” Ms. 
Abdikadirova.

Management Board

Management Board of the Bank is a collegial execu-
tive authority of the Bank which acts on behalf of the 
Bank and represents its interests, concludes transac-
tions on its behalf as prescribed by the legislation 
of the Republic of Kazkhstan and the Charter of the 
Bank and issues decisions (resolutions) and instruc-
tions binding upon all structural divisions and em-
ployees of the Bank.

Management Board of the Bank reports to the Board 
of directors. Management Board consists of Chair-
person and members of the Management Board. 
Quantity and membership of the Management 
Board is determined by the Board of Directors of 
the Bank. Chairperson and members of the Man-
agement Board of the Bank are elected and their 
authorities are terminated on the basis of decision 
of the Board of directors in accordance with proce-
dure which stipulates submission to members of the 
Board of directors of all information on candidates 
for election to Chairperson and member of the Man-
agement Board.

Only an individual can be elected as a member of 
the Management Board. The Chairperson and the 
members of the Management Board are elected (ap-
proved) to their positions with the consent of FMSA.

35



Meetings of the Management Board take places 
weekly. The following issues fall within the compe-
tence of the Management Board: decision on the 
most complicated issues of current activity of the 
Bank, organization of development of the most im-
portant documents of the Bank, approval of internal 
documents of the Bank on issues which fall within its 
competence. 

The Management Board’s scope of work includes:

— development and submission the Bank’s develop-
ment strategy to the Board of Directors of the Bank 
for discussion;

— approval of internal documents relating to the 
management of the Bank’s operations except for 
documents which fall within the exclusive authority 
of other bodies of the Bank;

— approval of the business-plan, investment pro-
gramme and budget of the Bank for a specific period;
— presenting financial statements to the Board of 
directors and general shareholders’ meeting;

— approval of the structure and staff of the Bank, of-
fice labour regulations, internal rules related to disci-
pline and rewards within its competence;

— determining the size of borrowing by the Bank 
from other banks, financial institutions, banking syn-
dicates, if fulfillment of such transactions does not 
belong to usual economic activities of the Bank and 
is not referred to the competence of other bodies of 
the Bank.

— consideration and taking decisions on conclusion 
of collective agreements in accordance with the leg-
islation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

For full list of the Management Board’s scope of work 
please see the Charter of the Bank at www.halyk-
bank.kz

The composition of the Management Board and bi-
ography of the members of the Management Board 
please see “Management Board” section. 

Internal control and risk management systems in re-

lation to the financial reporting process. 

During financial reporting process of the Bank as a 
public company, there are key elements of internal 
control system which includes the following: 

1) accounting policy of the Bank;

2) operational, administrative policy, cash manage-
ment policy and other procedures;

3) constant monitoring of operational, financial ac-
tivity.

In accordance with these key elements of internal 
control, all accounting operations are reflected dai-
ly in automatized accounting systems of the Bank 
on the basis of primary documents submitted by 
responsible divisions which, in turn, pass certain 
stages of controls and approvals of head of division. 
Once all accounting records are recorded in account-
ing systems of the Bank, procedures on closure of 
operational day are conducted.  

Together with the control of initial documents and 
conducted operations by responsible divisions, 
there is Financial control division in the Bank which, 
on the next day after reporting day, performs control 
of data recorded in accounting systems with respect 
to correctness and accuracy of accounting records. 

All accounting records, reflected in accounting sys-
tems, are forwarded on a daily basis to General led-
ger of the Bank and to data warehouse where the 
information is checked for compliance with ana-
lytical and synthetic accounting through creation of 
reports. In case of any discrepancy and non-compli-
ance, responsible divisions prepare acts of discrep-
ancies and inform management of the Bank on this fact.   

Also, a report (detailed balancesheet) is prepared in 
the Bank on a daily basis in accordance with the re-
quirements of authorized bodies of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, which is verified by appropriate division 
and thereafter is forwarded to authorized bodies in 
accordance with the requirements.
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In accordance with established rules in the Bank, 
responsible division prepares on an annual basis 
consolidated statements on control of execution of 
budget approved for reporting year. The report is 
submitted to the management of the Bank for mak-
ing of appropriate economic decisions. 

Procedures on preparation of consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with international fi-
nancial reporting standards (“IFRS”) are conducted 
monthly in the Bank in automatized system which 
helps to accept and process the data of subsidiar-
ies which comes from accounting systems. In this 
system there are technical and logical automated 
checks for compliance with established require-
ments. At the same time, the data loaded to the sys-
tem, is verified with data provided by subsidiaries in 
hard copy for accuracy of recording. 

Consolidated financial statements of the Bank in 
accordance with IFRS is reviewed by international 
audit company on a quarterly basis. In accordance 
with the requirements of IFRS, full interim financial 
statements with disclosures and notes is prepared 

using best practice. This allows providing users with 
full and reliable information on the Bank’s financial 
position. 

Responsibility statement
We herewith confirm that, to the best of our knowl-
edge:

— the consolidated financial statements in this an-
nual report are prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards and give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of JSC Halyk Bank and its 
subsidiaries included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole; and

— the annual report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and 
the position of JSC Halyk Bank and its subsidiaries 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole and 
the principal risks and uncertainties JSC Halyk Bank 
faces.

Umut Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Management Board
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Social responsibility is one of the main directions in 
the Bank’s activity. Social projects of the largest re-
tail bank of the country, which are described in the 
“Program of the main directions of sponsorship and 
charity” approved by the Management Board of the 
Bank (the “Program”), are active in all regions of the 
country — 22 regional branches. For the six years of 
the existence of the Program social activity of the 
Bank attained appreciation and support not only 
from local governmental authorities but also from 
children of sponsored orphanages. This is the result 
of deliberated and well-judged social policy of the 
Bank which again confirmed commitment to prin-
ciples of social corporate responsibility. 

In 2010 the Bank continued realization of above 
mentioned Program. This Program is the main in-
strument of maintenance of focused, systematic and 
widespread assistance and includes the following 
directions:

• Projects of sponsorship to orphanages which pro-
vide care to orphans. Project directed to rendering of 
assistance and care to disabled children. 

• Projects directed to development of children’s and 
junior sport basketball movement. 

• Projects directed to obtaining of higher education 
by children from sponsored orphanages.

Social report

Nazarbayev University
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• Other projects of social and regional importance.

Within the first direction during the year regional 
branches of the Bank conducted the work on im-
provement of material and technical condition of 
sponsored orphanages. This includes required re-
pair, providing orphans with clothes and mainte-
nance of orphanages, as well as organization of fes-
tive events.

The Bank annually provides sponsorship for sub-
scription campaign to “Druzhniye Rebyata” newspa-
per among children from orphanages. In 2010 the 
budget for this purpose was KZT 341, 676.

Social project “Narodnaya Liga” on creation of active 
basketball movement started in 2005. The main pur-
pose of this project is brining up of sporty healthy 
young Kazakh generation, promotion of healthy 
lifestyle and interesting pastime for children from 
orphanages.

As part of this project orphanages were equipped 
with sport inventories and provided with profession-
al coaches. During the academic year participants of 
the project have the opportunity to train under the 
guidance of professional basketball coaches and the 
result of such trainings is the annual “Cup of Hope” 
basketball tournament.  The tournament is orga-
nized with participation of the National Basketball 
Federation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. He Bank, 
as the general sponsor, covers traveling expenses of 
children, purchase of prize fund for winners of the 
tournament, payment to referees. 

In 2010 the Bank has organized 6th “Cup of Hope” 
Republic tournament which was held at “Sosnoviy 
Bor” resort (Kostanay region) for 160 young sports-
men.

Over the years of the existence of “Narodnaya Liga” 
project the Bank provided for its realization more 
than KZT 100 million. Only in 2010 the Bank spent 
more than KZT 23 million tenge.

Games of VII tournament will start in May 2011 in Bo-
rovoe, Akmola region. 

Within special charity program “Narodniye studenty” 
children from sponsored orphanages from different 
regions of our republic have an opportunity to get 
higher education. Nowadays there are 43 partici-
pants of this program.

This program was launched in 2007. In accordance 
with the terms of this program, children who dem-
onstrated the high level of knowledge and aspira-
tion to get higher education in different universities 
of our republic, receive scholarship of Halyk Bank. In 
2010 Halyk Bank provided scholarships to 11 chil-
dren from sponsored orphanages. All these children 
in accordance with the terms of the program are 
included to the perspective personnel database of 
Halyk Bank and after graduation from the universi-
ty can keep in view prestigious and well-paid work 
within divisions of the Bank. 

During the whole academic year, besides the pay-
ment for education, students receive the scholarship 
under the name of Mr. Kozhakhan Abenov, our late 
Deputy Chairman of the Management Board.  The 
amount of monthly scholarship is KZT 10, 000 and 
KZT 15, 000 for students who got grant for their edu-
cation. 

“I am very lucky that there is “Narodniye studenty” 
program. In fact, not all people have an opportunity 
to get higher education free of charge. I will learn for 
4 years, and then will admit to Master program in 
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order to work on my favorite specialization” — said 
Dariya Nesterenko, student of first course of Eastern-
Kazakhstan State University after S. Amanzholov, 
“Accounting and Audit” faculty.   

The Bank provides charity to veteran organizations 
within social project “Marathon Pobedy”. In 2010 on 
the occasion of 65th anniversary of victory in Great 
Patriotic War the Bank provided KZT 9 million to vet-
erans’ organizations of Almaty, “Organization of vet-
erans of the Republic of Kazakhstan”, veterans of the 
Great Patriotic War across the country.

As the participant in charity projects of “Ayala” fund, 
in 2010 the Bank provided KZT 21,6 million for pur-
chase of equipment to Scientific Centre of Chirurgia 
after Syzganov for conducting operations to chil-
dren with acyanotic heart disease, as well as for re-
alization of “Health of nation starts from maternity 
hospital” project on installment of 32 phototherapy 
equipment in maternity hospitals of Almaty region. 

“Ayala” charity fund expresses its deep apprecia-
tion to Halyk Bank for the assistance in purchase of 
all necessary equipment for hospitals of Almaty city 
and Almaty region. This equipment will help in sav-
ing more lives of newborn children and especially 
fragile lives of prematurely born children. Your par-
ticipation in projects of “Ayala” fund — is huge con-
tribution to future of our city and while Republic of 
Kazakhstan – said Aidan Suleimenova, Presiden of 
“Ayala” charity fund. 

Participating in “Damu-Komek” program on support 
of disabled entrepreneurs the Bank provided assis-

tance to Mr. Tulepbergenov, entrepreneur, for repair 
and setup of photo printing devise. 

In April 2010 employees of the Bank set trees which 
have been purchased by the Bank in Special chil-
dren’s hostel  #2 of Almaty city.

Charity events of the Bank’s employees became a 
kind tradition. Since the beginning of 2010 charity 
events were devoted to the 1st of June (International 
children’s day), 1st of September (Knowledge day) 
and New Year. Thanks to employees of the Bank the 
assistance was provided to different organizations 
including: “Nur” orphanage (Talgar town), children’s 
antiphthisic center #1 (Almaty city), children’s orga-
nization “Kovcheg” (Talgar town), “Oral” Charity fund 
(Almaty city).

The Bank and its employees provided assistance to 
people from Kyzyl-Agash of Almaty region suffered 
from waterflood in March 2010. For this purpose em-
ployees of the Bank collected more than half million 
tenge and the Bank provided suffered people with 
KZT 10 million. The Bank provides such kind of as-
sistance regularly. 

The Bank is interested in elaboration of city develop-
ment projects. In November 2010 the Bank provided 
KZT 5 million to “Nash gorod” Corporate fund for de-
velopment of Kostanay city. In December 2010 the 
Bank provided KZT 1,6 million for development of 
Aktobe city.
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Statement of management’s responsibilities 
for the preparation and approval of the consolidated 
financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008

The following statement, which should be read in 
conjunction with independent auditors’ responsi-
bilities stated in the independent auditors’ report, 
is made with a view to distinguishing the respective 
responsibilities of management and those of the in-
dependent auditors in relation to the consolidated 
financial statements of JSC Halyk Bank and its sub-
sidiaries (the “Group”).

Management is responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that present 
fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 De-
cember 2010, 2009 and 2008, the results of its opera-
tions, cash flows and changes in equity for the years 
then ended, in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial state-
ments, management is responsible for:

• Selecting suitable accounting principles and apply-
ing them consistently;
• Making judgments and estimates that are reason-
able and prudent;
• Stating whether IFRS have been followed; and
• Preparing the consolidated financial statements on  

to presume that the Group will continue in business 
for the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:

• Designing, implementing and maintaining an 
effective and sound system of internal controls, 
throughout the Group;
• Maintaining proper accounting records that dis-
close, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the 
financial position of the Group, and which enable 
them to ensure that the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Group comply with IFRS;
• Maintaining statutory accounting records in com-
pliance with legislation and accounting standards of 
Kazakhstan;
• Taking such steps as are reasonably available to 
them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
• Detecting and preventing fraud, errors and other 
irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008 were au-
thorized for issue on 9 March 2011 by the Manage-
ment Board of the Group.

Umut B. Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Board
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Pavel A. Cheussov
Chief Accountant
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

On behalf of the Management Board:
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Independent auditors’ report

Report on the consolidated
financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of JSC Halyk Bank and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at 
31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, the consolidated 
income statements, the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the years then ended and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Management’s responsibility
for the consolidated
financial statements
Management of the Group is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and for such internal controls as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatements, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of JSC Halyk Bank:

Deloitte LLP
Almaty Financial District
Building “B“, 36, Al Faradi ave.
Almaty, 050000
Republic of  Kazakhstan
Tel: +7 (727) 258 13 40
Fax: +7 (727) 258 13 41
almaty@deloitte.kz, www.deloitte.kz
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2010, 2009 

and 2008, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Deloitte, LLP
State license on auditing 
in the Republic of Kazakhstan 
Number 0000015, type MFU-2, given by 
the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan 
dated 13 September 2006

Nurlan Bekenov 
Engagement Partner 
Qualified auditor 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
Qualification certificate No. 0082
General Director
Deloitte, LLP

9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Opinion
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

EQUITY

Cash and cash equivalents
Obligatory reserves
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit
or loss
Amounts due from credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities
Investments held to maturity
Precious metals
Loans to customers
Property and equipment
Assets held-for-sale
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Insurance assets
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to credit institutions
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit 
or loss
Debt securities issued
Provisions
Deferred tax liability
Insurance liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Share capital
Share premium reserve
Treasury shares
Retained earnings and other reserves
Non-controlling interest

Total equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

6
7

8,37

10,37

9

11,37

12,37
13
14

15
16

20,123

392,898
27,284

6,051

281,294
174,419

1,665
1,089,273

63,988
9,770
3,085
5,834
9,274

12,977
2,097,935

19
20
21
15
22

17,37
18,37

1,415,755
71,403

1,274,069
172,706

867,392
289,608

8

23

2,910 3,201 6,048
252,167

3,861
8,242

15,664
10,049

1,780,051

143,695
1,352

(93)
171,744
316,698

1,186
317,884

2,097,935

143,695
1,317
(103)

135,693
280,602

350
280,952

2,023,009

65,531
1,908

(69)
123,428
190,798

257
191,055

1,651,349

263,893
4,433
6,194
9,586
7,975

1,742,057

262,991
2,889
8,854
8,618

13,894
1,460,294

56,101

480,622
25,949

8,528

200,221
17,186

1,445
1,133,235

63,158
8,447
3,190
7,475
4,945

12,507
2,023,009

10,357

161,088
30,825

14,987

135,801
8,689

34
1,188,280

58,023

3,190
6,436
4,417

29,222
1,651,349

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2009

Notes

The notes on pages 59 to 139 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Umut B. Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Board
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Pavel A. Cheussov
Chief Accountant
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

On behalf of the Management Board:
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Consolidated income statements
for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge, except for earnings 
per share which is in Tenge)

Interest income
Interest expense
NET INTEREST INCOME BEFORE
IMPAIRMENT CHARGE
Impairment charge
NET INTEREST INCOME
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Fees and commissions, net
Net gain/(loss) from financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit 
or loss
Net realized gain from 
available-for-sale 
investment securities
Net gain from repurchase 
of debt securities issued
Net gain on foreign exchange 
operations
Insurance underwriting income
Share in net loss
of associates
Other income
OTHER NON-INTEREST INCOME
Operating expenses
(Provisions)/recoveries of provisions
Losses incurred from management 
of pension assets
Insurance claims incurred, 
net of reinsurance
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense
NET INCOME 
Attributable to:
Non-controlling interest 
Preferred shareholders
Common shareholders

Basic earnings per share (in Kazakhstani Tenge)
Diluted earnings per share (in Kazakhstani Tenge)

25, 37
25, 37

25
20

26
26

27, 37

28
29

2

30
20

22

15

22

31
31

178,415
(86,379)

92,036
(48,428)

43,608
35,193
(5,221)
29,972

1,741

591

(236)

7,385
11,994

(15)
1,912

23,372
(45,283)

628

-

(7,393)
(52,048)

44,904
(8,688)
36,216

273
7,907

28,036
36,216

21.55
21.55

194,005
(103,277)

90,728
(83,513)

7,215
39,714
(4,937)
34,777

1,392

109

1,120

11,440
8,803

(27)
1,331

24,168
(41,728)

(1,221)

-

(4,082)
(47,031)

19,129
(3,253)
15,876

166
2,904

12,806
15,876

10.78
10.78

192,660
(100,753)

91,907
(60,015)

31,892
27,208
(3,248)
23,960

(9,650)

223

2,439

11,753
9,198

(35)
2,303

16,231
(42,758)

(987)

(7,209)

(4,951)
(55,905)

16,178
(1,624)
14,554

(46)
1,411

13,189
14,554

13.19
12.32

Year 
ended

31 December 
2010

Year 
ended

31 December 
2009

Year
 ended

31 December 
2008

Notes

The notes on pages 59 to 139 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Umut B. Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Board
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Pavel A. Cheussov
Chief Accountant
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

On behalf of the Management Board:
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

NET INCOME

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of available-for-sale 
investment securities
Gain transferred to income statement 
on sale of available-for-sale 
investment securities
Loss transferred to income statement 
on impairment of available-for-sale
investment securities
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of property and equipment, 
net of tax
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Preferred shareholders
Common shareholders

36,216

4,960

(591)

481

51
(307)

 
4,594

 
40,810

 
 

265
8,898

31,647
40,810

15,876
 

174

(109)

743

(4,133)
1,546

 
(1,779)

 
14,097

 
 

153
2,578

11,366
14,097

14,554

(1,713)

(223)

—

22,332
43

20,439

34,993

(556)
3,435

32,114
34,993

Year 
ended 

31 December 
2010

Year 
ended 

31 December 
2009

Year 
ended 

31 December 
2008

The notes on pages 59 to 139 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Umut B. Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Board
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Pavel A. Cheussov
Chief Accountant
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

On behalf of the Management Board:
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity
for the years ended 31 December 
2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

31 December 2009

Net income
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

Treasury shares purchased
Treasury
shares sold
Dividends — 
preferred shares
Dividends of subsidiaries
Release of property and equipment 
revaluation reserve on depreciation 
and disposal of previously revalued 
assets
Changes in non-controlling interest 
share of net assets

31 December 2010 

83,571

—
—

—

—

—

—
—

—

—

83,571

46,891

—
—

—

—

—

—
—

—

—

46,891

13,233

—
—

—

—

—

—
—

—

—

13,233

1,317

—
—

—

(16)

51

—
—

—

—

1,352

23

23

Non-
convertible
preferred

shares

Convertible
preferred

shares

Share
premium
reserve

Common
shares

Notes

Share capital
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(103)

—
—

—

(8)

18

—
—

—

—

(93)

1,667

—
(307)

(307)

—

—

—
—

—

—

1,360

(976)

—
4,858

4,858

—

—

—
—

—

—

3,882

18,121

—
51

51

—

—

—
—

(1,197)

—

16,975

116,881

35,943
—

35,943

—

—

(4,494)
—

1,197

—

149,527

280,602

35,943
4,602

40,545

(24)

69

(4,494)
—

—

—

316,698

350

273
(8)

265

—

—

—
(69)

—

640

1,186

280,952

36,216
4,594

40,810

(24)

69

(4,494)
(69)

—

640

317,884

Treasury
shares

Cumulative 
translation 

reserve*

Property and 
equipment 
revaluation

reserve*

Retained
earnings*

Total Non-
controlling

interest

Total
equity

Revaluation
reserve of

available-for-
sale

investment
securities*

51



49,824
—
—
—

33,747
—
—
—
—

—

—
83,571

2,47
—
—
—
—

48,019
(3,602)

—
—

—

—
46,891

1,908
—
—
—
—
—

(601)
10
—

—

—
1,317

23
23
23
23

31 December 2008
Net income
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Common shares issued
Preferred shares issued
Treasury shares purchased
Treasury shares sold
Dividends — preferred shares
Release of property and equipment 
revaluation reserve on depreciation 
and disposal of previously revalued 
assets
Changes in non-controlling interest 
share of net assets
31 December 2009 

Non-
convertible
preferred

shares

Convertible
preferred

shares

Share
premium
reserve

Common
shares

Notes

Consolidated statements of changes in equity (continued)
For the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

13,233
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—
13,233

Share capital
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(69)
—
—
—
—
—

(47)
13
—

—

—
(103)

121
—

1,546
1,546

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
1,667

(1,797)
—

821
821

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
(976)

22,502
—

(4,133)
(4,133)

—
—
—
—
—

(248)

—
18,121

 102,602
15,710

—
15,710

—
—
—
—

(1,679)

248

—
116,881

190,798
15,710
(1,766)
13,944
33,747
48,019
(4,250)

23
(1,679)

—

—
280,602

257
166
(13)
153

—
—
—
—
—

—

(60)
350

191,055
15,876
(1,779)
14,097
33,747
48,019
(4,250)

23
(1,679)

—

(60)
280,952

Treasury
shares

Cumulative 
translation 

reserve*

Property and 
equipment 
revaluation

reserve*

Retained
earnings*

Total Non-
controlling

interest

Total
equity

Revaluation
reserve of

available-for-
sale

investment
securities*
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31 December 2007
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Treasury shares purchased
Dividends — common shares
Dividends — preferred shares
Dividends of subsidiaries
Release of property and equipment 
revaluation reserve on depreciation 
and disposal of previously revalued 
assets
Changes in non-controlling interest 
share of net assets
31 December 2008 

49,824
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—
49,824

2,474
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—
2,474

13,233
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—
13,233

1,952
—
—
—

(44)
—
—
—

—

—
1,908

23

Non-
convertible
preferred

shares

Convertible
preferred

shares

Share
premium
reserve

Common
shares

Notes

Consolidated statements of changes in equity (continued)
For the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

Share capital
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The notes on pages 59 to 139 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(66)
—
—
—
(3)
—
—
—

—

—
(69)

78
—
43
43
—
—
—
—

—

—
121

(371)
—

(1,426)
(1,426)

—
—
—
—

—

—
(1,797)

278
—

22,332
22,332

—
—
—
—

(108)

—
22,502

92,268
14,600

—
14,600

—
(2,695)
(1,679)

—

108

—
102,602

159,670
14,600
20,949
35,549

(47)
(2,695)
(1,679)

—

—

—
190,798

1,355
(46)

(510)
(556)

—
—
—

(119)

—

(423)
257

161,025
14,554
20,439
34,993

(47)
(2,695)
(1,679)

(119)

—

(423)
191,055

Treasury
shares

Cumulative 
translation 

reserve*

Property and 
equipment 
revaluation

reserve*

Retained
earnings*

Total Non-
controlling

interest

Total
equity

Revaluation
reserve of

available-for-
sale

investment
securities*

Umut B. Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Board
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Pavel A. Cheussov
Chief Accountant
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

On behalf of the Management Board:
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Consolidated statements of cash flows 
for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received from financial 
assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
Interest received from cash equivalents and amounts 
due from credit institutions
Interest received on available-for-sale investment 
securities
Interest received on investments 
held to maturity
Interest received from loans to customers
Interest paid on amounts due to customers
Interest paid on amounts due 
to credit institutions
Interest paid on debt 
securities issued
Fee and commission received
Fee and commission paid
Insurance underwriting income received
Other income received
Operating expenses paid
Insurance claims paid
Cash flows from operating
activities before changes 
in net operating assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Obligatory reserves
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Amounts due from credit institutions
Precious metals
Loans to customers
Insurance assets
Other assets
Increase/(decrease) 
in operating liabilities:
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to credit institutions
Insurance liabilities
Other liabilities
Cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities before income tax
Income tax paid
Net cash inflow/(outflow)
from operating activities

43

2,319

9,126

916
134,909
(65,034)

(4,350)

(21,846)
33,744
(5,221)
18,225
15,692

(34,718)
(5,426)

78,379

(1,335)

2,405
36,503

183
10,514

(10,557)
626

(291)
154,796
(99,509)

4,116
(1,268)

174,562
(2,326)

172,236

216

3,472

4,297

1,049
134,746
(59,060)

(11,513)

(25,013)
39,824
(4,937)
14,567
14,197

(34,744)
(3,453)

73,648
 
 

4,876

8,332
(43,398)

(1,411)
128,749

(6,534)
(1,069)

 

(2,996)
253,796

(131,307)
339

(7,163)

275,862
(3,826)

272,036

1,978

8,645

1,960

—
138,726
(72,854)

(12,464)

(20,547)
28,418
(3,248)
15,027

9,565
(40,124)

(4,384)

50,698

56,443

32,700
(6,739)

(31)
(171,599)

(6,360)
(4,857)

(546)
(62,061)

42,024
662

(1,235)

(70,901)
(10,306)

(81,207)

Year 
ended

31 December 
2010

Year 
ended

31 December 
2009

Year 
ended

31 December 
2008
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CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase and prepayment for property and equipment 
and intangible assets
Proceeds on sale of property and equipment
Proceeds on sale of available-for-sale investment 
securities
Purchase of available-for-sale 
investment securities
Proceeds from redemption 
of investments held to maturity
Purchase of investments
held to maturity
Net cash outflow from
investing activities
 
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds on common shares issued
Proceeds on preferred shares issued
Proceeds on sale of treasury shares
Purchase of treasury shares
Dividends paid
Proceeds on debt securities issued
Redemption and repurchase of debt securities issued

Net cash inflow from 
financing activities
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate 
on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash 
and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 
beginning of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 
end of the year

23
23

6

6

(10,245)
96

692,402

(892,443)

169,528

(199,379)

(240,041)

—
—

69
(24)

(4,563)
—

(10,000)

(14,518)

(5,401)

(87,724)

480,622

392,898

(9,155)
148

217,095

(270,522)

20,377

(21,769)

(63,826)

33,747
48,019

23
(4,250)
(1,679)
14,161

(53,224)

36,797

74,527

319,534

161,088

480,622

(19,104)
145

151,819

(174,879)

—

(6,777)

(48,796)

—
—

—
(47)

(4,493)
64,924

(23,122)

37,262

(1,416)

(94,157)

255,245

161,088

Year 
ended

31 December 
2010

Year 
ended

31 December 
2009

Year 
ended

31 December 
2008

Notes
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During 2008 in accordance with the amendments 
issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) to International Accounting Standard 
(“IAS”) 39 the Group has reclassified its financial as-
sets at fair value through profit or loss to available-
for-sale investment securities and investments held 
to maturity. Please see Notes 10 and 11 to the con-
solidated financial statements for detailed disclo-
sure.

During 2010 the Group has reclassified National 
Bank of Kazakhstan notes with total nominal value 

of KZT 127,000 million from available-for-sale invest-
ment securities to investments held to maturity. The 
securities had matured during the reporting period.

During 2010 the Group has repossessed collateral 
with the carrying amount of KZT 4,998 million after 
the default of certain loans to customers (during 
2009 — KZT 4,945 million). Please see Note 14 to the 
consolidated financial statements for detailed dis-
closure.

The notes on pages 59 to 139 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Umut B. Shayakhmetova
Chairperson of the Board
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Pavel A. Cheussov
Chief Accountant
9 March 2011
Almaty, Kazakhstan

On behalf of the Management Board:
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1. Principal activities
JSC Halyk Bank (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (to-
gether the “Group”) provide retail and corporate 
banking services principally in Kazakhstan, Russia, 
Kyrgyzstan and Georgia, and pension asset manage-
ment and insurance services in Kazakhstan. The pri-
mary state registration of the Bank with the authori-
ties of justice of Kazakhstan was made on 20 January 
1994. The Bank operates under the license No. 10 for 
carrying out of banking and other operations and 
activities on the securities market, renewed by the 
Agency for Regulation and Supervision of Financial 
Market and Financial Organizations of the Republic 
of Kazakhstan (“FMSA”) on 6 August 2008. The Bank 
is a member of the obligatory deposit insurance sys-
tem provided by JSC Kazakhstan Fund for Deposits 
Guarantee.

The Bank’s primary business includes originating 
loans and guarantees, attracting deposits, trading 
in securities and foreign currencies, executing trans-
fers, cash and payment card operations and render-
ing other banking services to its customers. In ad-
dition, the Bank acts as the government’s agent in 
channelling various budgetary payments and pen-
sions through its nationwide network. 

The Bank has a primary listing with the Kazakhstan 
Stock Exchange (“KASE”). In addition, certain of the 
Bank’s debt securities issued are primarily listed 

on the Luxembourg and London Stock Exchanges. 
The Bank has also sold Global Depository Receipts 
(“GDRs”) through a listing on the London Stock Ex-
change.

On 15 January 2009, the Group and JSC “Sovereign 
Wealth Fund “Samruk-Kazyna” (“Samruk-Kazyna”), 
an entity controlled by the Kazakhstan Govern-
ment, signed a series of agreements related to the 
realization of joint measures towards the support of 
the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan within 
the terms of a stabilization program of the Kazakh-
stan Government. In accordance with the agree-
ments signed Samruk-Kazyna will not intervene in 
the operating policies of the Group and its stake in 
the share capital of the Group will not exceed 25% 
of the issued common shares of the Group. On 27 
March 2009, Samruk-Kazyna acquired 259,064,909 
common shares of the Group for a total amount of 
KZT 26,951 million. On 29 May 2009, Samruk-Kazy-
na acquired 196,232,499 non-convertible preferred 
shares of the Group for a total amount of KZT 33,049 
million. As at 31 December 2010, Samruk-Kazyna 
owned a 24.71% stake of voting shares in the Group’s 
share capital. The Group is ultimately controlled by 
Timur Kulibayev and his wife Dinara Kulibayeva.

As at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Group 
was owned by the following shareholders, which 
own more than 5% of the issued shares of the Group:

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008
(Millions of Kazakhstani Tenge)

* Total shares issued include common and preferred shares
** GDRs are not included in the calculation of stake in total voting shares since the information on the holders of GDRs is undisclosed and 
as such GDRs are recognized as non-voting. Holders of GDRs have the option to disclose their information at any time. On disclosure of 
their information the holders of GDRs have the right to participate in voting.

Timur Kulibayev and 
Dinara Kulibayeva
Samruk-Kazyna
Others
(individually
own less than 5%)

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

41.80%
26.81%

31.39%
100.00%

41.80%
26.81%

31.39%
100.00%

61.86%
—

38.14%
100.00%

67.71%
24.71%

7.58%
100.00%

67.33%
24.57%

8.10%
100.00%

93.33%
—

6.67%
100.00%

Stake in 
total shares 

issued*

Stake in 
total shares 

issued*

Stake in 
total shares 

issued*

Stake in 
total voting 

shares**

Stake in 
total voting 

shares**

Stake in 
total voting 

shares**
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As at 31 December 2010, the Bank operated through 
its head office in Almaty and its 22 regional branch-
es, 122 sub-regional offices and 488 cash settlement 
units (31 December 2009 — 22, 125 and 475, respec-
tively, 31 December 2008 — 22, 125 and 467, respec-
tively) located throughout Kazakhstan. The address 
of the Bank’s registered office is: 109 V Abai Avenue, 
Almaty, 050008, Kazakhstan.

The consolidated financial statements were autho-
rised for issue by the Management Board of the Bank 
on 9 March 2011.

2. Basis of presentation

Accounting basis
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
Interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the assumption that the Group is a go-
ing concern and will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future.

These consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented in millions of Kazakhstani Tenge (“KZT” or 
“Tenge”), except for earnings per share amounts and 
unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention except 
for certain financial instruments that are accounted 
for at fair value and insurance liabilities which are 
accounted for based on actuarial calculations and 
certain property and equipment which are carried at 

revalued cost less depreciation as described in the 
accounting policies below.
The Group had a change in accounting policy dur-
ing 2009 with regards to the presentation of the con-
solidated statements of cash flows from indirect to 
direct method. The direct method is a requirement 
of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
for annual periods starting from 1 January 2009. This 
change is retrospectively applied in accordance with 
IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors”. In addition, IAS 1 “Presentation 
of Financial Statements” requires the presentation of 
the statement of financial position as at the begin-
ning of the earliest period when a reporting entity 
applies an accounting policy retrospectively. For the 
Group, this consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion would be as at 31 December 2006. However, the 
retrospective accounting for the change in account-
ing policy had no impact on the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as at 31 December 2006. 
Therefore that consolidated statement of financial 
position has not been presented in these consoli-
dated financial statements.

The Group presents its consolidated statement of 
financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An 
analysis regarding recovery or settlement within 12 
months after the consolidated statement of financial 
position date (current) and more than 12 months af-
ter the consolidated statement of financial position 
date (non–-current) is presented in Note 32.

Functional currency
Items included in the financial statements of each 
entity of the Group are measured using the currency 
that best reflects the economic substance of the un-
derlying events and circumstances relevant to that 
entity (the “functional currency”). The reporting cur-
rency of the consolidated financial statements 
is KZT.
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Consolidated subsidiaries
These consolidated financial statements include the following subsidiaries:

Associates
JSC Processing Center, the associate, provides data processing services in Kazakhstan. It is classified within 
other assets and accounted for under the equity method:

JSC Halyk Leasing
JSC Kazteleport
HSBK (Europe) B.V.

OJSC Halyk Bank 
Kyrgyzstan
JSC Halyk Finance

LLP Halyk Inkassatsiya

JSC Halyk Life
JSC Halyk Capital

LLP NBK-Finance

JSC Kazakhinstrakh
JSC Accumulated Pension 
fund of Halyk Bank
JSC NBK Bank
LLP Halyk Dornod
LLP Halyk NBFO

JSC Halyk Bank Georgia

As at 31 December 2010 and 
for the year then ended

As at 31 December 2009 and 
for the year then ended

As at 31 December 2008 and 
for the year then ended

Holding, %
Country Industry

100
100
100

100

100

100

100
100

100

100
96

100
—
—

100

1

49

105

100
100
100

100

100

100

100
100

100

100
99

100
—
—

100

100
100
100

100

100

100

100
100

100

99
99

100
100
100

100

Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan
Netherlands

Kyrgyzstan

Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan

Russia

Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan

Russia
Mongolia
Mongolia

Georgia

Leasing
Telecommunications
Issue and placement
of Eurobonds,
attracting of syndicated
loans
Banking

Broker and dealer
activities
Cash collection
services
Life insurance
Broker and dealer
activities
Broker and dealer
activities
Insurance
Pension assets accumu-
lation and management
Banking
Banking
Broker and dealer
activities
Banking

Subsidiaries

Holding, %

31 Decem-
ber 2010

Share in 
net loss

Total
assets

Total 
liabilities

Equity Total
 revenue

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2008

25.14

25.14

25.14

(15)

(27)

(35)

78

208

493

—

1

11

78

207

482
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3. Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Bank and entities 
controlled by the Bank (its subsidiaries). Control is 
achieved where the Bank has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an investee 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the effective date of acqui-
sition or up to the effective date of disposal, as ap-
propriate.

The financial statements of the Bank’s subsidiar-
ies are prepared for the same reporting year as the 
Bank, using consistent accounting policies.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi-
nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring the ac-
counting policies used in line with those used by the 
Group.

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, in-
come and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interests represent the portion 
of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not 
owned, directly or indirectly, by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are presented separately in 
the consolidated income statement and within eq-
uity in the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

Changes in the Group's ownership 
interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in sub-
sidiaries that do not result in the Group losing con-

trol over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's 
interests and the non-controlling interests are ad-
justed to reflect the changes in their relative inter-
ests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the 
amounts by which the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted is recognised directly in equity.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the 
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the dif-
ference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value 
of the consideration received and the fair value of 
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying 
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and li-
abilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. When assets of the subsidiary are carried 
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related 
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, 
the amounts previously recognised in other compre-
hensive income and accumulated in equity are ac-
counted for as if the Group had directly disposed of 
the relevant assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or 
transferred directly to retained earnings as specified 
by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment 
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when 
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial 
recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recog-
nition of an investment in an associate or a jointly 
controlled entity.

Business combinations

The assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a 
subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the 
date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisi-
tion over the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency 
of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of 
the identifiable net assets acquired (i.e. discount on 
acquisition) is credited to the consolidated income 
statement in the period of acquisition.
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The non-controlling interest is initially measured at 
the non-controlling proportion of the fair values of 
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities rec-
ognized. The equity and net income attributable 
to equity holders of the parent and attributable to 
non-controlling shareholders’ interests are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position and consolidated income statement, 
respectively.

The Group accounts for increases in ownership of 
a controlled entity by revaluing all identified assets 
and liabilities of the subsidiary to fair value at the 
date of exchange in proportion to the amounts at-
tributable to the additional interest acquired.  Good-
will is recognized for any excess of the cost of the in-
crease over the Group’s interest in the net fair value 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities.

For a business combination involving an entity or 
business under common control, all assets and liabil-
ities of the subsidiary are measured at the carrying 
values recorded in the stand-alone financial state-
ments of the subsidiary. The difference between the 
carrying value of the acquired share in net assets 
of the subsidiary and the cost of acquisition are re-
corded directly in equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the parent.

Investments
in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in 
a position to exercise significant influence, but is 
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is 
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are 
incorporated in these consolidated financial state-
ments using the equity method of accounting.

Investments in associates are carried in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position at cost as ad-

justed for goodwill and for post-acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associ-
ate, less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments. Losses of the associates in excess of 
the Group’s interest in those associates are not rec-
ognized.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s 
share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, li-
abilities and contingent liabilities of the associate at 
the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The 
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment and is assessed for impairment as part 
of the investment. Any deficiency of the cost of ac-
quisition below the Group’s share of the fair values 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the associate at the date of acquisition 
(i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited in the con-
solidated income statement in the period of acquisi-
tion.

Where a Group company transacts with an associate 
of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, 
unrestricted balances on correspondent accounts 
and amounts due from credit institutions and re-
verse repo agreements with original maturities 
within three months. For purposes of determining 
cash flows, the obligatory reserve required by the 
National Bank of Kazakhstan (“NBK”) is not included 
as a cash and cash equivalent due to restrictions on 
its availability.

Obligatory reserves 

Obligatory reserves represent funds in correspon-
dent accounts with the NBK and cash which are not 
available to finance the Group’s day to day opera-
tions and, hence, are not considered as part of cash 
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consoli-
dated cash flow statement.
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Amounts due from 
credit institutions
In the normal course of business, the Group main-
tains current accounts or deposits for various pe-
riods of time with other banks. Amounts due from 
credit institutions with a fixed maturity term are sub-
sequently measured at amortized cost using the ef-
fective interest method. Those that do not have fixed 
maturities are carried at cost. Amounts due from 
credit institutions are carried net of any allowance 
for impairment.

Recognition 
and measurement 
of financial 
instruments
The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities 
on its consolidated statement of financial position 
when it becomes a party to the contractual obliga-
tions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and 
sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognized 
using settlement date accounting. Where regular 
way purchases of financial instruments will be subse-
quently measured at fair value, the Group accounts 
for any change in the fair value of the asset between 
trade date and settlement date in the same way it 
accounts for acquired instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to acquisition or issue of the financial as-
set or financial liability. The accounting policies for 
subsequent re-measurement of these items are dis-
closed in the respective accounting policies set out 
below.

Financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 “Financial In-
struments: Recognition and Measurement” are clas-
sified as either financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, investments 
held to maturity or available-for-sale financial assets, 

as appropriate. The Group determines the classifica-
tion of its financial assets upon initial recognition.

Financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss
Financial assets or financial liabilities are classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss where the financial 
asset or financial liability is either held for trading or 
it is designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset or financial liability is classified as 
held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the near future; or
• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial in-
struments that the Group manages together and has 
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective 
as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability other than a 
financial asset or financial liability held for trading 
may be designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduc-
es a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or
• the financial asset or financial liability forms part 
of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance is eval-
uated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the 
Group's documented risk management or invest-
ment strategy, and information about the grouping 
is provided internally on that basis; or 
• it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 “Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) 
permits the entire combined contract (asset or liabil-
ity) to be designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recorded in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recorded in “Net gain/
(loss) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss”. Interest earned or incurred is 
accrued in interest income or expense, respectively, 
according to the terms of the contract, while divi-
dend income is recorded in “Other income” when the 
right to receive the payment has been established.

Loans and 
receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans to custom-
ers granted by the Group are initially recognized at 
fair value plus related transaction costs that directly 
relate to acquisition or creation of such financial as-
sets. Subsequently, loans are carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Loans to 
customers are carried net of any allowance for im-
pairment losses.

Loans and receivables are included within loans to 
customers, amounts due from credit institutions and 
other assets in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position.
 

Available-for-sale 
investment securities 
Available-for-sale investment securities are those 
non-derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and 
receivables or investments held to maturity, or are 
not held for trading and are not designated at fair 
value through profit or loss on initial recognition. 
Available-for-sale investment securities are initially 
recorded at fair value. After initial recognition avail-
able-for sale investment securities are measured at 
fair value with gains or losses being recognized as a 
separate component of equity until the investment is 
derecognized or until the investment is determined 

to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss previously reported in equity is included in the 
consolidated income statement. However, interest 
calculated using the effective interest method and 
foreign exchange movements for debt securities are 
recognized in the consolidated income statement. 
Dividends declared are included in “Other income” 
in the consolidated income statement.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded 
in organized financial markets is determined by ref-
erence to quoted market prices at the close of busi-
ness on the reporting date. 

Investments held 
to maturity 

Investments held to maturity are debt securities 
with determinable or fixed payments. The Group has 
the positive intent and ability to hold them to matu-
rity. Such securities are carried at amortized cost us-
ing the effective interest method, less any allowance 
for impairment. Amortized discounts and premiums 
are recognized in interest income over the period to 
maturity using the effective interest method.

If the Group were to sell or reclassify more than an 
insignificant amount of investments held to maturi-
ty before maturity (other than in certain specific cir-
cumstances), the entire category would be tainted 
and would have to be reclassified as available-for-
sale investment securities. Furthermore, the Group 
would be prohibited from classifying any financial 
asset as investments held to maturity during the fol-
lowing two years.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when there is a legally enforce-
able right to set off the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultane-
ously. In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset 
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that does not qualify for derecognition, the Group 
does not offset the transferred asset and the associ-
ated liability. Income and expense is not offset in the 
consolidated income statement unless required or 
permitted by any accounting standard or interpreta-
tion, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting 
policies of the Group.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase 
agreements and securities lending

The Group enters into financial assets sale and pur-
chase back agreements (“repos”) and financial assets 
purchase and sale back agreements (“reverse repos”) 
in the normal course of its business. Repos and re-
verse repos are utilized by the Group as an element 
of its treasury management.

Repos are treated as secured financing transactions. 
Securities sold under repos are retained in the con-
solidated statement of financial position and, in case 
the transferee has the right by contract or custom 
to sell or repledge them, reclassified as securities 
pledged under sale and repurchase agreements. The 
corresponding liability is presented within amounts 
due to credit institutions or customers.

Securities purchased under reverse repos are record-
ed as amounts due from credit institutions, loans to 
customers or cash and cash equivalents as appropri-
ate. The difference between the sale and repurchase 
prices is treated as interest and accrued over the life 
of repo agreements using the effective yield method.

Securities lent to counterparties are retained in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Securi-
ties borrowed are not recorded in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, unless these are sold 
to third parties, in which case the purchase and sale 
are recorded within “Net gain/(loss) from financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss” in the consolidated income statement. The ob-
ligation to return securities borrowed is recorded at 
fair value as a trading liability.

Derivative financial instruments 

In the normal course of business, the Group enters 
into various derivative financial instruments includ-
ing futures, forwards, swaps and options. Derivatives 
are initially recognized at fair value at the date a de-
rivative contract is entered into and are subsequent-
ly re-measured to their fair value at each reporting 
date. The fair values are estimated based on quoted 
market prices or pricing models that take into ac-
count the current market and contractual prices of 
the underlying instruments and other factors. De-
rivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when it is negative.  Deriva-
tives are included in financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Gains and losses re-
sulting from these instruments are included in “Net 
gain/(loss) from financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss” in the consolidated in-
come statement.

Derivative instruments embedded in other financial 
instruments are treated as separate derivatives if 
their risks and characteristics are not closely related 
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts 
are not carried at fair value with unrealized gains and 
losses reported in consolidated income statement. 
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid 
(combined) financial instrument that includes both 
the derivative and a host contract, with the effect 
that some of the cash flows of the combined instru-
ment vary in a similar way to a stand-alone deriva-
tive. Over–the–counter derivatives may expose the 
Group to the risks associated with the absence of 
an exchange market on which to close out an open 
position. Additionally, derivative instruments ex-
pose the Group to counterparty non-performance 
risk. Certain instruments also pose liquidity risk due 
to absence of net-settlement provisions between 
counterparties.

Forwards 
Forward contracts are contractual agreements to 
buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a spe-
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cific price and date in the future and are customized 
contracts transacted in the over–the–counter mar-
ket. The Group has credit exposure to the counter-
parties of forward contracts. Forward contracts are 
settled gross and are, therefore, considered to bear a 
higher liquidity risk.

Swaps 

Swaps are contractual agreements between two 
parties to exchange streams of payments over time 
based on specified notional amounts, in relation to 
movements in a specified underlying index such as 
an interest rate, foreign currency rate or equity index.

Interest rate swaps relate to contracts taken out by 
the Group with other financial institutions in which 
the Group either receives or pays a floating interest 
rate in return for paying or receiving, respectively, 
a fixed interest rate. The payment flows are usually 
netted against each other, with the difference being 
paid by one party to the other. In a currency swap, 
the Group pays a specified amount in one currency 
and receives a specified amount in another currency. 
The Group’s currency swaps are mostly gross–settled.

Options 

Options are contractual agreements that convey the 
right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser either 
to buy or sell a specific amount of a financial instru-
ment at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date 
or at any time within a specified period. The Group 
purchases and sells options through regulated ex-
changes and in the over–the–counter markets. Op-
tions purchased by the Group provide the Group 
with the opportunity to purchase (call options) or 
sell (put options) the underlying asset at an agreed–
upon value either on or before the expiration of the 
option. The Group is exposed to credit risk on pur-
chased options only to the extent of their carrying 
amount, which is their fair value. Options written by 
the Group provide the purchaser the opportunity to 
purchase from or sell to the Group the underlying as-
set at an agreed–upon value either on or before the 
expiration of the option.

The Group’s exposure under derivative contracts is 
closely monitored as part of the overall manage-
ment of the Group’s market, credit, and liquidity risks 
(see also Note 32).
 

Amounts due to customers
and credit institutions
Amounts due to customers and credit institutions 
are initially recognized at the fair value of the con-
sideration received less directly attributable trans-
action costs. Subsequently, amounts due are stated 
at amortized cost and any difference between net 
proceeds and the redemption value is recognized 
in the consolidated income statement over the pe-
riod of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method. If the Group purchases its own debt, it is re-
moved from the consolidated statement of financial 
position and the difference between the carrying 
amount of the liability and the consideration paid is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Debt securities issued
Debt securities issued represent bonds issued by 
the Group, which are accounted for according to the 
same principles used for amounts due to customers 
and credit institutions. Any difference between pro-
ceeds received, net of debt issuance costs, and the 
redemption value is recognized in the consolidated 
income statement over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method.

Allowancesfor impairment  
of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether 
a financial asset or group of financial assets is im-
paired.

Assets carried at amortized cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment 
loss on financial assets carried at amortized cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
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and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s origi-
nal effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying 
amount of the asset shall be reduced through use 
of an allowance account. The amount of the impair-
ment loss is recognized in the consolidated income 
statement.

The factors the Group evaluates in determining the 
presence of objective evidence of an occurrence of 
an impairment loss include information on liquidity 
of the debtor or issuer, their solvency, business risks 
and financial risks, levels and tendencies of default 
on obligations on similar financial assets, national 
and local economic tendencies and conditions, and 
fair value of the security and guarantees. These and 
other factors individually or in the aggregate rep-
resent, to a great extent, an objective evidence of 
recognition of the impairment loss on the financial 
asset or group of financial assets.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset re-
flects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure 
less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, 
whether or not the foreclosure is probable.

The allowances are based on the Group’s own loss ex-
perience and management’s judgment as to the level 
of losses that will probably be recognized from assets 
in each credit risk category by reference to the debt 
service capability and repayment history of the bor-
rower. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the im-
pairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, the previously recog-
nized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the 
consolidated income statement, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortized cost at the reversal date.

Financial assets are written off against the allowance 
for impairment losses where such items are deter-
mined to be uncollectible, including through repos-
session of collateral. The Group requires collateral to 
support credit-related financial instruments when 
deemed necessary. Collateral held may include de-
posits held in the banks, government securities and 
other assets. When the borrowers do not repay as 
scheduled, the Group can take the possession of 
the collateral pledged. Financial assets are written 
off after management has exercised all possibilities 
available to collect amounts due to the Group, and 
after the Group has sold all available collateral. The 
decision to write off bad debt against allowance for 
impairment losses for all major, preferential, unse-
cured and insider assets are confirmed with a proce-
dural document from judicial or notary bodies. This 
document certifies that at the time of the decision 
to write off the bad debt, the amount could not be 
repaid (or partially repaid) with the debtor’s funds. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously writ-
ten off decrease the charge for impairment of finan-
cial assets in the consolidated income statement.
 
Loans and receivables that have been assessed in-
dividually and found not to be impaired and all in-
dividually insignificant loans and receivables are 
then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with 
similar risk characteristics, to determine whether 
impairment should be recognized due to incurred 
loss events for which there is objective evidence but 
whose effects are not yet evident. The collective as-
sessment takes account of data from the loan port-
folio (such as levels of arrears, loan utilisation, loan to 
collateral ratios, etc.), and judgments to the effect of 
concentrations of risks and economic data (includ-
ing levels of unemployment, real estate prices indi-
ces, country risk and the performance of different 
individual groups).

The impairment loss on loans and receivables is dis-
closed in more detail in Notes 12 and 32.

Available-for-sale  investment securities 
If an available-for-sale investment security is im-
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paired, a consolidated amount comprising the differ-
ence between its cost (net of any principal payment 
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognized in the con-
solidated income statement, is transferred from 
equity to the consolidated income statement. In 
respect of equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale, impairment losses previously recognized in 
the consolidated income statement are not reversed 
through the consolidated income statement. Any 
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment 
loss is recognised directly in equity.

Renegotiated loans 

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans 
rather than to take possession of collateral. This may 
involve extending the payment arrangements and 
the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the 
terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer 
considered past due. Management continuously re-
views renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria 
are met and that future payments are likely to occur. 
The loans continue to be subject to an individual or 
collective impairment assessment, calculated using 
the loan’s original effective interest rate.

Derecognition 
of financial assets
and liabilities

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a fi-
nancial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is derecognized where:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired;
• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive 
cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obli-
gation to pay them in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
• the Group either (a) has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 
of the asset.

A financial asset is derecognized when it has been 
transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecogni-
tion. A transfer requires that the Group either: (a) 
transfers the contractual rights to receive the asset’s 
cash flows; or (b) retains the right to the asset’s cash 
flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay 
those cash flows to a third party. After a transfer, the 
Group reassesses the extent to which it has retained 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred 
asset. If substantially all the risks and rewards have 
been retained, the asset remains on the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position. If substantially all 
of the risks and rewards have been transferred, the 
asset is derecognized. If substantially all the risks and 
rewards have been neither retained nor transferred, 
the Group assesses whether or not is has retained 
control of the asset. If it has not retained control, the 
asset is derecognized. Where the Group has retained 
control of the asset, it continues to recognize the as-
set to the extent of its continuing involvement.
 
Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obliga-
tion is discharged, cancelled, or expires.

On the redemption or settlement of debt securities 
(including subordinated liabilities) issued by the 
Group, the Group derecognises the debt instrument 
and records a gain or loss being the difference be-
tween the debt’s carrying amount and the cost of 
redemption or settlement. The same treatment ap-
plies where the debt is exchanged for a new debt is-
sue that has terms substantially different from those 
of the existing debt. The assessment of whether the 
terms of the new debt instrument are substantially 
different takes into account qualitative and quanti-
tative characteristics including a comparison of the 
discounted present value of the cash flows under the 
new terms with the discounted present value of the 
remaining cash flows of the original debt issue.
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Where an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially dif-
ferent terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modifi-
cation is treated as a de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Taxation
The current income tax expense is calculated in ac-
cordance with the regulations of Kazakhstan and 
other countries where the Group operates. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in 
respect of temporary differences using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred income taxes are 
provided for all temporary differences arising be-
tween the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying values for financial reporting purposes, ex-
cept where the deferred income tax arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liabili-
ty in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences 
can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed at each reporting date and re-
duced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all 
or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax as-
sets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date. Deferred tax is charged or cred-
ited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to other comprehensive 
income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is 
also charged or credited directly to other compre-
hensive income or equity.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary dif-
ferences arising on investments in subsidiaries, as-
sociates and joint ventures, except where the tim-
ing of the reversal of the temporary difference can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset and reported net in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position if:

• The Group has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current income tax assets against current income tax 
liabilities; and

• Deferred income tax assets and the deferred in-
come tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on the same taxable en-
tity.

Kazakhstan and other countries where the Group 
operates also have various operating taxes that are 
assessed on the Group’s activities. These taxes are re-
corded as taxes other than income tax.
 

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost less ac-
cumulated depreciation and any accumulated im-
pairment except for the buildings and constructions 
which are carried at revaluated amount, being its fair 
value at the date of the revaluation less any subse-
quent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life 
of the related leased asset. Expenses related to re-
pairs and renewals are charged when incurred and 
included in operating expenses unless they qualify 
for capitalization.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment 
are reviewed at each reporting date to assess wheth-
er they are recorded in excess of their recoverable 
amounts, and where carrying values exceed this
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Buildings and constructions held for use in supply of 
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at 
their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of revaluation, determined from market-based 
evidence by appraisal undertaken by professional 
independent appraisers, less any subsequent accu-
mulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with 
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount 
does not differ materially from that which would be 
determined using fair values at the reporting date.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation 
of such buildings and constructions is credited to the 
property and equipment revaluation reserve, except 
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 
for the same asset previously recognized as an ex-
pense, in which case the increase is credited to the 
consolidated income statement to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying 
amount arising on the revaluation of such buildings 
and constructions is charged as an expense to the 
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the 
property and equipment revaluation reserve relat-
ing to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation on revalued buildings and construc-
tions is charged to the consolidated income state-
ment. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a re-
valued property, the attributable revaluation surplus 
remaining in the property and equipment revalua-
tion reserve is transferred directly to retained earn-
ings.

Assets held for sale
A non-current asset and the liability directly associ-
ated with non-current assets are classified as held 
for sale (“disposal group”) if it is highly probable 
that the net asset’s carrying amount will be recov-
ered through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which 
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of clas-
sification of an asset as held for sale.

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. If the 
fair value less costs to sell of an asset held for sale is 
lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognized in the consolidated income statement 
as loss from assets held for sale. Any subsequent in-
crease in an asset’s fair value less costs to sell is rec-
ognized to the extent of the cumulative impairment 
loss that was previously recognized in relation to 
that specific asset.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a pres-
ent legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resourc-
es embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made. Recorded amounts as of the 
consolidated statement of financial position date 
represent the Group’s best estimate of the expendi-
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estimated recoverable amount, assets are written 
down to their recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognized in the respective period and is in-
cluded in operating expenses.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available 
for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the following estimated useful lives:
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ture required to settle the liability. The expense relat-
ing to any provision is presented in the consolidated 
income statement net of any recoveries.

Retirement and 
other benefit obligations
The Group does not have any pension arrangements 
separate from the state pension system of Kazakh-
stan and other countries where the Group operates, 
which requires current withholdings by the em-
ployer calculated as a percentage from current gross 
salary payments; such expense is charged in the 
period the related salaries are earned and included 
in operating expenses in the consolidated income 
statement. The Group contributes social tax to the 
budget of Kazakhstan and other countries where 
the Group operates for its employees. In addition, 
the Group has no post-retirement benefits.

Equity
Share capital 
The Group classifies a financial instrument that it is-
sues as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified 
as a liability if it is a contractual obligation to deliver 
cash or another financial asset, or to exchange finan-
cial assets or financial liabilities on potentially unfa-
vourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity 
if it evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group after the deduction of liabilities. The compo-
nents of a compound financial instrument issued by 
the Group are classified and accounted for separate-
ly as financial assets, financial liabilities or equity as 
appropriate. 

External costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new shares, other than on a business combination, 
are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in eq-
uity. Prior to 13 May 2003, any excess of the fair value 
of consideration received over the nominal value of 
shares issued was recognized as share premium re-
serve. Effective 13 May 2003, upon change in law 

concerning “Joint Stock Companies”, the nominal 
amount concept was restricted to placement of 
shares only between the founders of an entity. For 
all other investors, share capital is recorded at place-
ment value being the consideration received by an 
entity for its shares.

Treasury shares 

When the group acquires its own share capital, the 
amount of the consideration paid, including directly 
attributable costs, net of any related tax benefit, is 
recognised as a change in equity. Shares repur-
chased by the Group are cancelled. Repurchased 
shares are classified as treasury shares and are held 
at cost. These shares are treated as a deduction from 
the issued and weighted average number of shares, 
and the cost price of the shares is presented as a de-
duction from total equity. The par value of the shares 
is presented as a deduction from ordinary share cap-
ital and the remainder of the cost is presented as a 
deduction from ordinary share premium. Dividends 
received on treasury shares are eliminated on con-
solidation.

Dividends 

Dividends are recognized as a liability and deduct-
ed from equity on the date they are declared. Divi-
dends are disclosed when they are proposed before 
the reporting date or proposed or declared after the 
reporting date but before the consolidated financial 
statements are authorized for issue.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the con-
solidated statement of financial position but are dis-
closed unless the possibility of any outflow in settle-
ment is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized 
in the consolidated statement of financial position 
but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits 
is probable.

Trust activities
Assets accepted and liabilities incurred under the 
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trust activities are not included in the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements. The Group accepts 
the operational risk on these activities, but the 
Group’s customers bear the credit and market risks 
associated with such operations.

Income and 
expense 
recognition

Interest income and expense are recognized on an 
accrual basis calculated using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset 
or a financial liability (or group of financial assets or 
financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest in-
come or interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly dis-
counts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net car-
rying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial 
assets has been written down (partly written down) 
as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is 
thereafter recognized using the rate of interest used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss.

Loan origination fees for loans issued to customers 
are deferred (together with related direct costs) and 
recognized as an adjustment to the effective yield 
of the loans. Where it is probable that a loan com-
mitment will lead to a specific lending arrangement, 
the loan commitment fees are deferred, together 
with the related direct costs, and recognized as an 
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the result-
ing loan. Where it is unlikely that a loan commitment 
will lead to a specific lending arrangement, the loan 
commitment fees are recognized in profit or loss 
over the remaining period of the loan commitment. 
Where a loan commitment expires without resulting 

in a loan, the loan commitment fee is recognized in 
profit or loss on expiry.

Fees, commissions, including pension asset manage-
ment fees, and other income and expense items are 
generally recorded on an accrual basis when the ser-
vice has been provided. 

Portfolio and other management advisory and ser-
vice fees are recorded based on the applicable ser-
vice contracts. Custody services that are continu-
ously provided over an extended period of time are 
recorded over the period the service is provided.

Foreign currency
translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in KZT, which is the functional currency of the Bank 
and each of its subsidiaries, except for foreign sub-
sidiaries. Transactions in foreign currencies are ini-
tially recorded in the functional currency, converted 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
currency rate of exchange as quoted by KASE as at 
the reporting date. Gains and losses resulting from 
the translation of foreign currency transactions are 
recognized in the consolidated income statement as 
net gain on foreign exchange operations. Non-mon-
etary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transac-
tions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of 
overseas subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s 
presentation currency at the exchange rates as at 
the consolidated statement of financial position 
date, and their income statements are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange 
differences arising on translation are taken directly 
to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a 
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foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount 
recognized in equity relating to that particular for-
eign operation is recognized in the consolidated in-
come statement.

Differences between the contractual exchange rate 
of a transaction in a foreign currency and the market 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction are in-
cluded in net gain on foreign exchange operations. 
The market exchange rate at 31 December 2010 
was KZT 147,50 to USD 1 (31 December 2009 — KZT 
148,46; 31 December 2008 — KZT 120.79).
 

Insurance

Insurance contracts are those contracts which trans-
fer significant insurance risk from another party by 
agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a speci-
fied uncertain future event adversely affects the 
policyholder. The Group utilizes accounting policies 
determined by FMSA for insurance companies of Ka-
zakhstan.

The Group offers various insurance products in 
property and casualty, liability, personal, and life in-
surance.

Underwriting income 
Underwriting income includes net written insurance 
premiums and commissions earned on ceded rein-
surance reduced by the net change in the unearned 
premium reserve.

Upon inception of a contract, premiums are recorded 
as written and are earned on a pro rata basis over the 
term of the related policy coverage. The unearned 
insurance premium reserve represents the portion 
of the premiums written relating to the unexpired 
terms of coverage and is included within reserve for 
insurance claims in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

Losses and loss adjustments are charged to income 
statement as incurred through the reassessment of 

the reserve for claims and loss adjustment expenses, 
and included within insurance claims incurred in the 
consolidated income statement.

Commissions earned on ceded reinsurance con-
tracts are recorded as income at the date the rein-
surance contract is written and deemed enforceable.

Policy acquisition costs, comprising commissions 
paid to insurance agents and brokers, which vary 
with and are directly related to the production of 
new business, are capitalized and recorded in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of financial 
position within insurance assets. The asset related 
to deferred acquisition costs is subsequently amor-
tized over the period in which the related written 
premiums are earned and is reviewed for impair-
ment in circumstances where its carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. If the asset is greater than 
the recoverable amount it is written down imme-
diately. All other costs are recognized as expenses 
when incurred.

Reserve for insurance 
losses and loss adjustment expenses 

The reserve for insurance losses and loss adjustment 
expenses is included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and is based on the estimated 
amount payable on claims reported prior to the re-
porting date, which have not yet been settled, and 
an estimate of incurred but not reported claims re-
lating to the reporting period.

The incurred but not reported reserve (“IBNR”) for 
motor hull and liability insurance is actuarially de-
termined and is based upon statistical claim data 
for the period typical for loss development of the 
classes and sub-classes of business and the Group’s 
previous experience.

Due to the lack of historical company specific data 
and comparable industry data for other lines of busi-
ness, the reserve for IBNR claims is determined by 
applying current government guidance as provided 
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by FMSA. Under this guidance, the IBNR reserve is 
calculated as using the expected loss ratio for each 
line of business, less the losses actually reported.

The methods for determining such estimates and 
establishing the resulting reserves are continuously 
reviewed and updated. Resulting adjustments are 
reflected in the consolidated income statement in 
the period in which they are determined.

Reinsurance
In the ordinary course of business, the Group cedes 
reinsurance risk to reinsurers. Such reinsurance ar-
rangements provide for greater diversification of 
risks, allow management to control exposure to po-
tential losses arising from insured risks and provide 
additional capacity for growth.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from rein-
surance companies for paid and unpaid losses and 
loss adjustment expenses, and ceded unearned pre-
miums. Amounts receivable from re-insurers are esti-
mated in a manner consistent with the claim liability 
associated with the reinsured policy. 
 
Payables to reinsurers for ceded premium are re-
corded gross when due unless a right of offset exists 
against commission receivable from the reinsurer 
and are included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position within insurance assets.
Reinsurance contracts are assessed to ensure that 
underwriting risk, defined as the reasonable possi-
bility of significant loss, and timing risk, defined as 
the reasonable possibility of a significant variation in 
the timing of cash flows, are both transferred by the 
Group to the re-insurer.

The Group regularly assesses its reinsurance assets 
for impairment. A reinsurance asset is impaired if 
there is objective evidence that the Group may not 
receive all amounts due to it under the terms of the 
contract and that event has a reliably measurable 
impact on the amounts that the Group will receive 
from the reinsurer.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the 
Group that is engaged either in providing products 
or services (business segment), or in providing prod-
ucts or services within a particular economic envi-
ronment (geographical segment), which is subject 
to risks and rewards that are different from those of 
other segments. 

Financial guarantee 
contracts issued and
letters of credit

Financial guarantee contracts and letters of credit is-
sued by the Group are credit insurance that provides 
for specified payments to be made to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to make payment when due under the original 
or modified terms of a debt instrument. Such finan-
cial guarantee contracts and letters of credit issued 
are initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently 
they are measured at the higher of (a) the amount 
recognized as a provision and (b) the amount ini-
tially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative 
amortization of initial premium revenue received 
over the financial guarantee contracts or letter of 
credit issued.
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Standards and Interpretations affecting 
amounts reported in the current period

Amendments to IFRS 5 
“Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations” (as part of 
Improvements to IFRSs 
issued in 2009)

Amendments to IAS 1 
“Presentation of Financial 
Statements” (as part of 
Improvements to IFRSs 
issued in 2009)

Amendments to IAS 7 
“Statement of Cash Flows” 
(as part of Improvements to 
IFRSs issued in 2009)

Amendments to IFRS 7 
“Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures” (as part of 
Improvements to IFRSs 
issued in 2010)

The amendments to IFRS 5 clarify that the disclosure requirements 
in IFRSs other than IFRS 5 do not apply to non-current assets 
(or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued 
operations unless those IFRSs require (i) specific disclosures in 
respect of non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as 
held for sale or discontinued operations, or (ii) disclosures about 
measurement of assets and liabilities within a disposal group that 
are not within the scope of the measurement requirement of IFRS 
5 and the disclosures are not already provided in the consolidated 
financial statements.

Disclosures in these consolidated financial statements have been 
modified to reflect the above clarification, where applicable.

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify that the potential settlement of a 
liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as 
current or noncurrent.

This amendment has no effect on the amounts reported in prior 
years because the Group has not previously issued instruments of 
this nature.

The amendments to IAS 7 specify that only expenditures that result 
in a recognized asset in the statement of financial position can be 
classified as investing activities in the statement of cash flows. The 
application of the amendments to IAS 7 has resulted in a change 
in the presentation of cash outflows in respect of development 
costs that do not meet the criteria in IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” for 
capitalization as part of an internally generated intangible asset. 
No changes were necessary as a result of the adoption of this 
amendment.

The amendments to IFRS 7 clarify the required level of disclosures 
about credit risk and collateral held and provide relief from 
disclosures previously required regarding renegotiated loans.
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New and revised standards and 
interpretations issued and not yet 
adopted
The Group has not applied the following new and 
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective:

• IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — On 12 November 
2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
which introduces new requirements for the classifi-
cation and measurement of financial assets and fi-
nancial liabilities and for derecognition. 

IFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that 
are within the scope of IAS 39 to be subsequently 
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, 
debt investments that are held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect the contractual 
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal outstanding are generally measured at am-
ortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting pe-
riods. All other debt investments and equity invest-
ments are measured at their fair values at the end of 
subsequent accounting periods.

The most significant effect of IFRS 9 regarding the 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
relates to the accounting for changes in fair value 
of a financial liability (designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss) attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of that liability. Specifically, under IFRS 9, 
for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss, the amount of change 
in the fair value of the financial liability that is attrib-
utable to changes in the credit risk of that liability 
is recognised in other comprehensive income, un-
less the recognition of the effects of changes in the 
liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income 
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in 
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a 
financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under IAS 
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value 

of the financial liability designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss was recognised in profit or loss.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permit-
ted.

The Group anticipates that IFRS 9 will be adopted 
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for 
the annual period beginning 1 January 2013 and 
that the application of the new standard will have a 
significant impact on amounts reported in respect of 
the Groups’ financial assets and financial liabilities. 
However, it is not practicable to provide a reason-
able estimate of that effect until a detailed review 
has been completed.

• The amendments to IFRS 7 titled “Disclosures — 
Transfers of Financial Assets” increase the disclosure 
requirements for transactions involving transfers of 
financial assets. These amendments are intended to 
provide greater transparency around risk exposures 
when a financial asset is transferred but the trans-
feror retains some level of continuing exposure in 
the asset. The amendments also require disclosures 
where transfers of financial assets are not evenly dis-
tributed throughout the period.

It is not expected that these amendments to IFRS 7 
will have a significant effect on the Group’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

• IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” (as revised in 
2009) modifies the definition of a related party and 
simplifies disclosures for government-related enti-
ties. The disclosure exemptions introduced in IAS 
24 (as revised in 2009) do not affect the Group be-
cause the Group is not a government-related entity. 
However, disclosures regarding related party trans-
actions and balances in these consolidated financial 
statements may be affected when the revised ver-
sion of the standard is applied in future accounting 
periods because some counterparties that did not 
previously meet the definition of a related party may 
come within the scope of the standard.
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• The amendments to IAS 32 titled “Classification of 
Rights Issues” address the classification of certain 
rights issues denominated in a foreign currency as 
either an equity instrument or as a financial liability. 
To date, the Group has not entered into any arrange-
ments that would fall within the scope of the amend-
ments. However, if the Group does enter into any 
rights issues within the scope of the amendments in 
future accounting periods, the amendments to IAS 
32 will have an impact on the classification of those 
rights issues.

• IFRIC 19 provides guidance regarding the account-
ing for the extinguishment of a financial liability by 
the issue of equity instruments. To date, the Group 
has not entered into transactions of this nature. 
However, if the Group does enter into any such 
transactions in the future, IFRIC 19 will affect the 
required accounting. In particular, under IFRIC 19, 
equity instruments issued under such arrangements 
will be measured at their fair value, and any differ-
ence between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability extinguished and the fair value of equity in-
struments issued will be recognised in profit or loss.

• IFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations” was is-
sued in January 2008 and would apply to business 
combinations occurring on or after 1 April 2010. The 
revised standard introduces a number of changes in 
the accounting for business combinations that will 
impact the amount of goodwill recognized, the re-
ported results in the period that a business combi-
nation occurs and future reported results. This stan-
dard is not likely to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s accounting for business combinations post 
adoption.

• An amendment to IAS 27 “Consolidated and Sepa-
rate Financial Statements” was issued in January 
2008 and is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009. The amendment requires that 
when a transaction occurs with non-controlling in-
terests in Group’s subsidiaries that do not result in a 
change in control, the difference between the con-
sideration paid or received and the recorded non-

controlling interest should be recognized in equity. 
In cases where control is lost, any retained interest 
should be remeasured to fair value with the differ-
ence between fair value and the previous carrying 
value being recognized immediately in the consoli-
dated income statement. It is not expected that the 
amendment would have impact on the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements.

4. Significant accounting estimates
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated finan-
cial statements requires management to make es-
timates and judgments that affect the reported 
amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amount of 
income and expenses during the reporting period.  
Management evaluates its estimates and judge-
ments on an ongoing basis. Management bases its 
estimates and judgments on historical experience 
and on various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different as-
sumptions or conditions. The following estimates 
and judgments are considered important to the por-
trayal of the Group’s financial condition.

Allowance for impairment losses 
of loans and receivables 

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receiv-
ables to assess for impairment. The Group’s loan 
impairment provisions are established to recognize 
incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans 
and receivables. The Group considers accounting 
estimates related to allowance for impairment of 
loans and receivables a key source of estimation un-
certainty because (i) they are highly susceptible to 
change from period to period as the assumptions 
about future default rates and valuation of poten-
tial losses relating to impaired loans and receivables 
are based on recent performance experience, and 
(ii) any significant difference between the Group’s 
estimated losses and actual losses will require the 
Group to take provisions which, if significantly dif-
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ferent, could have a material impact on its future 
consolidated income statement and its consolidated 
statement of financial position.

The Group uses management’s judgement to es-
timate the amount of any impairment loss in cases 
where a borrower has financial difficulties and there 
are few available sources of historical data relating 
to similar borrowers. Similarly, the Group estimates 
changes in future cash flows based on past perfor-
mance, past customer behaviour, observable data 
indicating an adverse change in the payment status 
of borrowers in a group, and national or local eco-
nomic conditions that correlate with defaults on 
assets in the group. Management uses estimates 
based on historical loss experience for assets with 
credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of 
impairment similar to those in the group of loans 
and receivables.

The Group uses management’s judgement to adjust 
observable data for a group of loans or receivables to 
reflect current circumstances not reflected in histori-
cal data.

The allowances for impairment losses of financial as-
sets in the consolidated financial statements have 
been determined on the basis of existing economic 
and political conditions. The Group is not in a posi-
tion to predict what changes in conditions will take 
place in Kazakhstan and what effect such changes 
might have on the adequacy of the allowances for 
impairment of financial assets in future periods.

The carrying amount of the allowance for impair-
ment losses of loans to customers as at 31 December 
2010 is KZT 253,237 million (31 December 2009: KZT 
207,101 million; 31 December 2008: KZT 115,052 
million).

Taxation 
Kazakhstan tax, currency and customs legislations 
are subject to varying interpretations and changes, 
which can occur frequently. Management's interpre-

tation of such legislation as applied to the transac-
tions and activity of the Group may be challenged 
by the relevant regional and state authorities. Fiscal 
periods remain open to review by the authorities in 
respect of taxes for five calendar years preceding the 
year of review. 

As at 31 December 2010, management believes 
that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is 
appropriate and that the Group’s tax, currency and 
customs positions will be sustained. Significant ad-
ditional actual taxes, penalties and interest may be 
assessed following any challenges by the relevant 
authorities, which could have a material impact on 
the Group’s reported net income.

Claims liability 
and reserves arising
from insurance contracts 

For insurance contracts, estimates have to be made 
both for the expected ultimate cost of claims report-
ed at the reporting date and for the expected ulti-
mate cost of IBNR claims at the reporting date. For 
certain lines of business, IBNR claims form the ma-
jority of the claims provision at the reporting date. 
It can take a significant period of time before the ul-
timate claims cost can be established with certainty. 
For hull and liability insurance, the Group actuarially 
determines the liability using past claim settlement 
trends to predict future claims settlement amounts. 
In estimating the cost of reported and IBNR claims for 
certain other lines of business, management applies 
current government guidance as provided by FMSA, 
due to the absence of sufficient historical data. Un-
der this guidance, the IBNR reserve is calculated us-
ing the expected loss ratio for each line of business, 
less the cumulative losses actually reported. General 
insurance claims provisions are not discounted for 
the time value of money.

The gross reserves for claims and the related receiv-
ables for reinsurance recoveries are based on infor-
mation available to management and the ultimate 
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amounts may vary as a result of subsequent infor-
mation and events and may result in adjustments 
to the amounts recovered. Actual claims experience 
may differ from the historical pattern on which the 
estimate is based and the cost of settling individual 
claims may differ from costs previously estimated. 
Any adjustments to the amount of reserves will be 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements in 
the period in which the necessary adjustments be-
come known and estimable.
 

Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess cost of an acquisition over the 
fair value of its net assets.  The determination of fair 
value of assets and liabilities of businesses acquired 
requires the exercise of management judgement; 
for example those financial assets and liabilities for 
which there are no quoted prices, and those non-
financial assets where valuations reflect estimates 

of market conditions.  Difference fair values would 
result in changes to the goodwill arising and to the 
post-acquisition performance of the acquisition.  
Goodwill is not amortized but is tested annually or 
more frequently for impairment if events or changes 
in circumstances indicated that it might be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill ac-
quired in a business combination is allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units expected to benefit from the 
combination. Goodwill impairment testing involves 
the comparison of the carrying value of a cash-gen-
erating unit or group of cash generating units with 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of the unit’s fair value and its value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of expected future 
cash flows from the cash-generating unit or group 
of cash-generating units. Fair value is the amount 
obtainable for the sale of the cash-generating unit 

“Astana-Arena” Stadium
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As previously reported 
year ended 

31 December 2009

As previously reported 
year ended 

31 December 2008

As previously reported 
year ended 

31 December 2009

As previously reported 
year ended 

31 December 2008

As reclassified 
year ended

31 December 2009

As reclassified 
year ended

31 December 2008

As reclassified 
year ended

31 December 2009

As reclassified 
year ended

31 December 2008

Reclassifica-
tion

Reclassifica-
tion

Reclassifica-
tion

Reclassifica-
tion

(2,156)
37,558

(44,509)
(49,812)

(1,681)
25,527

(44,325)
(57,472)

(2,156)
(37,525)

(1,681)
(41,691)

(2,781)
2,781

(1,567)
1,567

(4,937)
(34,744)

(3,248)
(40,124)

(1,567)
(1,567)

1,567
1,567

(3,248)
23,960

(42,758)
(55,905)

(2,781)
(2,781)

2,781
2,781

CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
STATEMENT
Fee and commission expense
Fees and commissions, net
Operating expenses
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
STATEMENT
Fee and commission expense
Fees and commissions, net
Operating expenses
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
Fee and 
commission paid
Operating expenses paid

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
Fee and 
commission paid
Operating expenses paid

(4,937)
34,777

(41,728)
(47,031)

in an arm’s length transaction between knowledge-
able, willing parties.

Impairment testing inherently involves a number of 
judgmental areas: the preparation of cash flow fore-
casts for periods that are beyond the normal require-
ments of management reporting; the assessment of 
the discount rate appropriate to the business; esti-
mation of the fair value of cash-generating units; and 
the valuation of the separable assets of each busi-
ness whose goodwill is being reviewed.

5. Reclassifications
As at 31 December 2010, certain lines within the 
consolidated financial statements for the years end-
ed 31 December 2009 and 2008, have been reclassi-
fied to conform to the current period presentation. 
Management of the Group have reclassified deposit 
insurance expenses from operating expenses to 
commission expenses, as they believe this classifica-
tion better reflects the nature and purpose of these 
expenses with regard to the Group’s operations.
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31 Decem-
ber 2010

KZT KZTKZT Foreign 
currencies

Foreign 
currencies

Foreign 
currencies

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2008

35,468

8,281

5,978
122,539

46
144,820

72,003

2,853
910

392,898

—

—

0.6%
0.5%

—

0.7%

—

—

2.0%
1.0%

—

1.5%-1.6%

—

—

—
—

—

11.5%

0.1%-0.7%

6.0%

0.2%-3.3%
—

3.5%

—

0.1%-0.2%

—

0.2%-0.4%
—

5.0%

—

0.1%

—

0.0%-1.1%
—

3.1%-11.1%

—

42,437

17,238

5,678
102,847

—
94,540

207,058

5,459
5,365

480,622

23,918

1,719

6,701
1,902

—
125,626

—

562
660

161,088

Cash on hand
Recorded as loans and receivables
in accordance with IAS 39:
Correspondent accounts with Organization for Economic 
Co-operation and Development countries (the “OECD”) based banks
Correspondent accounts
with non-OECD based banks
Overnight deposits with OECD based banks
Overnight deposits with non-OECD based banks
Short-term deposits with OECD based banks
Short-term deposits with National Bank of Kazakhstan (“NBK”)
Short-term deposits with 
non-OECD based banks
Short-term deposits with Kazakhstan banks

Overnight deposits with OECD 
based banks
Overnight deposits with non-OECD 
based banks
Short-term deposits with OECD 
based banks
Short-term deposits with NBK
Short-term deposits with non-OECD 
based bank
Short-term deposits with 
Kazakhstan banks

6. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Carrying 
amount of 

loans

Carrying 
amount of 

loans

Carrying 
amount of 

loans

Fair 
value

of collateral

Fair 
value

of collateral

Fair 
value

of collateral

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

910
—

910

1,003
—

1,003

3,010
2,352
5,362

3,367
2,475
5,842

660
—

660

666
—

666

Treasury bills of the 
Ministry of Finance
of Kazakhstan
NBK notes

Interest rates and currencies in which interest earning cash and cash equivalents are denominated are pre-
sented as follows:

Fair value of assets pledged and carrying amounts 
of short-term loans, included in short-term deposits 
with Kazakhstan banks, under reverse repurchase 

agreements classified as cash and cash equivalents 
as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, are present-
ed as follows:
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7. Obligatory reserves
Obligatory reserves comprise:

8. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2008

14,752
12,532
27,284

4,640
921
220
168
102

—

—
—

6,051
—

2,910

5.0%-15.0%
7.0%-18.0%

—
—

0.7%
8.0%

—
—

—
9.6%-18.0%

5.6%-6.4%
13.2%-16.3%

3,2 6,048

25,949
—

25,949

5,179
1,012

202
602

25
1,508

—
—

8,528
—

9,159
21,666
30,825

6,441
665

—
—

222
1,530

5,514
615

14,987
3,508

Recorded as loans and receivablesin 
accordance with IAS 39:
Due from the NBK allocated to obligatory reserves
Cash on hand allocated to obligatory reserves 

Financial assets 
held for trading:
Derivative financial instruments
Equity securities of Kazakhstan banks
Mutual investment funds shares
Securities of foreign countries and organizations
Corporate bonds
Equity securities of Kazakhstan corporations
Treasury bills of the Ministry 
of Finance of Kazakhstan
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks

Subject to repurchase agreements 

Financial liabilities 
held for trading:
Derivative financial instruments

Securities of foreign countries and organizations
Corporate bonds
Treasury bills of the Ministry
of Finance of Kazakhstan
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks

The obligatory reserves represent the minimum 
reserve deposits and cash on hand balances 
required by the NBK and used for calculation of the 
minimum reserve requirement. During 2009 and 

2008 the NBK has decreased the level of minimum 
reserve requirements, which resulted in a significant 
decrease of obligatory reserves.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

Interest rates of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented as follows:
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9. Amounts due from credit institutions
Amounts due from credit institutions comprise:

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2008

10,062

7,822
2,241

20,125

(2)
20,123

49,380

6,545
185

56,110

(9)
56,101

5,764

4,228
382

10,374

(17)
10,357

Recorded as loans and receivables 
in accordance with IAS 39:
Term deposits
Deposit pledged as collateral for derivative financial 
instruments
Loans to Kazakhstan credit institutions
  
Less — Allowance for loan impairment
(Note 20)

Derivative financial instruments comprise:

As at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Group used 
quoted market prices from independent information 
sources for all of its financial assets recorded at fair value 

through profit or loss, with the exception of derivative 
financial instruments, which are valued using valuation 
models based on market data.

Interest rates and maturity of amounts due from credit institutions are presented as follows:

Notional
amount

Номи-
нальная 

сумма

Номи-
нальная 

сумма

Net fair value Net fair valueNet fair value

31 December 2010

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

31 December 2009

31 December 2008

31 December 2008

87,403
7,620

21,757

—

46,104
6,913
6,784

—

35,576
—

87,638

1,198

4,051
506

83

—
4,640

3,782
1,322

75

—
5,179

6,361
—
55

25
6,441

2,834
—
76

—
2,910

3,019
—

182

—
3,201

5,871
—

156

21
6,048

Foreign currency 
contracts
Forwards
Options
Swaps
Interest rate
contracts
Swaps

Interest
rate,

%

Interest
rate,

%

Interest
rate,

%

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

4.5%-12.5%

0.2%-1.8%

12.0%-17.0%

5.5%-8.5%

0.1%

11.1%

7.0%-11.1%

0.1%

11.1%

2013

2012

2015

2010

2012

2015

2009-2010

2012

2015

Term deposits
Deposit pledged
as collateral
for derivative 
financial 
instruments
Loans to Kazakhstan 
credit institutions

Asset AssetAssetLiability LiabilityLiability
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10. Available-for-sale investment securities 
Available-for-sale investment securities comprise:

173,314
56,811
27,838

6,522
6,148
4,274
3,347
1,569

944
230
186
111

281,294
4,211

95,956
5,490

84,622
2,514
7,363

—
1,090
1,446
1,307

57
200
176

200,221
87,856

64,273
10,659
56,375

2,213
—
—

763
670
651

—
197

—
135,801

78,077

Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance 
of Kazakhstan
Corporate bonds
NBK notes
Bonds of Development Bank of Kazakhstan
Securities of foreign countries and organizations
Local municipal bonds
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks
Equity securities of Kazakhstan corporations
Mutual investment funds shares
Equity securities of Kazakhstan banks
Treasury bills of the Kyrgyz Republic
Equity securities of foreign corporations

Subject to repurchase agreements

Interest rates and maturities of available-for-sale investment securities are presented as follows:

As at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Group 
used quoted market prices from independent 
information sources to determine the fair value for 
all of its available-for-sale investment securities.

On 31 December 2008, the Group reclassified certain 

debt and equity securities with total fair value of 
KZT 4,925 million out of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss category into the available-
for-sale investment securities. The reclassification 
was made only for those securities which had a 
significant decline in volume of transactions in the 

1.5%-9.0%

6.4%-28.0%
1.0%-1.5%

7.4%-15.0%

5.7%-7.0%

4.9%

7.2%-21.0%

9.0%

2.0%-18.7%

0.2%-19.2%
2.0%-3.1%

7.4%-15.0%

7.0%

—

6.1%-15.0%

3.0%-19.0%

2.0%-19.3%

6.3%-25.9%
6.3%-15.5%

—

7.0%

—

7.9%-17.4%

8.6%-20.0%

2011-2025

2011-2021
2011

2012-2016

2015-2026

2015

2011-2022

2011

2010-2019

2010-2021
2010

2011-2014

2026

—

2010-2016

2010

2009-2015

2009-2021
2009

—

2026

—

2009-2017

2009-2010

Treasury bills 
of the Ministry of Finance 
of Kazakhstan
Corporate 
bonds
NBK notes
Securities of foreign coun-
tries and organizations
Bonds of Development 
Bank 
of Kazakhstan
Local municipal
bonds
Bonds 
of Kazakhstan banks
Treasury bills
of the Kyrgyz Republic

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

Interest
rate,

%

Interest
rate,

%

Interest
rate,

%

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year
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financial markets as a result of the financial crisis. 
The Group revised its investment policy in relation 
to these securities and has the intention and ability 

to hold these securities for the foreseeable future.
Debt and equity securities which were reclassified 
are presented in the tables below.

Estimated future cash flows the Group expects to recover from debt securities which were reclassified are 
presented in the table below.

As the Group made reclassifications as at 31 
December 2008, the net loss recognized in the 
consolidated income statement up to the date of 
reclassification from the debt and equity securities 
which were reclassified, is presented in the table 
below for the year ended 31 December 2008. The 

net gain/(loss) that would have been recognized in 
the consolidated income statement if the securities 
had not been reclassified, is presented in the table 
below for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 
2009.

Effective 
interest rate,

%

Fair value

Fair value

Fair value

Fair value

As at reclassification date
31 December 2008

As at
reclassification date 
31 December 2008

As at
reclassification date 
31 December 2008

As at 
reporting date

31 December 2010

As at 
reporting date

31 December 2010

7.0%

9.8%-14.5%

342
56

398

651
74

725

4,711
2,939
7,650

2,665

52
2,717

2,213

1,987
4,200

Debt securities
Bonds of Development Bank of Kazakhstan
Securities of foreign countries 
and organizations

Equity securities
Mutual investment funds shares
Equity securities of Kazakhstan corporations

Debt securities
Bonds of Development Bank of Kazakhstan
Securities of foreign countries and organizations

Year ended
31 December

2010

Year ended
31 December

2009

Year ended
31 December

2008

167

15
182

(205)

300
95

(69)

(939)
(1,008)

Debt securities
Bonds of Development Bank of Kazakhstan
Securities of foreign countries
and organizations
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31 December 
2010

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2008

159,385

7,716
5,545

1,773
—
—

174,419

—

4,471
449

10,893
1,373

—
17,186

—

—
2,776

3,682
1,220
1,011
8,689

NBK notes
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance
of Kazakhstan
Corporate bonds
Securities of foreign countries 
and organizations
Notes of National Bank of Georgia
Bonds of Kazakhstan banks

(117)

(1)
(118)

332

(17)
315

(436)

(72)
(508)

Equity securities
Mutual investment 
funds shares 
Equity securities 
of Kazakhstan corporations 

11. Investments held to maturity 
Investments held to maturity securities comprise:

Interest rates and maturities of investments held to maturity are presented as follows:

Interest 
rate,

%

Interest 
rate,

%

Interest 
rate,

%

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

1.0%-1.5%

7.1%-7.8%

4.8%-20.0%

8.2%-16.0%

—

—

2011

2013-2015

2011-2017

2011-2012

—

—

—

5.1%-6.1%

6.3%-14.0%

3.0%-19.0%

3.0%-8.1%

—

—

2010

2011-2017

2010

2010

—

—

—

6.9%

3.0%-8.1%

11.0%-13.0%

8.9%

—

—

2016

2009

2009

2009

NBK notes
Treasury bills of
the Ministry of Finance
of Kazakhstan
Corporate 
bonds
Securities of foreign
countries and 
organizations
Notes of National Bank 
of Georgia
Bonds of Kazakhstan 
banks

On 31 December 2008, in accordance with the IASB 
amendments to IAS 39 the Group reclassified certain 
debt securities with total fair value of KZT 1,912 mil-
lion out of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss category into investments held to maturity. 
The reclassification was made for those securities 
which had a significant decline in volume of transac-
tions in the financial markets as a result of the finan-

Year ended
31 December

2010

Year ended
31 December

2009

Year ended
31 December

2008
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31 December 
2010

31 December 
2008

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2010

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2008

1,341,140
1,370

1,342,510

(253,237)
1,089,273

688,518
283,278

48,758
31,158
25,997
18,906
18,606
11,100

202,592
13,597

1,342,510

(253,237)
1,089,273

1,339,191
1,145

1,340,336

(207,101)
1,133,235

841,051
30,556
38,479
39,012
28,221

8,091
6,158

29,880
252,258

66,630
1,340,336

(207,101)
1,133,235

1,298,985
4,347

1,303,332

(115,052)
1,188,280

772,415
13,431
49,392
20,482
16,106

4,127
5,443

17,178
243,639
161,119

1,303,332

(115,052)
1,188,280

Recorded as loans and receivables 
in accordance with IAS 39:
Originated loans to customers
Overdrafts

Less  Allowance for loan 
impairment losses (Note 20)
Loans to customers

Loans collateralized by pledge of real estate 
or rights thereon
Loans collateralized by guarantees
Loans collateralized by cash
Loans collateralized by pledge of agricultural products
Loans collateralized by pledge of vehicles
Loans collateralized by pledge of equipment
Loans collateralized by pledge of corporate shares
Loans collateralized by pledge of inventories
Loans collateralized by mixed types of collateral
Unsecured loans

Less — allowance for loan impairment losses (Note 20)
Total loans to customers

12. Loans to customers
Loans to customers comprise:

As at 31 December 2010, the annual interest rates 
charged by the Group ranged from 9% to 24% per 
annum for KZT-denominated loans (31 December 
2009 — from 9% to 24%, 31 December 2008 – from 
9% to 23%) and from 7% to 17% per annum for US 
Dollar-denominated loans (31 December 2009 — 
from 7% to 17%, 31 December 2008 — from 3% to 
20%).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had a concen-
tration of loans of KZT 267,072 million from the ten 
largest borrowers that comprised 20% of the Group’s 
total gross loan portfolio (31 December 2009 — KZT 

259,063 million, 19%; 31 December 2008 — KZT 
214,295 million, 16%) and 84% of the Group’s total 
equity (31 December 2009 — 92%; 31 December 
2008 — 112%). As at 31 December 2010 an allow-
ance for impairment amounting to KZT 49,403 mil-
lion was made against these loans (31 December 
2009 — KZT 25,294 million; 31 December 2008 — 
KZT 17,205 million).

The table below summarizes the amount of loans se-
cured by type of collateral, rather than the fair value 
of the collateral itself:

cial crisis. The Group revised its investment policy in 
relation to these securities accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the re-
classified securities were repaid in full by the issuer 
before maturity.
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Revalued/
initial cost:
31 December 2009
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairment
Translation differences
31 December 2010
Accumulated depreciation:
31 December 2009
Charge
Disposals
Transfers
Write-off at revaluation
Translation differences
31 December 2010
Net book value:
31 December 2010

42,437
1,628

(1,393)
4,388

82
(27)
(79)

47,036

215
494

—
—

(67)
7

649

46,387

1,591
279

(287)
16
—
—
(3)

1,596

961
274

(225)
1

—
(1)

1,010

586

16,566
1,145
(627)

698
—
—

(13)
17,769

7,864
2,911
(574)

224
—

9
10,434

7,335

15,894
5,681

(2,128)
(5,102)

—
—

(12)
14,333

4,290
1,696

(1,103)
(225)

—
(5)

4,653

9,680

76,488
8,733

(4,435)
—
82

(27)
(107)

80,734

13,330
5,375

(1,902)
—

(67)
10

16,746

63,988

Other TotalBuildings and 
constructions

Computers and banking 
equipment

Vehicles

Retail loans:
— consumer loans
— mortgage loans

Wholesale trade 
Construction
Services
Real estate
Retail trade
Agriculture 
Hotel industry
Metallurgy
Food industry
Transportation
Energy
Oil and gas
Chemical industry
Machinery
Light industry
Mining
Communication
Consumer goods 
and automobile trading
Other

136,271
133,958
270,229
277,222
180,353
104,270

96,724
92,185
86,460
54,416
44,689
37,086
29,688
22,143
10,218

9,805
7,689
7,472
5,507

232

—
6,122

1,342,510

149,073
149,442
298,515
241,312
190,819

94,606
94,513

100,359
105,034

52,489
40,768
31,435
22,398
11,180
22,601
10,954

7,305
3,487
4,474

702

—
7,385

1,340,336

10%
9%

21%
13%

8%
7%
8%
6%
4%
3%
3%
2%
2%
1%
1%
1%
1%
0%
0%

0%
0%

100%

11%
10%

18%
14%

7%
7%
8%
8%
4%
3%
2%
2%
1%
2%
1%
1%
0%
0%
0%

0%
1%

100%

14%
12%

18%
13%
10%

5%
8%
6%
3%
3%
2%
2%
1%
2%
1%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%

100%

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2009

31 Decem-
ber 2010

%%%

188,542
158,078
346,620
231,338
166,788
134,499

65,793
106,063

73,538
34,595
36,009
25,285
21,560
11,072
23,297

9,559
4,396
3,916
5,043
1,785

91
2,085

1,303,332

As at 31 December 2010 the amount of accrued interest on impaired loans comprised KZT 121,752 million (31 
December 2009 — KZT 101,860 million; 31 December 2008 — KZT 55,737 million).

13. Property and equipment 
The movements in property and equipment are presented as follows:

Loans are made to the following sectors:
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The Group revalued its buildings and constructions 
as of 1 August 2009. The revaluation procedures 
were performed by an independent appraiser “Real 
Estate” LLP. The independent appraiser used three 
approaches to identify fair value of the property and 
equipment: the income approach with the method 

of realization as income capitalization, the compara-
tive approach with application of market informa-
tion, and the cost approach.

The income approach with the method of realiza-
tion as income capitalization and the comparative 

37,623
15,228
(4,259)

2,331
(5,447)
(3,189)

150
42,437

356
453
(21)

7
(584)

4
215

42,222

9,644
2,510

(42)
1,108

24,933
(428)
(102)

37,623

1,386
322

(6)
(2)

(1,340)
(4)

356

37,267

1,508
148
(75)

1
—
—

9
1,591

737
280
(59)

—
—

3
961

630

1,358
231
(76)

1
—
—
(6)

1,508

519
262
(40)

—
—
(4)

737

771

15,868
1,496
(875)

49
—
—
28

16,566

5,868
2,727
(739)

1
—

7
7,864

8,702

11,905
5,314

(1,331)
5

—
—

(25)
15,868

 
4,716
2,432

(1,275)
2

—
(7)

5,868
 

10,000

13,359
5,663
(768)

(2,381)
—
—
21

15,894

3,374
1,487
(566)

(8)
—

3
4,290

11,604

9,181
5,883
(604)

(1,114)
—
—
13

13,359

2,701
1,115
(435)

—
—
(7)

3,374

9,985

68,358
22,535
(5,977)

—
(5,447)
(3,189)

208
76,488

10,335
4,947

(1,385)
—

(584)
17

13,330

63,158

32,088
13,938
(2,053)

—
24,933

(428)
(120)

68,358

9,322
4,131

(1,756)
—

(1,340)
(22)

10,335

58,023

Revalued/
initial cost:
31 December 2008
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairment
Translation differences
31 December 2009
Accumulated depreciation:
31 December 2008
Charge
Disposals
Transfers
Write-off at revaluation
Translation differences
31 December 2009
Net book value:
31 December 2009

Revalued/
initial cost:
31 December 2007
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Revaluation
Impairment
Translation differences
31 December 2008
Accumulated depreciation:
31 December 2007
Charge
Disposals
Transfers
Write-off at revaluation
Translation differences
31 December 2008
Net book value:
31 December 2008

Other

Other

Total

Total

Buildings and 
constructions

Buildings and 
constructions

Computers and banking 
equipment

Computers and banking 
equipment

Vehicles

Vehicles
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approach with application of market information 
were used to identify the fair value of buildings and 
constructions in terms of active market for items that 
were subjects for revaluation. The cost approach was 
used when there was no active market for items 
that were subjects for revaluation. The total amount 
of fair value of buildings and constructions is KZT 
24,977 million. The carrying amount of property and 
equipment that would have been recognized had 
the assets been carried under the cost model is KZT 
33,289 million.

14. Assets held-for-sale
During 2010 and 2009 after the default of certain 
loans to customers, the Group recognized certain 
collateral at fair value. The type of collateral recog-
nized was land, buildings and constructions. The 

proceeds of disposal are expected to exceed the car-
rying value of the assets and accordingly no impair-
ment losses have been recognized on these assets 
during the years 2010 and 2009. It is intended that 
the fair value of this collateral will be recovered prin-
cipally through a sale transaction within one year 
from the date of classification.

Such collateral is recognized as assets held-for-sale and 
is subsequently measured at the lower of fair value less 
cost to dispose or the carrying value, as the appropri-
ate level of management has committed to a plan to 
sell the asset and an active programme to locate a buyer 
and complete the plan has been initiated.

15. Insurance assets and liabilities
Insurance assets comprised the following:

Insurance liabilities comprised the following:

31 December 
2010

31 December 
2010

31 December
2009

31 December
2009

31 December 
2008

31 December 
2008

2,561

5,154
7,715
1,559
9,274

5,550

8,982
14,532

1,132
15,664

2,163

1,147
3,310
1,635
4,945

5,394

3,008
8,402

1,184
9,586

2,583

112
2,695
1,722
4,417

6,057

1,344
7,401

1,217
8,618

Reinsurance 
premium unearned
Reinsurance amounts
recoverable

Premiums receivable
Insurance assets

Gross unearned insurance 
premium reserve
Reserves
for insurance claims

Payables to reinsurers 
and agents
Insurance liabilities

Insurance risk — insurance risk is the risk of fluctua-
tions in the timing, frequency or severity of insured 
events, relative to the expectations of the Group at 
the time of underwriting.

Underwriting and pricing risk — the Group man-
ages underwriting and pricing risk through the use 
of underwriting guidelines which detail the class, 
nature and type of business that may be accepted; 
pricing policies by product line and by brand; and 
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2010 2009 2008 

3,008

(1,147)
1,861
7,393

(5,426)
3,828

5,154
8,982

1,344

(112)
1,232
4,082

(3,453)
1,861

1,147
3,008

805

(140)
665

4,951
(4,384)

1,232

112
1,344

Reserves for claims, beginning of the year
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share,
beginning of the year
Net reserves for claims, beginning of the year
Plus claims incurred
Less claims paid
Net reserves for claims, end of year 
Reserves for claims, reinsurance share, 
end of the year
Reserves for claims, end of the year

200820092010

5,394

(2,163)
3,231

156

(398)
(242)
2,989

2,561
5,550

6,057

(2,583)
3,474
(663)

420
(243)
3,231

2,163
5,394

5,265

(1,934)
3,331

792

(649)
143

3,474

2,583
6,057

Gross unearned insurance premium reserve, beginning of the year
Unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share,
beginning of the year
Net unearned insurance premium reserve, beginning of the year
Change in unearned insurance premium reserve
Change in unearned insurance premium reserve, 
reinsurance share
Change in unearned insurance premium reserve, net
Net unearned insurance premium reserve,end of the year
Unearned insurance premium reserve, reinsurance share, 
end of the year
Gross unearned insurance premium reserve, end of the year

The movements on unearned insurance premium reserve for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 
2008, were as follows:

centralized control of policy wordings and any sub-
sequent changes.

Claims management risk — the risk that claims are 
handled or paid inappropriately is managed using 
a range of IT system controls and manual process-
es conducted by experiences staff. These, together 
with a range of detailed policies and procedures en-
sure that all claims are handled in a timely, appropri-
ate and accurate manner.

Reinsurance risk — reinsurance is used to protect 
against the impact of major catastrophic events or 
unforeseen volumes of, or adverse trends in, large 
individual claims and to transfer risk that is outside 
the Group’s current risk appetite.

Reinsurance of risk above the Group’s appetite is 
only effective if the reinsurance premium is eco-
nomic and the counterparty is financially secure. 

Acceptable reinsurers are rated A- or better unless 
specifically authorized.

Reserving risk — reserving risk relates to both 
premiums and claims. It is the risk that reserves are 
assessed incorrectly such that insufficient funds 
have been remained to pay or handle claims as the 
amounts fall due. Claims development data pro-
vides information on the historical pattern of reserv-
ing risk.

Reserves for insurance claims have been established 
on the basis of information currently available, in-
cluding potential outstanding loss notifications, and 
experience with similar claims.
 
The movements on claims reserves for the years 
ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, were as 
follows:
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16. Other assets 
Other assets comprise:

17. Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to customers include the following:

31 December 
2010

31 December
2009

31 December 
2008

2,197

1,744
1,226

569
167

5,903

(772)
5,131

3,175
2,345
1,486

773

350

224
710

9,063

(1,217)
12,977

1,305

416
1,319

448
171

3,659

(930)
2,729

7,426
516

1,042

543

247

228
318

10,320

(542)
12,507

760

197
1,876

777
361

3,971

(1,074)
2,897

8,608
14,044

1,590

—

424

272
1,387

26,325

—
29,222

Other financial assets recorded
as loans and receivables 
in accordance with IAS 39:
Debtors on banking activities
Accrued commission for managing 
pension assets
Debtors on non-banking activities
Accrued other commission
income
Other

Less — Allowance
for impairment (Note 20)

Other non financial assets:
Corporate income
tax prepaid
Prepayments for property and equipment
Inventory
Advances for taxes
other than income tax
Deferred
tax asset (Note 21)
Investments 
in associates
Other

Less — Allowance 
for impairment (Note 20)

31 December 
2010

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2008

531,182
387,510
918,692

393,696
103,367
497,063

1,415,755

556,287
317,527
873,814

317,702
82,553

400,255
1,274,069

384,832
258,499
643,331

151,713
72,348

224,061
867,392

Recorded
at amortized cost:
Term deposits:
Legal entities
Individuals
  
Current accounts:
Legal entities
Individuals
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As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s ten largest 
groups of related customers accounted for approxi-
mately 50% of the total amounts due to customers 
(31 December 2009 — 52%; 31 December 2008 — 
50%).

Management believes that in the event of with-
drawal of funds, the Group would be given sufficient 
notice so as to realize its liquid assets to enable re-
payment.

31 Decem-
ber 2010

31 Decem-
ber 2008

31 Decem-
ber 2009

% %%

490,877
329,416
179,584

88,061
55,775

49,243
43,853
34,209
26,854
24,568
22,803
15,180
10,934

6,143
38,255

1,415,755

35%
23%
13%

6%
4%

3%
3%
2%
2%
2%
2%
1%
1%

0%
3%

100%

400,080
369,987

72,754
80,858
85,684

11,580
25,853
65,418
83,822
30,365
20,573
12,737
10,281

3,137
940

1,274,069

31%
29%

6%
6%
7%

1%
2%
5%
7%
4%
2%
1%
1%

0%
0%

100%

330,847 
279,458 

45,024
50,832
14,044 

9,540
2,183

42,575
1,350

51,035 
28,440

3,942
5,727

1,919
476

867,392

38%
32%

5%
6%
2%

1%
0%
5%
0%
6%
3%
0%
1%

0%
1%

100%

Individuals and 
entrepreneurs
Oil and gas
Transportation
Wholesale trade 
Other consumer services
Insurance and pension 
funds activity
Metallurgy
Construction
Government
Financial sector
Energy
Communication
Education
Healthcare and social 
services
Other

An analysis of customer accounts by sector is as follows:

18. Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to credit institutions comprise:

31 December 
2010

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2008

52,159

16,422
1,412
1,185

225

—
—

71,403

90,134

27,292
1,933

40,082

340

11,925
1,000

172,706

96,391

191,337
184

1,367

329

—
—

289,608

Recorded 
at amortized cost:
Loans and deposits from Kazakhstan banks
Loans and deposits from 
OECD based banks
Loans from other financial institutions
Correspondent accounts
Loans and deposits from 
non-OECD based banks
Loans from the JSC “Fund for 
Entrepreneurship Development “DAMU”
Overnight deposits

95



Interest
 rate,

%

Interest
 rate,

%

Interest
 rate,

%

Maturity,
year

Maturity,
year

Maturity,
year

31 December 2010

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

31 December 2009

31 December 2008

31 December 2008

4.5%-4.5%

1.1%-7.7%

2.3%-3.1%

2.7%-3.9%

—
—

2011

2011-2023

2012-2014

2013

—
—

0.5%-8.5%

1.1%-7.7%

2.7%-3.2%

2.7%

7.7%
0.5%-1.2%

2010

2010-2023

2011-2014

2012

2016
2010

6.9%-11.0%

2.5%-8.4%

5.3%-6.9%

11.0%

—
—

2009

2009-2015

2010

2009

—
—

Loans and deposits from 
Kazakhstan banks
Loans and 
deposits from OECD
based banks
Loans from other 
financial institutions
Loans and deposits 
from non-OECD 
based banks
Loans from the JSC “Fund 
for Entrepreneurship 
Development “DAMU”
Overnight deposits

Interest rates and maturities of amounts due to credit institutions are presented as follows:

Fair value of assets pledged and carrying value of loans under repurchase agreements as at 31 December 
2010, 2009 and 2008, are presented as follows:

In accordance with the contractual terms of the 
loans from certain OECD based banks, the Group 
is required to maintain certain financial ratios, 
particularly with regard to capital adequacy. Certain 
of the Group’s outstanding financing agreements 
include covenants restricting the Group’s ability to 
create security interests over its assets. Should the 
Group default under these covenants, this could 

result in cross-accelerations and cross-defaults 
under the terms of the Group’s other financing 
arrangements.

As at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Group 
was in compliance with the covenants of the various 
debt agreements with other banks and financial 
institutions.

Fair
value of 

collateral

Fair
value of 

collateral

Fair
value of 

collateral

Carrying 
value of 

loans

Carrying 
value of 

loans

Carrying 
value of 

loans

4,211

—
4,211

4,000

—
4,000

58,870

28,986
87,856

55,935

26,160
82,095

42,049

39,536
81,585

39,982

36,247
76,229

NBK notes
Treasury bills 
of the Ministry 
of Finance of Kazakhstan
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19. Debt securities issued
Debt securities issued comprise:

31 December 
2008

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2010

14,132

11,725

8,120

33,977

207,701
10,489

218,190
252,167

19,120

15,996

8,947

44,063

208,627
11,203

219,830
263,893

19,228

16,021

8,359

43,608

200,118
19,265

219,383
262,991

Recorded at amortized cost:
Subordinated debt 
securities issued:
Inflation indexed KZT 
denominated bonds
Fixed rate KZT 
denominated bonds
Reverse inflation indexed KZT 
denominated bonds
Total subordinated debt 
securities outstanding
 Unsubordinated debt 
securities issued:
USD denominated bonds
KZT denominated bonds
Total unsubordinated debt 
securities outstanding
Total debt securities outstanding

The coupon rates and maturities of these debt securities issued follow:

Coupon 
rate,

%

Coupon 
rate,

%

Coupon 
rate,

%

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

Maturity, 
year

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

inflation rate 
plus 1%

7.5%-13.0%
inflation rate 

plus 2%

15% less
 inflation rate

7.3%-9.3%

12.7%

inflation rate 
plus 1%

7.5%-14.0%
inflation rate 

plus 2%

15% less 
inflation rate

7.3%-9.3%

12.7%

inflation rate 
plus 1%

7.5%-13.0%
inflation rate 

plus 2%

15% less
 inflation rate

7.3%-9.3%

7.2%-7.8%

2015

2014-2019

2017

2015-2016

2013-2017

2012

2015

2014-2019

2010-2017

2015-2016

2013-2017

2012

2015

2009-2018

2010-2018

2015-2016

2009-2017

2009

Subordinated 
debt securities 
issued:
Inflation 
indexed KZT 
denominated bonds
Fixed rate KZT 
denominated 
bonds 

Reverse inflation 
indexed KZT 
denominated 
bonds
Unsubordinated 
debt securities 
issued:
USD denominated 
bonds
KZT denominated 
bonds 
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Subordinated securities are unsecured obligations 
of the Group and are subordinated in right of pay-
ments to all present and future senior indebtedness 
and certain other obligations of the Group.  Interest 
on debt securities issued is payable on a semi-annual 
and annual basis.

In accordance with the terms of the USD denominat-
ed bonds, the Group is required to maintain certain 
financial covenants particularly with regard to its 
capital adequacy, limitations on transactions at less 

than fair market value and payment of dividends. 
Furthermore, the terms of the USD denominated 
bonds include covenants restricting the Group’s abil-
ity to create security interests over its assets. Should 
the Group default under these covenants, this could 
result in cross-accelerations and cross-defaults un-
der the terms of the Group’s other financing arrange-
ments. The Group’s management believes that as at 
31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Group was 
in compliance with the covenants of the agreements 
the Group has with the notes’ trustees and holders.

20. Allowances for impairment losses and provisions
The movements in the allowances for impairment of interest earning and other assets were as follows:

Available-for-
sale investment 

securities

Amounts due 
from credit 
institutions

Loans
to 

customers

Other
assets

Total

(56,697)
(58,268)

25

(112)
(115,052)

(81,776)
300

(10,573)
(207,101)

(47,104)
87

881
(253,237)

(18)
1

—

—
(17)

11
—

(3)
(9)

9
—

(2)
(2)

—
—
—

—
—

(743)
15

(2)
(730)

(481)
—

(1)
(1,212)

(504)
(1,748)

1,372

(194)
(1,074)

(1,005)
547

60
(1,472)

(852)
296

39
(1,989)

(57,219)
(60,015)

1,397

(306)
(116,143)

(83,513)
862

(10,518)
(209,312)

(48,428)
383

917
(256,440)

31 December 2007
Additional provisions recognized
Write-offs 
Recoveries 
of write-offs
31 December 2008
(Additional provisions recognized)/
recoveries
Write-offs 
Foreign exchange 
differences
31 December 2009
(Additional provisions recognized)/
recoveries
Write-offs 
Foreign exchange 
differences
31 December 2010

Allowances for impairment of assets are deducted from the related assets.

Provision represent provisions against letters of credit and guarantees issued. The movements in provisions 
were as follows:
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2010 2009 2008

(4,433)
(9,474)
10,102

—
(56)

(3,861)

(2,889)
(11,348)

10,127
—

(323)
(4,433)

(1,885)
(11,899)

10,912
—

(17)
(2,889)

At the beginning of the year
Additional provisions recognized
Recovery of provisions
Write-off
Foreign exchange differences
At the end of the year

21. Taxation
The Bank and its subsidiaries, other than HSBK (Eu-
rope) B.V., JSC NBK Bank, OJSC Halyk Bank Kyrgyz-
stan, LLP NBK-Finance and JSC Halyk Bank Georgia 
are subject to taxation in Kazakhstan. HSBK (Europe) 

B.V. is subject to income tax in the Netherlands. JSC 
NBK Bank and LLP NBK-Finance are subject to in-
come tax in the Russian Federation. OJSC Halyk Bank 
Kyrgyzstan is subject to income tax in the Republic 
of Kyrgyzstan. JSC Halyk Bank Georgia is subject to 
income tax in Georgia.

Kazakhstan legal entities must file individual tax 
declarations. The tax rate for banks for income other 
than on state and other qualifying securities was 
20% during 2010, 20% during 2009 and 30% during 
2008. The tax rate for companies other than banks 
was also 20% during 2010, 20% during 2009 and 
30% during 2008, except for insurance companies 
which were taxed at 4%. Income on state and other 
qualifying securities is tax exempt.

During 2008 there was a change in tax legislation 
in Kazakhstan in relation to corporate income tax, 
which is set at 20% for the financial year ending 31 
December 2009, 17.5% for the financial year ending 
31 December 2010 and 15% for financial years end-
ing 31 December 2011 and thereafter.

There was a further change during 2009 in tax legis-
lation in Kazakhstan in relation to corporate income 
tax, which is set at 20% for financial years ending 31 
December 2009, 2010 and 2011, 17.5% for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2012 and 15% for financial 
years ending 31 December 2013 and thereafter.

At the end of 2010 there was a further change in 
Kazakhstan tax legislation in relation to corporate 
income tax, which was set at 20% for financial years 
ending 31 December 2010 and thereafter.

The effective income tax rate differs from the statu-
tory income tax rates. A reconciliation of the income 
tax expense based on statutory rates with actual is 
as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 

2010

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

6,743

1,751

194
8,688

5,007

295

(2,049)
3,253

812

(1,226)

2,038
1,624

Current tax charge
Deferred tax expense/(benefit) 
resulting from changes 
in tax rates
Deferred tax expense/
(benefit)
Income tax expense

The income tax expense comprises:
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Year ended 
31 December 

2010

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

44,904
20%

8,981

1,751

564

(1,952)

(1,247)

(473)

(198)

—

480
161
137

1
18
—

465
8,688

19,129
20%

3,826

295

—

(1,114)

(247)

(380)

(353)

333

—
461
201

8
5

—
218

3,253

16,178
30%

4,853

(1,226)

—

(2,502)

(257)

(565)

(351)

1,353

—
129
227

100
30
26

(193)
1,624

Income before income tax expense
Statutory tax rate
Income tax expense at the 
statutory rate
Deferred tax expense/
(benefit) resulting 
from changes in tax rates
Correction of income tax
expense for prior periods
Tax-exempt interest income 
and other related income on state
and other qualifying 
securities
Tax-exempt income 
on dividends
Income of subsidiaries taxed
at different rates
Tax-exempt interest income
on financial lease
Change in unrecognized
tax assets
Non-deductible expenditures:
— bonuses
— general and administrative expenses
— other provisions
— withholding tax 
on interest
— charity
— interest on deposits to non-residents
Other
Income tax expense

During 2008 the Group recognized a loss on certain 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss in the amount of KZT 4,510 million, 
which can only be utilized against future realized 
gains on certain financial assets and liabilities within 

3 years. This loss is not expected to be utilized by 
the Group within the allowed period, and as such 
a corresponding deferred tax asset has not been 
recognized.
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The Group has offset deferred tax assets and liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position 
where a right of offset existed. The amounts presented after offset comprise:

Kazakhstan and other countries where the Group 
operates currently has a number of laws related to 
various taxes imposed by both state and regional 
governmental authorities. Applicable taxes include 
value added tax, income tax, social taxes, and 
others. Implementing regulations are often unclear 
or nonexistent and few precedents have been 
established. Often, differing opinions regarding 
legal interpretation exist both among and within 
government ministries and organizations; thus 
creating uncertainties and areas of conflict. Tax 
declarations, together with other legal compliance 

areas (as examples, customs and currency control 
matters) are subject to review and investigation 
by a number of authorities, which are enabled by 
law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest 
charges. These facts create tax risks in Kazakhstan 
substantially more significant than typically found in 
countries with more developed tax systems.

Management believes that the Group is in compliance 
with the tax laws affecting its operations; however, 
the risk remains that relevant authorities could take 
differing positions with regard to interpretive issues.

31 December
2008

31 December
2008

31 December
2009

31 December
2009

31 December
2010

31 December
2010

674

585
231
152

11
—

1,653
 

(4,514)
(4,103)

(928)
—

(9,545)

350
(8,242)
(7,892)

6

585
198
162

76
333

1,360

(3,304)
(3,530)

(473)
—

(7,307)

247
(6,194)
(5,947)

18

1,051
182
170

62
143

1,626

(5,042)
(4,041)

(971)
(2)

(10,056)

424
(8,854)
(8,430)

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences:
Bonuses accrued
Fair value 
of derivatives
Vacation pay accrual
Insurance premium reserves
Provisions, different rates
Losses carried forward
Deferred tax asset
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences:
Loans to customers, allowance for impairment losses
Property and equipment, accrued depreciation
Fair value of derivatives
Taxes
Deferred tax liability 

Deferred tax asset (Note 16)
Deferred tax liability
Net deferred tax liability

Deferred tax assets and liabilities comprise:
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23. Equity
Authorized, issued and fully paid number of shares as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, were as follows: 

Outstanding 
shares

Fully paid 
and issued 

share 
capital

Share capital 
repurchased 

Share 
capital 

authorized 
and 

not issued

Share capital 
authorized

31 December 2010

2,400,000,000

600,000,000

80,225,222

(1,091,584,040)

(290,140,570)

—

1,308,415,960

309,859,430

80,225,222

(6,904,953)

(23,972,034)

(295,021)

1,301,511,007

285,887,396

79,930,201

Common
Non-convertible 
preferred
Convertible 
preferred

JSC Accumulated Pension fund of Halyk Bank (the 
“Pension Fund Management Company) receives two 
types of fees — 15% for management of pension as-
sets based on the income earned or loss incurred on 
the pension assets during the year and 0.05% earned 
monthly based on total net assets under management.

At the end of 2008 due to a significant fall in the mar-
ket quotations of securities the pension assets port-
folio incurred significant unrealized losses, which re-
sulted in recognition of negative income. The Group 
has recovered those losses in subsequent periods.

22. Other liabilities
Other liabilities comprise:

31 December 
2008

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2010

359
301
201

—
148

1,009

4,628
2,681
1,558

173
10,049

997
437
351

—
87

1,872

1,149
3,789
1,158

7
7,975

967
600

94

7,209
88

8,958

1,332
2,579
1,017

8
13,894

Other financial liabilities:
Creditors on non-banking activities
Payable for general and administrative expenses
Creditors on bank activities
Amounts due to customers 
of pension funds
Other

Other non financial liabilities:
Salary payable
Taxes payable other than income tax
Other prepayments received
Current income tax payable

2010 2009 2008

5,947

1,751
194

—
7,892

8,430

295
(2,049)

(729)
5,947

3,677

(1,226)
2,038

3,941
8,430

Net deferred tax liability 
at the beginning of the year
Deferred tax expense/(benefit) resulting 
from change in tax rates
Deferred tax expense/(benefit)
(Credited)/debited directly to equity at the date 
of property and equipment revaluation
Net deferred tax liability at the end of the year

Movements in net deferred tax liability:
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Outstanding 
shares

Outstanding 
shares

Fully paid 
and issued 

share 
capital

Fully paid 
and issued 

share 
capital

Share capital 
repurchased 

Share capital 
repurchased 

Share 
capital 

authorized 
and 

not issued

Share 
capital 

authorized 
and 

not issued

Share capital 
authorized

Share capital 
authorized

31 December 2009

31 December 2008

2,400,000,000

600,000,000

80,225,222

(1,091,584,040)

(290,140,570)

—

1,308,415,960

309,859,430

80,225,222

(7,899,791)

(23,970,179)

(294,821)

1,300,516,169

285,889,251

79,930,401

Common
Non-convertible 
preferred
Convertible 
preferred

Number of 
shares
Non-

convertible 
preferred

Number of 
shares
Non-

convertible 
preferred

Convertible 
preferred

Convertible 
preferred

CommonCommon

Nominal (placement) amountNumber of shares

1,129,016,660

24,742,000

80,225,222

979,759,488

(328,431)
979,431,057
324,399,300

(4,663,879)
1,349,691

1,300,516,169

(769,463)
1,764,301

1,301,511,007

49,758

(3)
49,755
33,747

(47)
13

83,468

(8)
18

83,478

24,686,763

(144,084)
24,542,679

285,117,430

(24,023,569)
252,711

285,889,251

(32,964)
31,109

285,887,396

2,474

—
2,474

48,019

(3,602)
—

46,891

—
—

46,891

80,192,612

(81,067)
80,111,545

—

(181,344)
200

79,930,401

(200)
—

79,930,201

13,233

—
13,233

—

—
—

13,233

—
—

13,233

(145,000,000)

—

—

984,016,660

24,742,000

80,225,222

(4,585,603)

(199,321)

(113,677)

979,431,057

24,542,679

80,111,545

31 December 2007
Purchase 
of treasury shares
31 December 2008
Capital contributions
Purchase of 
treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
31 December 2009
Purchase of 
treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
31 December 2010

All shares are KZT denominated. Movements of shares outstanding are as follows:

At 31 December 2010, the Group held 6,904,953 of 
the Group’s common shares as treasury shares at 
KZT 93 million (31 December 2009 — 7,899,791 at 

KZT 103 million; 31 December 2008 — 4,585,603 at 
KZT 69 million).

Common
Non-convertible 
preferred
Convertible 
preferred
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Common shares
Each common share is entitled to one vote and 
dividends.

Preferred shares
In accordance with IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: 
Presentation”, both the non-convertible and 
convertible preferred shares (together, the “Preferred 
Shares”) are classified as compound instruments. 
On a return of capital on liquidation, the assets of 
the Group available for distribution are applied in 
priority to any payment to the holders of common 
shares in paying to the holders of the Preferred 
Shares an amount equal to the nominal capital paid 
up or credited as paid up. 

The terms of the Preferred Shares require that the 
Group pay a nominal dividend amount of 0.01 
KZT per share in order to comply with Kazakhstan 
legislation, which represents the liability component. 
This legislation requires joint stock companies to 
pay a certain guaranteed amount of dividends on 
preferred shares. According to Kazakhstan legislation 
on Joint Stock Companies, dividend payments on the 
preference shares cannot be less than the dividends 
paid on common shares. Furthermore, the dividends 
on common shares will not be paid until dividends 
on preference shares are fully paid.

The payment of additional dividends on the 
Preferred Shares is determined based on a formula 
specified in the share prospectus and is based on 
the Group’s profitability. Where the Group has net 
income no greater than KZT 160 times the quantity 

of issued Preferred Shares, multiplied by a factor of 
inflation as published by the NBK plus one per cent, 
the dividend per Preferred Share is determined as net 
income divided by the quantity of issued Preferred 
Shares. Where net income is greater than this, the 
dividend per Preferred Share is calculated as KZT 
160 multiplied by a factor of inflation as published 
by the NBK plus one per cent. Inflation in either 
calculation will range between three and nine per 
cent. Dividends on the Preferred Shares are only paid 
if declared and approved by the Board of Directors 
at the Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders. 
The Preferred Shares do not have any voting rights, 
unless the payment of preferred dividends has been 
delayed for three months or more from the date they 
became due.

Share premium reserve 
Share premium reserve represents an excess of 
contributions received over the nominal value of 
shares issued.

Convertible preferred shares 

Each convertible preferred share is convertible to 
one common share at the discretion of the Board 
of Directors. In addition, the Group will pay a 
compensation amount to each convertible preferred 
shareholder on conversion based on a formula 
specified in the share prospectus. This payment 
is calculated such that, at the date of conversion, 
if the value of the common shares received by the 
preferred shareholder is less than KZT 160 per share, 
the Group will reimburse the preferred shareholders 
for the difference in cash at the time of conversion.
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31 December 
2008

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2010

108,346
27,876
14,925

151,147
(313)

(3,861)
146,973

64,845
20,356
16,723

101,924
(3,518)
(4,433)
93,973

32,337
18,760
23,489
74,586
(1,197)
(2,889)
70,500

Guarantees issued
Commercial letters of credit
Commitments to extend credit
Financial commitments and contingencies
Less: cash collateral against letters of credit
Less: provisions (Note 20)
Financial commitments and contingencies, net

24. Commitments and contingencies
Financial Commitments and Contingencies 
The Group’s financial commitments and contingencies comprised the following:

Guarantees issued included above represent finan-
cial guarantees where payment is not probable as 
at the respective reporting date, and therefore have 
not been recorded in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. As at 31 December 2010, the ten 
largest guarantees accounted for 82% of the Group’s 
total financial guarantees (31 December 2009 — 78%; 
31 December 2008 — 72%) and represented 28% of 
the Group’s total equity (31 December 2009 — 18%; 
December 2008 — 12%).
 
As at 31 December 2010, the ten largest letters of 
credit accounted for 97% of the Group’s total com-
mercial letters of credit (31 December  2009 — 76%; 
December 2008 – 83%) and represented 9% of the 
Group’s total equity (31 December  2009 — 5%; De-
cember 2008 — 8%).

The Group requires collateral to support credit-relat-
ed financial instruments when it is deemed neces-
sary. The Group typically requires collateral support 
unless it is determined to be not necessary through 
review of the credit risk of the borrower or analysis 
of other deposit accounts held by the Group. Collat-
eral held varies, but may include deposits held in the 
banks, government securities and other assets.

Trust Activities
In the normal course of its business, the Group en-

ters into agreements with customers to manage 
the customers’ assets with limited decision making 
rights and in accordance with specific criteria estab-
lished by the customers. The Group may only be li-
able for losses or actions aimed at appropriation of 
the customers’ funds if such funds or securities are 
not returned to the customer. The maximum poten-
tial financial risk of the Group on any date is equal 
to the volume of the customers’ funds, net of any 
unrealized income/loss on the client’s position. The 
balance of the customers’ funds under the manage-
ment of the Group, as at 31 December 2010 is KZT 
712 billion (31 December 2009 — KZT 560 billion; 
December 2008 — KZT 405 billion).

Legal proceedings 
From time to time and in the normal course of busi-
ness, claims against the Group are received from 
customers and counterparties. Management is of 
the opinion that no material unaccrued losses will 
be incurred and accordingly no provision has been 
made in these consolidated financial statements.

Taxation
Commercial legislation of the countries where the 
Group operates, including tax legislation, may allow 
more than one interpretation. In addition, there is a 
risk of tax authorities making arbitrary judgments of 
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business activities. If a particular treatment, based 
on Management’s judgment of the Group’s business 
activities, was to be challenged by the tax authori-
ties, the Group may be assessed additional taxes, 
penalties and interest. 

Such uncertainty may relate to the valuation of fi-
nancial instruments and the market pricing of deals. 
Additionally such uncertainty may relate to the valu-
ation of temporary differences on the provision and 
recovery of the provision for impairment losses on 
loans to customers and receivables, as an underesti-
mation of the taxable profit. The management of the 
Group believes that it has accrued all tax amounts 
due and therefore no allowance has been made in 
the consolidated financial statements.

Tax years remain open to review by the tax authori-
ties for five years. However, tax authorities may per-
form additional reviews, if considered necessary. In 
accordance with judicial rulings, the period of review 
can be altered, if the court acknowledges the fact of 
interdiction to conducting the tax review by the tax 
authorities.

Operating environment
Emerging markets such as Kazakhstan are subject 
to different risks than more developed markets, in-
cluding economic, political and social, and legal and 
legislative risks. As has happened in the past, actual 
or perceived financial problems or an increase in the 
perceived risks associated with investing in emerg-

ing economies could adversely affect the investment 
climate in Kazakhstan and the Kazakhstan’s econo-
my in general.

Laws and regulations affecting businesses in Kazakh-
stan continue to change rapidly. Tax, currency and 
customs legislation within Kazakhstan are subject to 
varying interpretations, and other legal and fiscal im-
pediments contribute to the challenges faced by en-
tities currently operating in Kazakhstan. The future 
economic direction of Kazakhstan is largely depen-
dent upon economic, fiscal and monetary measures 
undertaken by the government, together with legal, 
regulatory, and political developments.
 
The global financial turmoil that has negatively af-
fected Kazakhstan’s financial and capital markets in 
2008 and 2009 has receded and Kazakhstan’s econo-
my returned to growth in 2010. However, significant 
economic uncertainties remain. Adverse changes 
arising from systemic risks in global financial sys-
tems, including any tightening of the credit environ-
ment or decline in grain, oil and gas prices could slow 
or disrupt Kazakhstan’s economy, adversely affect 
the Group’s access to capital and cost of capital for 
the Group and, more generally, its business, results 
of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Banks-correspondents of the Group did not de-
crease the limits on the Group and did not otherwise 
change the terms of cooperation with the Group, 
which would became less advantageous for the 
Group.
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25. Net interest income

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2010

161,585
2,829

13,965

36
178,415
159,597

2,845

1,972

164,414

36

36

13,965
178,415

(86,379)
(86,379)

(60,584)

(22,055)

(3,740)

(86,379)

92,036

181,775
4,515

7,578

137
194,005
178,524

4,514

3,252
 

186,290
 
 

137

137
 

7,578
194,005

 

(103,277)
(103,277)

 
 

(66,869)

(27,237)

(9,171)

(103,277)

90,728

173,468
8,799

8,802

1,591
192,660
173,402

8,865

—

182,267

1,591

1,591

8,802
192,660

(100,753)
(100,753) 

(66,878)

(21,278)

(12,597)

(100,753)

91,907

Interest income comprises:
Interest income on financial assets 
recorded at amortized cost:
— interest income on impaired assets
— interest income on unimpaired assets
Interest income on available-for-sale investment 
securities
Interest income on financial assets 
recorded at fair value through 
profit or loss
Total interest income
Interest income on loans to customers
Interest income on amounts due
from credit institutions and cash 
and cash equivalents
Interest income on investments
held-to-maturity
Total interest income on financial 
assets recorded at amortized cost
Interest income on financial
assets at fair value through 
profit or loss:
Interest income on financial 
assets held-for-trading
Total interest income 
on financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Interest income on available-for-sale 
investment securities
Total interest income
Interest expense comprises:
Interest expense on financial liabilities 
recorded at amortized cost
Total interest expense
Interest expense on financial 
liabilities recorded at amortized 
cost comprise:
Interest expense on amounts due to customers
Interest expense on debt 
securities issued
Interest expense on amounts due 
to credit institutions
Total interest expense 
on financial liabilities recorded 
at amortized cost
Net interest income before 
impairment charge
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26. Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income was derived from the following sources:

27. Net gain/(loss) from financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprises:

Fee and commission expense comprised the following:

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2010

Year ended 
31 December 

2010

Year ended 
31 December 

2010

10,177
10,067

3,336
3,229
2,522
2,252
1,890

383
1,337

35,193

(2,975)
(705)
(823)
(209)
(171)
(338)

(5,221)

1,773

(32)

1,741

8,756
16,103

3,172
3,046
2,093
1,904
3,340

335
965

39,714

(2,781)
(769)
(591)
(170)
(127)
(499)

(4,937)

(411)

1,803

1,392

8,959
4,642
2,386
3,598
1,710
1,887
2,407

308
1,311

27,208

(1,567)
(731)
(223)
(126)
(140)
(461)

(3,248)

(7,370)

(2,280)

(9,650)

Bank transfers 
Pension fund and asset management
Plastic cards maintenance
Cash operations 
Customers’ pension payments
Letters of credit and guarantees issued
Maintenance of customer accounts
Utilities payments
Other

Deposit insurance
Plastic cards
Commission paid to collectors
Bank transfers
Foreign currency operations
Other

Net gain/(loss) on operations 
with financial assets and liabilities  
classified as held for trading:
Gain/(loss) on trading operations
Net (loss)/gain on fair value 
adjustment
Total net gain/(loss) on operations 
with financial assets and liabilities 
classified as held for trading
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28. Net gain on foreign exchange operations
Net gain on foreign exchange operations comprises:

29. Insurance underwriting income
Insurance underwriting income comprised:

30. Operating expenses
Operating expenses comprised:

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended
31 December

2010

Year ended
31 December

2010

Year ended
31 December

2010

7,211
174

7,385

18,149

242
(6,397)
11,994

22,647
6,648
1,972
1,440
1,407
1,165

1,085
1,022

785
765
662
593
533
431
399
100

91
74
64

3,400
45,283

18,684
5,979
1,831
1,917
1,334
1,220

—
1,508
1,217

617
548
954
421
310
377

56
3,189

25
48

1,493
41,728

20,484
5,040
2,254
2,780
1,079
1,328

—
1,772
1,190

397
1,500

591
657
815
455
100
485
123

66
1,642

42,758

10,971
469

11,440

14,480

243
(5,920)

8,803

14,937

(143)
(5,596)

9,198

7,262
4,491

11,753

Dealing, net
Translation differences, net
Total net gain on foreign exchange operations

Insurance premiums written, gross 
Change in unearned insurance 
premiums, net
Ceded reinsurance share

Salaries and other employee benefits
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Taxes other than income tax
Repair and maintenance
Security
Communication
Write-off of property and equipment 
and intangible assets
Rent
Insurance agents fees
Stationery and office supplies
Advertisement
Information services
Business trip expenses
Professional services
Transportation
Charity
Impairment of property and equipment
Social events
Hospitality expenses
Other
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Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2009

Year ended 
31 December 

2010

35,943

(3,413)

(4,494)

(7,907)
28,036

1,301,070,197
21.55

28,036

—

—

—

28,036

1,301,070,197

—

1,301,070,197
21,55

15,710

(1,225)

(1,679)

(2,904)
12,806

1,188,091,004
10.78

12,806

—

—

—

12,806

1,188,091,004

—

1,188,091,004
10,78

14,600

—

(1,679)

(1,679)
12,921

979,722,276
13.19

12,921

1,284

—

(1,148)

13,057

979,722,276

80,165,873

1,059,888,149
12,32

Basic earnings per share
Net income for the year attributable 
to equity holders of the parent
Less: Additional dividends that would be paid on full 
distribution of profit to the preferred shareholders
Less: Dividends paid
on preferred shares
Earnings attributable 
to preferred shareholders
Earnings attributable to common shareholders
Weighted average number of common shares
for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (Tenge)
Diluted earnings per share
Earnings used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share
Add: Dividends paid on convertible
preferred shares 
Add: Additional dividends that would be paid on full 
distribution of profit to the convertible preferred
shareholders
Less: Amounts payable
to convertible preferred 
shareholders upon conversion
Earnings used in the calculation 
of total diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of common 
shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share
Shares deemed to be issued:
Weighted average number 
of common shares that would be issued 
for the convertible preferred shares
Weighted average number of common shares for the 
purposes of diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share (Tenge)*

31. Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing the net income for the year attributable 
to equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of participating shares outstanding 
during the year. 

According to Kazakhstan legislation on Joint Stock 
Companies, and as described in Note 23, dividend 

payments per common share cannot exceed the 
dividends per share on preferred shares for the 
same period. Therefore, net profit for the period is 
allocated to the ordinary shares and the preference 
shares in accordance with their legal and contractual 
dividend rights to participate in undistributed 
earnings.
 
The following table presents basic and diluted 
earnings per share:

*For the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, the convertible preferred shares were not included in the computation of diluted earn-
ings per share as their effect was anti-dilutive.
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On 8 November 2010, KASE has enacted new rules 
for listed companies that require presentation of 
book value of one share in the financial statements 
of the listed companies.

The book value of one share per each class of shares 
as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, is as follows.

The amount of equity attributable to non-convert-
ible preferred shares is calculated as the sum of non-
convertible shares carrying amount and the share 
premium reserve attributable to non-convertible 
preferred shares. The amount of equity attributable 
to convertible preferred shares is calculated as car-
rying amount of convertible shares. The amount of 
equity attributable to common shares is calculated 
as the difference between the total equity, total net 
book value of intangible assets, and the amounts at-

tributable to preferred shares.

The management of the Group believes that it fully 
complies with the requirement of KASE as at the re-
porting date.

During 2010 the Group paid dividends equal to KZT 
nil for one common share and KZT 11,52 for one 
preferred share (during 2009 — KZT nil and KZT 16,00, 
during 2008 — KZT 2,75 and KZT 16,00, respectively).

Equity

Equity

Equity

Book value of one share,
in KZT

Book value of one share,
in KZT

Book value of one share,
in KZT

Outstanding 
shares

Class of shares

Class of shares

Class of shares

Outstanding 
shares

Outstanding 
shares

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

31 December 2008

1,301,511,007
285,887,396

79,930,201

1,300,516,169
285,889,251

79,930,401

979,431,057
24,542,679
80,111,545

250,689
48,128
13,233

312,050

212,116
48,128
13,233

273,477

167,675
3,711

13,233
184,619

192,61
168,35
165.56

163,10
168,34
165,56

171,20
151,21
165,18

Common
Non-convertible preferred 
Convertible preferred

Common
Non-convertible preferred 
Convertible preferred

Common
Non-convertible preferred 
Convertible preferred
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32. Financial risk management
Management of risk is fundamental to the Group’s 
banking business and is an essential element of the 
Group’s operations.  The main risks inherent to the 
Group’s operations are those related to:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

The Group recognizes that it is essential to have ef-
ficient and effective risk management processes in 
place. To enable this, the Group has established a risk 
management framework, whose main purpose is to 
protect the Group from risk and allow it to achieve its 
performance objectives. Through the risk manage-
ment framework, the Group manages the following 
risks:

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk which is the risk 
that one party to a financial instrument will fail to 
discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 
incur a financial loss.

Risk management and monitoring is performed 
within set limits of authority. These procedures 
are performed, by the Credit Committees and the 
Group’s Management Board.  Before any application 
is made by the Credit Committee, all recommenda-
tions on credit processes (e.g. borrower’s limits ap-
proved) are reviewed and approved by respective 
division of the Risk Management Department.  Daily 
risk management is performed by the Branch Credit 
Divisions of the Bank.

The Group structures the level of credit risk it under-
takes by placing limits on the amount of risk accept-
ed in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrow-
ers, and to industry (and geographical) segments.  
Limits on the level of credit risk concentration by in-
dustry sector are approved quarterly and by region 
are approved annually by the Assets and Liabilities 

Management Committee (ALMC). Limits on credit 
risk exposure with respect to credit programmes 
(Small and medium enterprises (SME) and retail) 
are approved by Management board. The exposure 
to any one borrower including banks and brokers, 
covering on and off-balance sheet exposures which 
are reviewed by the Credit Committees and ALMC. 
Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily.

Where appropriate, and in the case of most loans, the 
Group obtains collateral and corporate and personal 
guarantee. However a significant portion of loans is 
personal lending, where no such facilities can be ob-
tained. Such risks are monitored on a monthly basis 
with preparation of management reports.
 
Commitments to extend credit represent unused 
portions of credit in the form of loans, guarantees 
or letters of credit. The credit risk for off-balance 
sheet financial instruments is defined as a probabil-
ity of losses due to the inability of counterparty to 
comply with the contractual terms and conditions. 
With respect to credit risk on commitments to ex-
tend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a 
loss in an amount equal to the total unused com-
mitments. However, the likely amount of the loss is 
less than the total unused commitments since most 
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon 
customers maintaining specific credit standards. The 
Group applies the same credit policy to the contin-
gent liabilities as it does to the financial instruments 
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, i.e. the one based on the procedures for ap-
proving the grant of loans, using limits to mitigate 
the risk, and current monitoring. The Group monitors 
the term to maturity of off-balance sheet contingen-
cies because longer term commitments generally 
have a greater degree of credit risk than short-term 
commitments.

Maximum Exposure
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk varies 
significantly and is dependent on both individual 
risks and general market risks.
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Cash and cash equivalents*
Financial assets 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 
Investments held to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Commitments and contingencies

The following table presents the maximum expo-
sure to credit risk of financial assets and contingent 
liabilities. For financial assets the maximum expo-
sure equals to a carrying value of those assets prior 
to any offset or collateral. For financial guarantees 
and other contingent liabilities the maximum expo-

sure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Group 
would have to pay if the guarantee was called on or 
in the case of commitments, if the loan amount was 
called on (Note 24). The collateral pledged was de-
termined based on its fair value and limited to the 
outstanding balance of each loan.

31 December 2010
Net exposure after

 offset and 
collateral

31 December 2009
Net exposure after

 offset and 
collateral

Collateral
pledged

Collateral
pledged

Net
exposure 

after 
offset

Net
exposure 

after 
offset

Offset

Offset

Maximum 
exposure

Maximum 
exposure

357,430

6,051

20,123

281,294
174,419

1,089,273
5,131

1,933,721
147,286

438,185

8,528

56,101

1,133,235
200,221

17,186
2,729

1,856,185
97,491

357,430

6,051

20,123

281,294
174,419

1,089,273
5,131

1,933,721
147,286

438,185

8,528

56,101

1,133,235
200,221

17,186
2,729

1,856,185
97,491

356,520

2,440

20,123

281,294
174,419

13,597
5,131

853,524
146,973

432,823

4,778

56,101

66,630
200,221

17,186
2,729

780,468
93,973

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—

910

3,611

—

—
—

1,075,676
—

1,080,197
313

5,362

3,750

—

1,066,605
—
—
—

1,075,717
3,518

Cash and cash equivalents*
Financial assets 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 
Investments held to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Commitments and contingencies
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31 December 2008
Net exposure after

 offset and 
collateral

Collateral
pledged

Net
exposure 

after 
offset

OffsetMaximum 
exposure

Cash and cash equivalents*
Financial assets 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 
Investments held to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial assets
Total financial assets
Commitments and contingencies

Not 
rated

<BBBBB+BBBAAA-AA 31 Decem-
ber 2010

Total

195,094

20

—

—

—

—

—

63

—

—

20

—

—

—

26,499

78

7,679

—

—

—

—

79,538

622

8,466

262,683

171,815

—

—

36,385

944

3,831

9,972

—

—

—

39

4

—

2,544

1,620

—

—

55,280

4,383

149

7,287

984

5,131

151,147

392,898

6,051

20,125

282,506

174,419

5,131

151,147

137,170

14,987

10,357

1,188,280
135,801

8,689
2,897

1,498,181
71,697

137,170

14,987

10,357

1,188,280
135,801

8,689
2,897

1,498,181
71,697

136,510

13,299

10,357

161,119
135,801

8,689
2,897

468,672
70,500

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—

660

1,688

—

1,027,161
—
—
—

1,029,509
1,197

Cash and cash
equivalents
Financial assets 
at fair value
through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale
investment 
securities
Investments held 
to maturity
Other financial
assets
Commitments and 
contingencies

* Amount represents the short-term loans and deposits with original maturities of not more than 90 days, which are included within cash 
and cash equivalents.

Financial assets are graded according to the cur-
rent credit rating they have been issued by an in-
ternational rating agency or in accordance with the 
Group’s internal rating system. The highest possible 

rating is AAA. Investment grade financial assets have 
ratings from AAA to BBB. Financial assets which have 
ratings lower than BBB are classed as speculative 
grade.

The following table details the credit ratings of financial assets held by the Group, before any impairment 
losses and which are monitored by international rating agencies:
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Not 
rated

Not 
rated

<BBB

<BBB

BB+

BB+

BBB

BBB

A

A

AA-

AA-

AA

AA

31 Decem-
ber 2009

Total

31 Decem-
ber 2008

Total

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

107,062

—

3,241

5,424

3,131

—

—

24,158

—

—

1,922

—

—

—

104

7,092

1,721

110,661

4,547

—

—

77

1,454

4,084

1,060

1,011

—

—

107

—

388

15,727

—

—

—

29,580

6,441

940

1,007

—

3,971

74,586

161,088

14,987

10,374

135,801

8,689

3,971

74,586

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

170,332

—

—

—

6,233

—

—

43,294

—

51,086

920

—

—

—

3,970

—

1,242

5,138

197

—

—

—

—

—

1,995

3,647

—

—

213,310

3,105

3,242

186,860

6,293

—

—

49,716

5,423

540

6,038

816

3,659

101,924

480,622

8,528

56,110

200,951

17,186

3,659

101,924

The banking industry is generally exposed to credit 
risk through its financial assets and contingent li-
abilities. Credit risk exposure of the Group is concen-
trated within the Republic of Kazakhstan. The expo-
sure is monitored on a regular basis to ensure that 
the credit limits and credit worthiness guidelines 
established by the Group’s risk management policy 
are not breached.

Loans to customers are classified based on internal 
assessments and other analytical procedures. The 

respective business units classify loans according 
to their risk and the exposure that they potentially 
present to the Group, and this classification is veri-
fied by the Risk Management function. 

During 2009 the Group introduced a new internal 
model to classify loans in different risk categories. 
After the occurrence of an impairment event, the 
model assists in estimating the allowance for loan 
loss based on a borrowers’ financial performance, 
credit history, quality of accounts receivable, liquid-

Cash and cash
equivalents
Financial assets 
at fair value
through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale
investment 
securities
Investments held 
to maturity
Other financial
assets
Commitments and 
contingencies

Cash and cash
equivalents
Financial assets 
at fair value
through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale
investment 
securities
Investments held 
to maturity
Other financial
assets
Commitments and 
contingencies
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ity of the borrower, market risks relating to the bor-
rower, industry of the borrower and other factors. 
Periodically the required information is inputted into 
the model by credit officers. Information input into 
the system and the estimate of the allowance for 
loan loss is verified by the Risk management depart-
ment.

The new model was introduced in 2009, therefore 
the breakdown of classification of loans according to 
this model is not available for the comparative pe-
riods and is not presented. The following classifica-
tions are used by the new model:

• Rating score 1 — superior loan rating, minimal 
credit risk;
• Rating score 2 — very high quality of loan, very low 
credit risk;
• Rating score 3 — high quality of loan, low credit risk;
• Rating score 4 — satisfactory quality of loan, insig-
nificant risk;

• Rating score 5 — credit risk can increase at eco-
nomic variation;
• Rating score 6 — high risk at economic variation;
• Rating score 7 — high risk of default, paying capac-
ity of the borrower depends on favourable economic 
circumstances;
• Rating score 8 — very high risk of default;
• Rating score 9 — procedure of bankruptcy is initi-
ated but repayments are still made by the borrower;
• Rating score 10 — default.
• Pools of homogeneous loans – loans to customers 
are included in groups of loans with similar credit risk 
characteristics (i.e. the characteristics include sector 
of the economy, borrower activities, type of loan 
program, level of defaults, internal ratings and other 
factors). Collective assessment is performed on loans 
that were determined not to be individually signifi-
cant based on the limits set by the Board of Directors 
of the Group and loans that are individually assessed 
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is 
not recognized.

Previously, Risk Management used the following 
classifications:

Pools of homogeneous loans

Loans to customers are included in groups of 
loans with similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. 
the characteristics include sector of the economy, 

borrower activities, type of loan program, level 
of defaults, internal ratings and other factors). 
Collective assessment is performed on loans that 
were determined not to be individually significant 
based on the limits set by the Board of Directors and 
loans that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is not recognized.

31 December 200931 December 2010Rating score

—
—

193
52,926

149,185
238,790
232,282

93,107
26,283

192,914
985,680
356,830

1,342,510
(253,237)
1,089,273

—
—
47

29,789
149,513
343,355
337,047
105,943

—
990

966,684
373,652

1,340,336
(207,101)
1,133,235

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
Loans to customers that individually assessed for impairment
Loans to customers that are collectively assessed for impairment

Less — Allowance for loan impairment (Note 20)
Loans to customers
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Doubtful 1st category 
There is evidence of a temporary deterioration in 
the financial condition of the borrower, including 
a decrease in income or a loss of market share. The 
borrower repays the loan principal and the interest 
without delay and in full. The value of collateral 
covers at least 50 per cent of the Group’s exposure.

Doubtful 2nd category 
There is evidence of a temporary deterioration in 
the financial condition of the borrower, including 
a decrease in income or a loss of market share. 
However, due to temporary difficulties the borrower 
repays the loan with delays and/or not in full. The 
value of collateral covers at least 50 per cent of the 
Group’s exposure.

Doubtful 3rd category
There is evidence of a more severe deterioration in 
the financial condition of the borrower, including 
negative operating results and a declining liquidity 
position. The current financial condition of the 
borrower can be considered unstable and raises 
concerns as to the ability of the borrower to improve 
its current financial performance, thus casting doubt 
on the borrower’s ability to repay the loan and the 
interest in full. However, despite severe deterioration 
of financial health the borrower manages to repay 
the loan and interest in full and without delay. The 
value of collateral covers at least 50 per cent of the 
Group’s exposure.

Doubtful 4th category 
There is evidence of a more severe deterioration in 

the financial condition of the borrower, including 
negative operating results and a declining liquidity 
position. The current financial condition of the 
borrower can be considered unstable and raises 
concerns as to the ability of the borrower to stabilize 
and improve its current financial performance and 
impairs the borrower’s ability to repay the loan and 
the interest in full. The borrower repays the loan late 
and/or not in full. The value of collateral covers at 
least 50 per cent of the Group’s exposure.

Doubtful 5th category 
The deterioration in the financial condition of the 
borrower has reached a critical level, including 
significant operating losses, a loss of market 
position, negative equity and it is probable that 
the borrower will be unable to repay the loan and 
the interest in full. The quality of collateral can be 
classified as satisfactory (normally not highly liquid 
but covering not less than 100 per cent of the 
borrower’s outstanding debt) or unsatisfactory (the 
value of which covers nearly but not less than 50 per 
cent of the borrower’s outstanding debt).

Loss 
In the absence of any information to the contrary, 
the borrower’s financial condition and operations 
have reached the point where it is evident that the 
borrower cannot repay the loan and the collateral 
value is negligible. The loan is uncollateralized or the 
value of the collateral covers less than 50 per cent of 
the borrowers’ outstanding debt.

31 December 2008Rating score

737,434
369,689

7,922
97,430
16,307
20,447
54,103

1,303,332
(115,052)
1,188,280

Pools of homogeneous loans
Doubtful 1st category
Doubtful 2nd category
Doubtful 3rd category
Doubtful 4th category
Doubtful 5th category
Loss loans

Less — Allowance for loan impairment (Note 20)
Loans to customers
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Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities
Investments 
held-to-maturity
Loans to customers
Other financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities
Investments 
held-to-maturity
Loans to customers
Other financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due from credit institutions
Available-for-sale investment 
securities
Investments 
held-to-maturity
Loans to customers
Other financial assets

—
—

1,244

—
605,187

2,143

—
—

1,169

—
577,963

3,610

—
244

—

—
565,898

2,142

—
—

(1,212)

—
(191,910)

(771)

—
—

(730)

—
(139,038)

(930)

—
(11)

—

—
(87,627)

(1,074)

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Impaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment

Impaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment

Impaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment

Financial assets that have been individually assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been individually assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been individually assessed 
for impairment

The following table details the carrying value of assets that are impaired and the aging of those that are past 
due but not impaired:
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6,051
20,106

281,262

174,419
380,493

3,759

8,528
55,926

199,782

17,186
388,721

49

14,987
9,993

135,801

8,689
319,152

1,829

—
19

—

—
356,830

—

—
184

—

—
373,652

—

—
137

—

—
418,282

—

—
—

—

—
(22,576)

—

—
—

—

—
(40,405)

—

—
—

—

—
(24,965)

—

—
(2)

—

—
(38,751)

—

—
(9)

—

—
(27,658)

—

—
(6)

—

—
(2,460)

—

6,051
20,123

281,294

174,419
1,089,273

5,131

8,528
56,101

200,221

17,186
1,133,235

2,729

14,987
10,357

135,801

8,689
1,188,280

2,897

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Carrying
amount of assets

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

Amount of allowance 
for impairment losses

31 December 
2010
Total

31 December 
2009
Total

31 December 
2008
Total

Unimpaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment

Unimpaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment

Unimpaired financial assets that have been 
individually assessed for impairment

Financial assets that have been individually assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been individually assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been individually assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been collectively assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been collectively assessed 
for impairment

Financial assets that have been collectively assessed 
for impairment
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Currency Risk 
The Group is exposed to effects of fluctuation in the 
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates (primarily 
USD) on its financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows, which are monitored daily. ALMC sets 
limits on the level of exposure by currencies within 

the authority approved by the Board of Directors, 
by branches and in total. These limits also comply 
with the minimum requirements of the FMSA. The 
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate 
risk follows:

Foreign 
currencies 

Foreign 
currencies 

Foreign 
currencies 

TotalTotalTotal KZTKZTKZT

31 December 200831 December 200931 December 2010

94,811
12,320

1,291

9,448

240,694

168,752
591,360

4,012
1,122,688

796,880

4,737

—

44,466

818
846,901

275,787

242,624
7,991

2,750

2,864

193,889

9,005
544,296

2,516
1,005,935

569,663

41,108

—

55,266

1,594
767,631

238,304

4,282
20,165

8,090

5,777

132,879

—
643,078

2,579
816,850

465,863

91,522

—

62,873

8,862
629,120

187,730

298,087
14,964

4,760

10,675

40,600

5,667
497,913

1,119
873,785

618,875

66,666

2,910

207,701

191
896,343

(22,558)

237,998
17,958

5,778

53,237

6,332

8,181
588,939

213
918,636

704,406

31,598

3,201

208,627

278
948,110

(29,474)

156,806
10,660

6,897

4,580

2,922

8,689
545,202

318
736,074

401,529

198,086

6,048

200,118

96
805,877

(69,803)

392,898
27,284

6,051

20,123

281,294

174,419
1,089,273

5,131
1,996,473

1,415,755

71,403

2,910

252,167

1,009
1,743,244

253,229

480,622
25,949

8,528

56,101

200,221

17,186
1,133,235

2,729
1,924,571

1,274,069

172,706

3,201

263,893

1,872
1,715,741

208,830

161,088
30,825

14,987

10,357

135,801

8,689
1,188,280

2,897
1,552,924

867,392

289,608

6,048

262,991

8,958
1,434,997

117,927

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Cash and cash 
equivalents
Obligatory reserves
Financial assets
at fair value 
through profit
or loss
Amounts due from 
credit institutions
Available-for-sale 
investment 
securities
Investments held 
to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial 
assets

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES:
Amounts due 
to customers
Amounts due to 
credit institutions
Financial liabili-
ties at fair value 
through profit or 
loss
Debt securities 
issued
Other financial 
liabilities

Net balance sheet 
position

The Group’s principal cash flows are generated in 
KZT and USD. As a result, potential movements in 
the exchange rate between KZT and USD will affect 
the carrying values of the Group’s USD denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities.

Interest 
Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that 
changes in interest rates will affect the value of the 
financial instruments.
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31 December 2010
On 

demand
1 to 2 
years

Less than    
1 month

2 to 3 
years

1 to 3 
months

3 to 5 
years

3 
months 
to 1 year

Over 5 
years

Total

392,898
27,284

6,051

20,123

281,294

174,419
1,089,273

5,131
1,996,473

1,415,755

71,403

2,910
252,167

1,009
1,743,244

49,727
7,911

6,051

33

43

—
48,253

1,031
113,049

499,300

3,040

2,910
—

142
505,392

(392,343)
(392,343)

343,171
2,411

—

—

17,453

6,029
60,416

3,353
432,833

104,883

48,694

—
100
364

154,041
278,792

(113,551)

—
2,819

—

1,235

31,743

65,349
108,410

114
209,670

178,492

574

—
993

99
180,158

29,512
(84,039)

—
7,437

—

2,902

55,391

89,158
515,001

291
670,180

468,022

3,534

—
3,358

278
475,192
194,988
110,949

—
1,765

—

8,028

32,616

1,303
112,781

207
156,700

108,453

4,286

—
9,496

32
122,267

34,433
145,382

—
573

—

7,061

26,834

1,658
65,775

36
101,937

23,509

3,506

—
111,476

94
138,585
(36,648)
108,734

—
120

—

863

72,686

6,058
88,218

25
167,970

4,899

2,730

—
15,212

—
22,841

145,129
253,863

—
4,248

—

1

44,528

4,864
90,419

74
144,134

28,197

5,039

—
111,532

—
144,768

(634)
253,229

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Cash and 
cash equivalents
Obligatory reserves 
Financial assets at fair va-
lue through profit or loss
Amounts due from credit 
institutions
Available-for-sale 
investment securities
Investments held 
to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial assets

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due 
to customers
Amounts due to credit 
institutions
Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities

Net position
Accumulated gap

The Group’s interest rate policy is reviewed and 
approved by the Group’s ALMC. The interest rates 
on the Group’s assets and liabilities are disclosed 
in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient 
funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other 
financial commitments associated with financial 
instruments as they actually fall due. Short-term 
liquidity needs are managed by the Group’s Treasury 
function collecting daily customers’ cash inflow/
outflow forecasts. Long-term liquidity management 
is performed by ALMC by analyzing longer term 
liquidity positions and making decisions on 
managing significant gaps through various available 
means. The Assets and Liabilities Management 

Committee within the authority approved by the 
Board sets limits on the minimum proportion 
of maturing funds available to meet deposit 
withdrawals and on the minimum level on interbank 
and other borrowing facilities that should be in 
place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of 
demand.
 
The following tables provide an analysis of financial 
assets and liabilities grouped on the basis of the 
remaining period from the reporting date to the 
contractual maturity date, except for financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss which are included 
in the column “On demand” as they are available to 
meet the Group’s short-term liquidity needs. The 
presentation below is based upon the information 
provided internally to key management personnel 
of the Group.
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31 December 2009

On 
demand

1 to 2 
years

Less than    
1 month

2 to 3 
years

1 to 3 
months

3 to 5 
years

3 
months 
to 1 year

Over 5 
years

Total

480,622
25,949

8,528

56,101

200,221

17,186
1,133,235

2,729
1,924,571

1,274,069

172,706

3,201
263,893

1,872
1,715,741

63,330
6,532

8,528

—

2,988

—
35,843

633
117,854

392,946

42,821

3,201
—

317
439,285

(321,431)
(321,431)

318,563
1,566

—

2

14,432

72
54,867

1,128
390,630

 

80,803

89,452

—
107

1,379
171,741
218,889

(102,542)

98,729
2,123

—

1

89,021

6,698
128,819

642
326,033

122,606

524

—
1,065

36
124,231
201,802

99,260

—
7,622

—

47,355

45,210

1,723
572,453

50
674,413

448,813

2,471

—
8,476

87
459,847
214,566
313,826

—
1,827

—

55

15,445

293
97,099

3
114,722

108,868

5,363

—
—
—

114,231
491

314,317

—
1,618

—

6,537

9,645

1,643
56,581

130
76,154

86,508

6,833

—
10,138

—
103,479
(27,325)
286,992

—
1,998

—

2,140

17,467

2,827
66,369

10
90,811

3,455

6,359

—
111,977

53
121,844
(31,033)
255,959

—
2,663

—

11

6,013

3,930
121,204

133
133,954

30,070

18,883

—
132,130

—
181,083
(47,129)
208,830

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Cash and 
cash equivalents
Obligatory reserves 
Financial assets at fair va-
lue through profit or loss
Amounts due from credit 
institutions
Available-for-sale 
investment securities
Investments held 
to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial assets

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due 
to customers
Amounts due to credit 
institutions
Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities

Net position
Accumulated gap
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31 December 2008

On 
demand

1 to 2 
years

Less than    
1 month

2 to 3 
years

1 to 3 
months

3 to 5 
years

3 
months 
to 1 year

Over 5 
years

Total

161,088
30,825

14,987

10,357

135,801

8,689
1,188,280

2,897
1,552,924

867,392

289,608

6,048
262,991

8,958
1,434,997

32,338
7,900

14,987

—

725

—
8,620

67
64,637

225,889

2,824

6,048
3

8,401
243,165

(178,528)
(178,528)

128,750
7,464

—

1,428

8,825

868
46,261

1,520
195,116

208,134

93,609

—
107
237

302,087
(106,971)
(285,499)

—
1,861

—

778

33,355

421
112,823

156
149,394

52,001

28,286

—
16,141

235
96,663
52,731

(232,768)

—
9,166

—

3,676

47,027

4,645
518,568

558
583,640

255,837

56,481

—
32,586

24
344,928
238,712

5,944

—
1,361

—

221

20,352

—
234,252

76
256,262

37,727

89,838

—
5,016

—
132,581
123,681
129,625

—
1,676

—

14

3,941

—
4,103

8
9,742

47,157

6,473

—
—
—

53,630
(43,888)
85,737

—
806

—

4,235

6,852

—
108,710

508
121,111

24,000

9,595

—
93,824

61
127,480

(6,369)
79,368

—
591

—

5

14,724

2,755
154,943

4
173,022

16,647

2,502

—
115,314

—
134,463

38,559
117,927

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Cash and 
cash equivalents
Obligatory reserves 
Financial assets at fair va-
lue through profit or loss
Amounts due from credit 
institutions
Available-for-sale 
investment securities
Investments held 
to maturity 
Loans to customers
Other financial assets

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due 
to customers
Amounts due to credit 
institutions
Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities

Net position
Accumulated gap
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A further analysis of the liquidity risk is presented 
in the following tables in accordance with IFRS 7. 
The amounts disclosed in these tables do not corre-
spond to the amounts recorded on the consolidated 

statement of financial position as the presentation 
below includes a maturity analysis for financial liabil-
ities based on the remaining contractual payments 
(including interest payments).

1 month
to 3 year

1 month
to 3 year

1 month
to 3 year

Up to
1 month

Up to
1 month

Up to
1 month

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate

Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate

3,85%
2,45%

—
9,32%

—
—
—

—

5.91%
3.03%

—
9.40%

—
—
—

—

6.86%
5.72%

—
9.66%

—

—

606,150
51,743

16,467
212
506

108,346
14,925

798,349
69,877

475,513
132,284

23,632
112

1,696
64,845
16,723

714,805
31,226

435,843
96,967

122,007
111

8,638
32,337
23,489

719,392
122,450

184,779
579

—
2,176

99
—
—

187,633
—

128,259
533

—
1,300

36
—
—

130,128
—

56,512
43,739

—
16,375

235
—
—

116,861
—

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to credit institutions
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities
Guarantees issued
Commitments to extend credit

Derivative financial assets

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to credit institutions
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities
Guarantees issued
Commitments to extend credit

Derivative financial assets

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to customers
Amounts due to credit institutions
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
Debt securities issued
Other financial liabilities
Guarantees issued
Commitments to extend credit

Derivative financial assets
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31 December 
2010
Total

31 December 
2009
Total

31 December 
2008
Total

Over 5 years

Over 5 years

Over 5 years

3 to 5
years

3 to 5
years

3 to 5
years

2 to 3
years

2 to 3
years

2 to 3
years

1year
to 2 years

1year
to 2 years

1year
to 2 years

3 months
to 1 year

3 months
to 1 year

3 months
to 1 year

493,848
3,587

—
22,804

279
—
—

520,518
—

478,492
2,511

—
15,299

87
—
—

496,389
—

273,376
68,502

—
62,466

24
—
—

404,368
—

134,419
4,483

—
39,619

32
—
—

178,553
—

131,377
5,627

—
21,802

—
—
—

158,806
—

58,017
127,232

—
33,732

—
—
—

218,981
—

48,180
3,644

—
129,948

94
—
—

181,866
—

117,751
7,351

—
31,940

—
—
—

157,042
—

63,558
8,602

—
29,998

—
—
—

102,158
—

52,020
3,080

—
51,227

—
—
—

106,327
—

45,354
7,132

—
146,643

53
—
—

199,182
—

56,989
9,802

—
237,157

61
—
—

304,009
—

54,091
8,928

—
149,587

—
—
—

212,606
—

57,373
28,657

—
163,342

—
—
—

249,372
—

17,121
2,560

—
232,779

—
—
—

252,460
—

1,573,487
76,044

16,467
395,573

1,010
108,346

14,925
2,185,852

69,877

1,434,119
184,095

23,632
380,438

1,872
64,845
16,723

2,105,724
31,226

961,416
357,404

122,007
612,618

8,958
32,337
23,489

2,118,229
122,450
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Market Risk

Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency risk and 
other pricing risks to which the Group is exposed. 
There have been no changes as to the way the Group 
measures risk or to the risk it is exposed in 2010.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks as entities 
in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating 
rates. The risk is managed by the Group maintaining 
an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate 
borrowings.

The ALMC also manages interest rate and market 
risks by matching the Group’s interest rate position, 
which provides the Group with a positive interest 
margin. The Department of Financial Control con-
ducts monitoring of the Group’s current financial 
performance, estimates the Group’s sensitivity to 
changes in interest rates and its influence on the 
Group’s profitability.

The majority of the Group’s loan contracts and other 
financial assets and liabilities that bear interest con-
tain clauses enabling the interest rate to be changed 
at the option of the lender. The Group monitors its 
interest rate margin and consequently does not con-

sider itself exposed to significant interest rate risk or 
consequential cash flow risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group manages interest rate by determining the 
Group’s exposure to the interest rate risk using the 
approach described by the Basel Committee on the 
principles for the management and supervision of 
interest rate risk. This approach identifies the Group’s 
exposure to the interest rate risk by testing the im-
pact of a parallel movement in interest rates on as-
sets and liabilities by 200 basis points.

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of 
interest rate risk, which has been determined based 
on “reasonably possible changes in the risk variable”. 
The impact on profit before tax is the effect of the 
assumed changes in interest rate on the net inter-
est income for one year, based on the floating rate 
financial assets and liabilities held as at 31 Decem-
ber 2010, 2009 and 2008, and the effect of revaluing 
instruments with fixed rates accounted at fair value. 
The impact on equity is the effect of the assumed 
changes in interest rate due to changes in retained 
earnings and the effect of revaluating available for 
sale investment securities with fixed rates.

Interest 
rate
+2%

Interest 
rate
+2%

Interest 
rate
+2%

Interest 
rate
-2%

Interest 
rate
-2%

Interest 
rate
-2%

31 December 2009 31 December 200831 December 2010

—

—
24

—

24

—

—
(24)

—

(24)

(54)

131
550

(551)

76

63

(131)
(550)

551

(67)

(225)

85
1,620

(2,931)

(1,451)

319

(85)
(1,620)

2,931

1,545

FINANCIAL ASSETS: 
Financial assets 
at fair value through 
profit or loss
Amounts due to 
credit institutions
Loans to customers
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to credit institutions
Net impact on profit 
before tax

Impact on profit before tax based on asset values as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008:
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Impact on equity:

Impact on equity:

Currency risk
Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to 
the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign 
currency exchange rates on its financial position and 
cash flows.

The ALMC controls currency risk by management 
of the open currency position on the estimated ba-
sis of KZT devaluation and other macroeconomic 
indicators, which gives the Group an opportunity 
to minimize losses from significant currency rates 
fluctuations toward its national currency. The Trea-

sury Department performs daily monitoring of the 
Group’s open currency position with the aim to 
match the requirements of FMSA.

The table below indicates the currencies in which 
the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 
2010, 2009 and 2008, and its forecasted cash flows. 
The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonable 
possible movement of the currency rate with all 
other variables held constant on the consolidated 
income statement. A negative amount in the table 
reflects a potential net reduction in consolidated in-
come statement, while a positive amount reflects a 
net potential increase.

Interest 
rate
+2%

+25%
KZT/USD

+25%
KZT/USD

Interest 
rate
+2%

+25%
KZT/USD

+25%
KZT/USD

Interest 
rate
+2%

+25%
KZT/USD

+25%
KZT/USD

Interest 
rate
-2%

-25%
 KZT/USD

-25%
 KZT/USD

Interest 
rate
-2%

-25%
 KZT/USD

-25%
 KZT/USD

Interest 
rate
-2%

-25%
 KZT/USD

-25%
 KZT/USD

31 December 2009

31 December 2009

31 December 2009

31 December 2008

31 December 2008

31 December 2008

31 December 2010

31 December 2010

31 December 2010

—
—
24

(14,072)

—
(14,048)

(11,207)

(11,207)

(11,207)

(11,207)

(14,130)

(14,130)

(19,340)

(19,340)

(14,130)

(14,130)

(19,340)

(19,340)

—
—

(24)

14,072

—
14,048

(54)
131
550

(3,777)

(551)
(3,701)

63
(131)
(550)

4,034

551
3,967

(225)
85

1,620

(2,948)

(2,931)
(4,399)

319
(85)

(1,620)

3,264

2,931
4,809

FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
Amounts due to credit institutions 
Loans to customers
Available-for-sale 
investment securities
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Amounts due to credit institutions
Net impact on equity 

Impact on profit before tax

Impact on equity

Impact on profit before tax based on asset values as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, calculated using 
currency rate fluctuations analysis:
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Limitations 
of sensitivity analysis

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change 
in a key assumption while other assumptions remain 
unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between 
the assumptions and other factors. It should also 
be noted that these sensitivities are non-linear, and 
larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated 
or extrapolated from these results.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consider-
ation that the Group’s assets and liabilities are ac-
tively managed. Additionally, the financial position 
of the Group may vary at the time that any actual 
market movement occurs. For example, the Group’s 
financial risk management strategy aims to manage 
the exposure to market fluctuations. As investment 
markets move past various trigger levels, manage-
ment actions could include selling investments, 
changing investment portfolio allocation and taking 
other protective action. Consequently, the actual im-
pact of a change in the assumptions may not have 
any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets are held 
at market value on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. In these circumstances, the differ-
ent measurement bases for liabilities and assets may 
lead to volatility in equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses 
include the use of hypothetical market movements 
to demonstrate potential risk that only represent the 
Group’s view of possible near-term market changes 
that cannot be predicted with any certainty. Such 
limitation is represented by the assumption that all 
interest rates move in an identical fashion.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instru-
ment will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, where those changes are caused by factors 
specific to the individual security, its issuer, or fac-
tors affecting all securities traded in the market. The 
Group is exposed to price risks of its products which 

are subject to general and specific market fluctua-
tions.

To determine its exposure to price risk the Group 
uses an analysis for financial instruments based on:

• the Monte-Carlo simulation method

The Group estimates the price risk at 31 December 
2010, 2009 and 2008, to be not material and there-
fore quantitative information is not disclosed.

Monte-Carlo method

• benchmark data — data on the transaction price 
for each security received from official KASE sources 
or other sources such as Bloomberg or Reuters;
• length of period — data from the previous two 
years is used in the calculation;
• Confidence interval — 95%; and
• Quantity of simulations — no less than 10 thousand.

33. Capital 
risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital, 
which is a broader concept than the “equity” on the 
face of consolidated statement of financial position, 
are as follows:

• To comply with the capital requirements set by the 
FMSA;
• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern so that it can continue to provide re-
turns for shareholders and benefits for other stake-
holders; and
• To maintain a strong capital base to support the de-
velopment of its business.

The required level of capital is determined by taking 
into account the above objectives during the process 
of preparing the annual budget, and is approved by 
the Management Board and the Board of Directors. 
The capital adequacy of the Group is controlled ac-
cording to the principles, methods and coefficients 
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employed by Basel Committee. There have been no 
changes as to the way the Group measures capital.

Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which 
comprises share capital, share premium, retained 
earnings including current year profit, foreign cur-
rency translation and non-controlling interest less 
accrued dividends, net long position in own shares 
and goodwill. The other component of regulatory 
capital is Tier 2 capital, which includes subordinated 
long term debt limited to 50% of Tier 1 capital and 
revaluation reserves.

The risk-weighted assets are measured based on a 
hierarchy of five risk weighting according to the na-

ture of — and reflecting an estimate of credit, mar-
ket and other risks associated with — each asset and 
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collat-
eral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for 
off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments 
to reflect the more contingent nature of the poten-
tial losses.

The table below summarizes the composition of 
regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for the 
years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008. Dur-
ing those three years, the individual entities within 
the Group and the Group complied with all of the 
externally imposed capital requirements to which 
they are subject.

31 December 
2008   

31 December 
2009

31 December 
2010

143,695
1,352

171,744

(22,217)
(3,085)

1,186
292,675

32,592

22,217
54,809

(224)
347,260

1,696,909
17,3%
20,5%

143,695
1,317

135,693

(18,812)
(3,190)

350
259,053

39,605

18,812
58,417

(228)
317,242

1,537,737
16,9%
20,6%

65,531
1,908

123,428

(20,826)
(3,190)

257
167,108

36,755

20,826
57,581

(272)
224,417

1,673,780
9,9%

13,4%

Composition of regulatory capital
Tier 1
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings and other reserves
Less: revaluation, 
available-for-sale
and translation reserves
Less: goodwill
Non-controlling interest
Total qualifying tier 1 capital
Tier 2
Subordinated debt
Property and equipment and available-for-sale 
investment securities revaluation
and translation reserves
Total qualifying tier 2 capital
Less investments in associates
Total regulatory capital
Risk weighted assets
Tier 1 capital ratio
Total capital adequacy ratio

Quantitative measures established by the Basel Com-
mittee to ensure capital adequacy require the Group 

to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of total (8%) 
and tier 1 capital (4%) to risk weighted assets.

129



34. Segment analysis
The Group is managed and reported on the basis 
of two main operating segments. The Group’s seg-
ments are strategic business units that offer differ-
ent products and services which are managed sepa-
rately.

Retail banking offers a range of personal banking, 
savings and mortgage products and services. Corpo-
rate banking offers business banking services prin-
cipally to small and medium sized companies and 
commercial loans to larger corporate and commer-
cial customers.

The products and services offered by each segment 
are:

Retail banking — representing private banking ser-
vices, private customer current accounts, savings, 
deposits, investment savings products, custody, 
credit and debit cards, consumer loans and mort-
gages to individuals and cash and foreign currency 
related services.

Corporate banking — representing direct debit fa-
cilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, loan 
and other credit facilities, foreign currency and trade 
finance products to legal entities.

Other — representing capital market services, 
insurance services, and documentary operations 
with guarantees issued and commercial letters of 
credit.

The segment information below is presented on the 
basis used by the Bank’s chairperson of the manage-
ment board, who is the Group’s chief operating deci-
sion maker, to evaluate performance, in accordance 
with IFRS 8. The Management Board reviews discrete 
financial information for each of its segments, in-
cluding measures of operating results, assets and 
liabilities. The segments are managed primarily on 
the basis of their results, which excludes certain un-
allocated costs related to interest expense on debt 
securities issued and amounts due to credit institu-
tions and operating expenses other than salaries 
and other employee benefits.

There were no transactions between business seg-
ments during the years ended 31 December 2010, 
2009 and 2008. Segment assets and liabilities ex-
clude certain unallocated amounts. Unallocated 
assets include obligatory reserves, property and 
equipment and other unallocated assets. Unal-
located liabilities include debt securities issued, 
amounts due to credit institutions and other unal-
located liabilities.
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Retail
banking

TotalOtherCorporate 
banking

62,579
62,579

 
41,382
19,612

—

—

—

1,585
—

—
62,579

 
(29,706)

(6,633)
(861)

(4,125)
(662)

—
20,592

 
 
 

254,724
 

(490,877)

158,399
158,399

 
137,033

15,581

—

—

—

5,800
(15)

—
158,399

 
(30,878)
(41,795)

(4,360)
(18,522)

—
628

63,472

1,247,570

 
(924,878)

16,002
16,002

—
—

1,741

591

(236)

—
—

13,906
16,002

—
—
—
—
—
—

16,002

461,988

(3,861)

236,980
236,980

178,415
35,193

1,741

591

(236)

7,385
(15)

13,906
236,980

(60,584)
(48,428)

(5,221)
(22,647)

(662)
628

100,066

(25,795)

(7,393)
(21,974)

44,904
1,964,282

133,653
2,097,935

(1,419,616)
(360,435)

(1,780,051)

(10,245)

(6,648)

Year ended
31 December 2010
External revenues
Total revenues 
Total revenues comprise:
— Interest income
— Fee and commission income
— Net gain from financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
— Net realized gains from 
available-for-sale investment 
securities
— Net gain from repurchase 
of debt securities issued
— Net gain on foreign 
exchange operations
— Share of loss of associates
— Insurance underwriting 
income and other income
Total revenues
— Interest expense on amounts 
due to customers
— Impairment charge
— Fee and commission expense
— Salaries and other employee benefits
— Advertisement expenses
— Other provisions
Segment result
Unallocated costs:
— Interest expense from debt 
securities issued and amounts due 
to credit institutions
— Insurance claims incurred, 
net of reinsurance
— Unallocated operating expenses
Income before income tax expense
Total segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets
Total segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities
Other segment items:
Capital expenditure (unallocated)
Depreciation and amortization expense 
(unallocated)

Segment information for the main reportable business segments of the Group for the years ended 31 Decem-
ber 2010, 2009 and 2008, is set out below:
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Retail
banking

TotalOtherCorporate 
banking

Year ended
31 December 2009
External revenues
Total revenues 
Total revenues comprise:
— Interest income
— Fee and commission income
— Net gain from financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
— Net realized gains from 
available-for-sale investment 
securities
— Net gain from repurchase 
of debt securities issued
— Net gain on foreign 
exchange operations
— Share of loss of associates
— Insurance underwriting 
income and other income
Total revenues
— Interest expense on amounts 
due to customers
— Impairment charge
— Fee and commission expense
— Salaries and other employee benefits
— Advertisement expenses
— Other provisions
Segment result
Unallocated costs:
— Interest expense from debt 
securities issued and amounts due 
to credit institutions
— Insurance claims incurred, 
net of reinsurance
— Unallocated operating expenses
Income before income tax expense
Total segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets
Total segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities
Other segment items:
Capital expenditure (unallocated)
Depreciation and amortization expense 
(unallocated)

87,278
87,278

 
53,789
31,113

—

—

—

2,376
—

—
87,278

(25,823)
(20,914)

(627)
(5,605)

(548)
—

33,761
 
 
 
 
 
 

294,828
 
 

(400,080)

157,854
157,854

140,216
8,601

—

—

—

9,064
(27)

—
157,854

(41,046)
(62,599)

(4,310)
(13,079)

—
(1,221)
35,599

1,375,130

(873,989)

12,755
12,755

—
—

1,392

109

1,120

—
—

10,134
12,755

—
—
—
—
—
—

12,755

226,163

(4,433)

257,887
257,887

194,005
39,714

1,392

109

1,120

11,440
(27)

10,134
257,887

(66,869)
(83,513)

(4,937)
(18,684)

(548)
(1,221)
82,115

(36,408)

(4,082)
(22,496)

19,129
1,896,121

126,888
2,023,009

(1,278,502)
(463,555)

(1,742,057)

(9,155)

(5,979)
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Retail
banking

TotalOtherCorporate 
banking

Year ended
31 December 2008
External revenues
Total revenues 
Total revenues comprise:
— Interest income
— Fee and commission income
— Net loss from financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
— Net realized gains from 
available-for-sale investment 
securities
— Net gain from repurchase 
of debt securities issued
— Net gains on foreign 
exchange operations
— Share of loss of associates
— Insurance underwriting income 
and other income
Total revenues
— Interest expense on amounts 
due to customers
— Impairment charge
— Fee and commission expense
— Salaries and other employee benefits
— Advertisement expenses
— Other provisions
— Losses incurred from management 
of pension assets
Segment result
Unallocated costs:
— Interest expense from debt securities issued 
and amounts due to credit institutions
— Insurance claims incurred, net of reinsurance
— Unallocated operating expenses
Income before income tax expense
Total segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets
Total segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities
Other segment items:
Capital expenditure (unallocated)
Depreciation and amortization expense 
(unallocated)

94,462
94,462

75,395
18,033

—

—

—

1,034
—

—
94,462

(37,630)
(11,641)

(327)
(5,717)
(1,500)

(169)

(7,209)
30,269

339,940

(330,847)

137,124
137,124

117,265
9,175

—

—

—

10,719
(35)

—
137,124

(29,248)
(48,374)

(2,921)
(14,767)

—
(818)

—
40,996

1,020,057

(539,434)

4,513
4,513

—
—

(9,650)

223

2,439

—
—

11,501
4,513

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
4,513

159,477

236,099
236,099

192,660
27,208

(9,650)

223

2,439

11,753
(35)

11,501
236,099

(66,878)
(60,015)

(3,248)
(20,484)

(1,500)
(987)

(7,209)
75,778

(33,875)
(4,951)

(20,774)
16,178

1,519,474
131,875

1,651,349
(870,281)
(590,013)

(1,460,294)

(19,104)

(5,040)
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Geographical information 
Information for the main geographical areas of the 

Group is set out below as at 31 December 2010, 2009 
and 2008, and for the years then ended.

External revenues, assets and credit related commit-
ments have generally been allocated based on do-
micile of the counterparty. Cash on hand, property 
and equipment and capital expenditure have been 
allocated based on the country in which they are 
physically held.

35. Fair values 
of financial instruments
Fair value is defined as the amount at which the 
instrument could be exchanged in a current trans-
action between knowledgeable willing parties in 
an arm’s length transaction, other than in forced or 
liquidation sale. The estimates presented herein are 
not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group 
could realize in a market exchange from the sale of 
its full holdings of a particular instrument.  

The following methods and assumptions are used 
by the Group to estimate the fair value of financial 
instruments not carried at fair value.

Amounts due from and to credit institutions 
For assets and liabilities maturing within one month, 

the carrying amount approximates fair value due to 
the relatively short-term maturity of these financial 
instruments. For the assets and liabilities maturing 
in over one month, the fair value was estimated as 
the present value of estimated future cash flows dis-
counted at the appropriate year-end market rates.

Loans to customers 
The estimate was made by discounting the sched-
uled future cash flows of the individual loans through 
the estimated maturity using prevailing market rates 
as at the respective year-end.

Amounts due to customers 
Interest rates charged to customers closely approxi-
mate market interest rates and accordingly, the car-
rying amounts approximate fair values.

Debt securities issued 
Market values have been used to determine the fair 
value of debt securities traded on an active market. 
For other debt securities, the fair value was esti-
mated as the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the year-end market rates.

TotalOECD Non OECDKazakhstan

1,752,669
231,428
(10,245)

1,724,165
250,847

(9,155)

1,509,039
227,550
(19,104)

306,993
1,968

—

271,720
4,385

—

134,850
8,101

—

38,273
3,584

—
 

27,124
2,655

—
 

7,460
448

—

2,097,935
236,980
(10,245)

2,023,009
257,887

(9,155)

1,651,349
236,099
(19,104)

2010
Total assets
External revenues
Capital expenditure

2009
Total assets
External revenues
Capital expenditure

2008
Total assets
External revenues
Capital expenditure
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Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss and available-for-sale investment 
securities are carried at fair value in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position. The carrying 
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, obligatory 
reserves, other financial assets and other financial 
liabilities approximates fair value due to the short-
term nature of such financial instruments.

Financial instruments that are classified at fair value 
through profit or loss or available for sale are stated 
at fair value. The fair value of such financial instru-
ments is the estimated amount at which the instru-
ment could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale. If a quoted market price is available 
for an instrument, the fair value is calculated based 
on the market price at the close of business on the 
reporting date. When valuation parameters are not 
observable in the market or cannot be derived from 
observable market prices, the fair value is derived 
through analysis of other observable market data 
appropriate for each product and pricing models 
which use a mathematical methodology based on 
accepted financial theories. Pricing models take into 
account the contract terms of the securities as well 
as market-based valuation parameters, such as in-

terest rates, volatility, exchange rates and the credit 
rating of the counterparty. Where market-based 
valuation parameters are not directly observable, 
management will make a judgement as to its best 
estimate of that parameter in order to determine a 
reasonable reflection of how the market would be 
expected to price the instrument. The best evidence 
of fair value of a financial instrument at initial rec-
ognition is the transaction price unless the fair value 
of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with 
other observable current market transactions in the 
same instrument or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from observable 
markets. Any difference between the transaction 
price and the value based on a valuation technique 
is not recognized in the consolidated income state-
ment on initial recognition. Subsequent gains or 
losses are only recognized to the extent that it arises 
from a change in a factor that market participants 
would consider in setting a price.

The Group considers that the accounting estimate 
related to valuation of financial instruments where 
quoted markets prices are not available is a key 
source of estimation uncertainty because: (i) it is 
highly susceptible to change from period to period 
because it requires management to make assump-

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
Value

Fair 
Value

Fair 
Value

31 December 2009 31 December 200831 December 2010

20,123
1,089,273

174,419

1,415,755

71,403

252,167

18,967
1,140,622

173,856

1,397,685

75,756

260,351

56,101
1,133,235

17,186

1,274,069

172,706

263,893

53,780
1,086,220

16,611

1,271,937

184,392

249,935

10,357
1,188,280

8,689

867,392

289,608

262,991

10,239
1,164,318

6,655

830,951

291,900

195,587

Financial assets
Amounts due from credit 
institutions
Loans to customers
Investments 
held-to-maturity
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to customers
Amounts due
to credit institutions
Debt securities
issued

The following table sets out the carrying amount and fair values of financial assets and liabilities not carried 
at their fair values:
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Total 31 
December 

2010

Total 31 
December 

2009

Internal models 
based on market 
prices (Level 2)

Internal models 
based on market 
prices (Level 2)

Quoted
prices in active 

markets (Level 1)

Quoted
prices in active 

markets (Level 1)

Consolidated statement 
of financial position 

category

Consolidated statement 
of financial position 

category

Assets:
Financial assets 
at fair value through
profit or loss

Available-for-sale 
investment 
securities

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities
 at fair value 
through profit or loss

Debt financial instruments

Equity financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments

Debt financial instruments

Equity financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments

270

1,141

—

278,440

2,854

—

—

—

4,640

—

—

2,910

270

1,141

4,640

278,440

2,854

2,910

Assets:
Financial assets
at fair value 
through profit 
or loss

Available-for-sale 
investment
securities

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss

Debt financial instruments

Equity financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments

Debt financial instruments

Equity financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments

627

2,722

—

198,011

2,940

—

—

—

5,179

—

—

3,201

627

2,722

5,179

198,011

2,940

3,201

tions about interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, 
the credit rating of the counterparty, valuation ad-
justments and specific feature of the transactions 
and (ii) the impact that recognising a change in the 

valuations would have on the assets reported on its 
consolidated statement of financial position as well 
as its profit/(loss) could be material.

The tables below summarises the Group’s financial assets and liabilities held at fair value by valuation method-
ology at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, before any allowances for impairment losses:
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36. Events of 
the reporting 
period
On 28 January 2011, the Group has placed USD 500 
million 7.25% Eurobonds with maturity in January 
2021 at a price of 98.26%. The Group plans to uti-
lize the raised funds for general corporate purposes, 
including the financing of the Group’s growth and 
expansion plans and the refinancing of existing in-
debtedness.

37. Related 
party 
transactions
Related parties or transactions with related parties 
are assessed in accordance with IAS 24 “Related Par-
ty Disclosures”. Related parties may enter into trans-
actions which unrelated parties might not. Transac-
tions between related parties are generally effected 

on the same terms, conditions and amounts as trans-
actions between unrelated parties.

In considering each possible related party relation-
ship, attention is directed to the substance of the re-
lationship, and not merely the legal form. 

Samruk-Kazyna is a shareholder of the Group since 
27 March 2009 (please see Note 1). The ultimate 
shareholder of the Group Timur Kulibayev holds 
the position of deputy chairman in Samruk-Kazyna 
since October 2008. The functional responsibili-
ties of Timur Kulibayev do not allow him to exercise 
significant control over the operations and policies 
of Samruk-Kazyna or otherwise influence its gover-
nance.

The transactions and balances with Samruk-Kazyna 
are disclosed as a separate line in related party trans-
actions disclosure below for the periods in which 
Samruk-Kazyna was a shareholder of the Group.

6,351

2,195

—

134,480

1,321

—

—

—

6,441

—

—

6,048

6,351

2,195

6,441

134,480

1,321

6,048

Total 31 
December 

2008

Internal models 
based on market 
prices (Level 2)

Quoted
prices in active 

markets (Level 1)

Consolidated statement 
of financial position 

category

Assets:
Financial assets
at fair value 
through profit 
or loss

Available-for-sale 
investment
securities

Liabilities:
Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss

Debt financial instruments

Equity financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments

Debt financial instruments

Equity financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments
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Related 
party 

balances

Related 
party 

balances

Related 
party 

balances

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

48

48

39,058

39,058

(549)

(549)
4,714

4,714

12,265

—

109
12,156
(1,979)

—

(13)
(1,966)

280,277
12,457

3,017
117

1,450

257,750
5,486

44,482

44,482

1,508

1,508

6,852

6,852

(408)

(408)
4,096

4,096

31,908

9,976

210
21,722
(4,249)

(701)

(10)
(3,538)

506,874
7,901

13,165
72

1,678

479,827
4,231

51,786

51,786

8,528

—

200,951

—

(730)

—
17,186

—

1,340,336

—

—
—

(207,101)

—

—
—

1,274,069
—

—
—

—

—
—

172,706

—

6,051

—

282,506

—

(1,212)

—
174,419

—

1,342,510

—

—
—

(253,237)

—

—
—

1,415,755
—

—
—

—

—
—

71,403

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—

13,992

9,379

49
4,564
(677)

(469)

(1)
(207)

207,574
85,956

116,550
39

2,514

—
2,515

—

—

14,987

—

135,801

—

—

—
8,689

—

1,303,332

—

—
—

(115,052)

—

—
—

867,392
—

—
—

—

—
—

289,608

—

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
— Samruk-Kazyna and 
its subsidiaries
Available-for-sale investment 
securities before allowance for 
impairment
— Samruk-Kazyna and
its subsidiaries
Allowance for available-for-sale 
investment securities 
impairment
— Subsidiaries 
of Samruk-Kazyna
Investments held to maturity
— Subsidiaries 
of Samruk-Kazyna
Loans to customers before
allowance for impairment losses
— entities with joint control or 
significant influence over the 
entity
— key management personnel 
of the entity or its parent
— other related parties
Allowance for impairment losses
— entities with joint control
or significant influence over
the entity
— key management personnel 
of the entity or its parent
— other related parties
Amounts due to customers
— the parent
— entities with joint control
or significant influence over 
the entity
— associates
— key management personnel 
of the entity or its parent
— Samruk-Kazyna and its sub-
sidiaries
— other related parties
Amounts due to credit institu-
tions
— Subsidiaries 
of Samruk-Kazyna

The Group had the following transactions outstanding as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, with related 
parties:
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Related 
party 

transactions

Related 
party 

transactions

Related 
party 

transactions

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Year ended 
31 December 2008

271

271

233

233

1,523

1,523

22,647

—

18,684

—

20,484

—

Key management personnel 
compensation:
— short-term employee 
benefits

Related 
party 

transactions

Related 
party 

transactions

Related 
party 

transactions

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Total 
category as 
per financial 
statements 

caption

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Year ended 
31 December 2008

3,630

797

6
1,050
1,777

(7,283)
(989)

(303)

(129)

(5,339)
(523)

4
4

6,301

1,987

26
2,858
1,430

(29,876)
(751)

(239)

(164)

(28,462)
(260)

(57)
(57)

194,005

—

—
—
—

(103,277)
—

—

—

—
—

1,392
—

178,415

—

—
—
—

(86,379)
—

—

—

—
—

1,741
—

651

219

—
432

—
(4,458)
(3,132)

(1,187)

(97)

—
(42)

—
—

192,660

—

—
—
—

(100,753)
—

—

—

—
—

(9,650)
—

Interest income
—  entities with joint control
or significant influence over
the entity
—  key management personnel 
of the entity or its parent
—  other related parties
—  Subsidiaries of SamruKazyna
Interest expense 
—  the parent
—  entities with joint control 
or significant influence over 
the entity
—  key management personnel 
of the entity or its parent
— Samruk-Kazyna and 
its subsidiaries
— other related parties
Net gain/(loss) from financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
— Subsidiaries of Samruk-Kazyna

Included in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008, are 
the following amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties:
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Joint Stock Company 
Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan

Registered address  
109”V”, Abay Ave., Almaty, 050008, Republic of Kazakhstan 

Telephone    
+7 727 259 00 00 

Fax  
+7 727 259 02 71

www.halykbank.kz 

Registered with 
The Ministry of Justice of the Republic of Kazakhstan

Registered number  
3898-1900-АО

Date of re-registration
12 November 2003

Shareholder information

Holders of common 
and preferred shares:

JSC Fondovyi Tsentr
79 “A”, Zheltoksan Str., Almaty
Republic of Kazakhstan
Tel: +7 (727) 250 89 61, 250 89 60
Fax: +7 (727) 250 16 96

Holders 
of GDRs:

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas
60 Wall Street, New York 
NY 10005, USA
Tel: +1 212 2502500
Telex: ITT 420066 

Shareholder’s Enquires
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Contact Information

Representative Offices

Investor relations

Tel: +7 (727) 259 07 96
Tel: +7 (727) 259 04 30
Tel: +7 (727) 259 05 99
Fax: +7 (727) 259 02 71

Representative office in Beijing, 
Peoples Republic of China 

Room 2006, Floor 20, Building А,
No. 3 Yard, Middle Yanjingli Street,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, 
People’s Republic of China
T: +810 86 139 1021 9935

Representative office in London, 
United Kingdom

68 Lombard Street, London EC3V 9LJ, United 
Kingdom
T: +44 (0)20 7861 9530 
F: +44 (0)20 7861 9531 

Auditors

Deloitte LLP
36, Al-Farabi Ave, 
Almaty Financial District., bldg. B, Almaty
Republic of Kazakhstan
Tel: +7 (727) 258 13 40
Fax: +7 (727) 258 13 41

Registrar

JSC Fondovyi Tsentr
79 “A”, Zheltoksan Str., Almaty
Republic of Kazakhstan
Tel: +7 (727) 250 89 61, 250 89 60
Fax: +7 (727) 250 16 96

Depositary

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas
60 Wall Street, New York
NY 10005, USA
Tel: +1 212 2502500
Telex: ITT 420066
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Astana regional branch
17, Kabanbay Batyr Str., 
Astana, 010000
Tel: +7 7172 59 11 14
Fax: +7 7172 59 11 48

Aktobe regional branch
16B, 12 microdistrict, 
Aktobe, 030020
Tel: +7 7132 94 24 03
Fax: +7 7132 94 24 43

Almaty regional branch
101, Rozybakiyev Str., 
Almaty, 050046
Tel: +7 727 259 72 71
Fax: +7 727 392 01 30

Atyrau regional branch
4, Satpayev ave, 
Atyrau, 060011
Tel: +7 7122 27 01 45
Fax: +7 7122 27 01 43

Eastern-Kazakhstan regional branch
57a, Gorkiy Str., 
Ust-Kamenogorsk, 070004
Tel / Fax: +7 7232 26 88 08

Zhambyl regional branch
145, Zhambyl ave, 
Taraz, 080000
Tel: +7 7262 59 59 99, 45 92 90, 45 25 23
Fax: +7 7262 45 25 23

Zheskazgan regional branch
31A, Seifullin ave, 
Zheskazgan, 100600
Tel: +7 7102 76 48 57
Fax: +7 7102 76 48 57

Western-Kazakhstan regional branch
194/1, Dostyk ave, 
Uralsk, 090000
Tel: +7 7112 59 39 20
Fax: +7 7112 59 39 21

Karaganda regional branch
56, Teatralnaya Str., 
Karaganda, 100008
Tel: +7 7212 58 92 22, 56 36 77
Fax: +7 7212 56 36 77

Kostanay regional branch
42, Al-Farabi ave, 
Kostanay, 110000
Tel: +7 7142 59 33 88
Fax: +7 7142 54 08 03

Kzylorda regional branch
5, Kazybek bi, 
Kzylorda, 120001
Tel: +7 7242 26 24 60
Fax: +7 7242 26 23 94

Mangistau regional branch
6, 9 microdistrict, 
Aktau, 130000
Tel: +7 7292 70 01 01
Fax: +7 7292 42 98 03

Pavlodar regional branch
36/1, Ak. Chokin Str., 
Pavlodar, 140008
Tel: +7 7182 59 36 85
Fax: +7 7182 32 37 60

Nothern-Kazakhstan regional branch
36, Konstitutsiya Str., 
Petropavlovsk, 150008
Tel: +7 7152 59 57 07
Fax: +7 7152 46 83 20

Regional branches
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Regional branch “Semey”
108, Naymanbayev Str., 
Semey, 071400
Tel: +7 7222 56 1210
Fax: +7 7222 56 18 07

Southern-Kazakhstan regional branch
2B, Beibitshilik Str., 
Shymkent, 160012
Tel: +7 7252 58 97 79
Fax: +7 7252 53 66 60

Taldykorgan regional branch
22/1, Zhansugurov Str.,
Taldykorgan
Tel: +7 7282 30 57 02
Fax: +7 7282 24 28 24

Akmola regional branch
33, Gorkiy Str., 
Kokshetau, 020000
Tel: +7 7162 59 54 72
Fax: +7 7162 31 18 57

Baikonyr regional branch
16, Gorkiy Str.,
Baikonyr, 468320
Tel: +7 33622 7 46 54
Fax: +7 33622 7 02 33

Zhanaozen regional branch
9, Samal microdistrict, 
Zhanaozen, 359900
Tel / Fax: +7 729 34 3 42 37

Ekibastuz regional branch
49A, Stroitelnaya Str., 
Ekibastuz, 141200
Tel: +7 7187 34 02 47
Fax: +7 7187 34 07 94

Temirtau regional branch
16, Respublika ave, 
Temirtau, 101403
Tel / Fax: +7 7213 98 04 39

“Khan-Shatyr” Center
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Joint Stock Company 

Halyk Savings Bank of Kazakhstan

109”V”, Abay Ave., Almaty, 050008, Republic of Kazakhstan 

Tel. +7 727 259 00 00, Fax +7 727 259 02 71

www.halykbank.kz 


